

COPYRIGHT AND USE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis must be used in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Reproduction of material protected by copyright may be an infringement of copyright and copyright owners may be entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright.

Section 51 (2) of the Copyright Act permits an authorized officer of a university library or archives to provide a copy (by communication or otherwise) of an unpublished thesis kept in the library or archives, to a person who satisfies the authorized officer that he or she requires the reproduction for the purposes of research or study.

The Copyright Act grants the creator of a work a number of moral rights, specifically the right of attribution, the right against false attribution and the right of integrity.

You may infringe the author's moral rights if you:

- fail to acknowledge the author of this thesis if you quote sections from the work
- attribute this thesis to another author
- subject this thesis to derogatory treatment which may prejudice the author's reputation

For further information contact the University's Director of Copyright Services

sydney.edu.au/copyright

Evidence for cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in foetal programming of hypertension following a maternal high fat or high

sucrose diet

by

Hasthi U. W. Dissanayake

A thesis submitted as part of the requirements for the Degree of

Master of Philosophy

(Medicine)

in

The Discipline of Biomedical Science

School of Medical Sciences

Supervisor: Dr. Jaimie W. Polson

DECLARATION

This thesis is of my own composition and to the best of my knowledge, it contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made. Surgeries, staining and sectioning were performed with the supervision and assistance of Dr. Jaimie Polson.

Hasthi U W. Dissanayake

Fake -

September, 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr Jaimie Polson for giving me the opportunity to undertake this project. Thank you for patiently teaching me all the techniques that was necessary for this project and for exposing me to a wealth of knowledge. I am truly grateful for all that you have done for me. Your advice on both research as well as on my career have been truly priceless.

I would also like to thank Dr Elizabeth Hegedus for reviewing my work at such short notice; your feedback has been of great importance.

To my friend and colleague, Louise. Thank you for all the help and support you've given me towards completing my thesis. Your help has been vital and I'm truly grateful for your kindness.

My friends Sachini, Jie and Doug, thank you so much for encouraging me throughout the year and for always being there when I needed a friend. I am forever grateful for your kindness and support.

I would like to thank my family, mum, dad, aunty Jaya, uncle Terance and Nimmi akki. Thank you for all the phone calls of encouragement and guidance during my study.

Last but not least, my dear fiancé Supun Perera. You are the light in my life. This would have been impossible without you. Thank you for all the sacrifices that you've made on my behalf, all the sleepless nights; your patience, encouragement and determination have been immeasurable.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone	
ANS	autonomic nervous system	
Ang-II	Angiotensin-II	
BP	blood pressure	
BPM	beats per minute	
BRS	baroreceptor sensitivity	
CO	cardiac output	
CRH	corticotropin releasing hormone	
DBP	diastolic blood pressure	
DMH	dorsomedial hypothalamus	
HFD	high fat	
HF	high frequency	
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal	
HR	heart rate	
HRV	heart rate variability	
IUGR	intrauterine growth restriction	
LF	low frequency	
min	minutes	
mmHg	millimeter of mercury	
mt	mammillothalamic tract	
MAP	mean arterial pressure	
n	number of replicates	
р	probability	
PeF	perifornical area	
PI	pulse interval	
PP	pulse pressure	
PVN	paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus	
RAAS	renin-angiotensin aldosterone system	
SBP	systolic blood pressure	
sBRS	spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity	
SNA	sympathetic nerve activity	
SV	stroke volume	
TPR	total peripheral resistance	

ABSTRACT

The increasing prevalence of obesity in the community has major implications for cardiovascular disease. One of the major sequelae of obesity is hypertension; data suggest that obesity is implicated as a contributory factor in 60 to 70% of cases of essential hypertension. It is thought that a maternal high fat (HF) diet, high sucrose (HSU) diet or obesity during pregnancy may cause adverse changes to the foetus during development and predispose the offspring to develop obesity and/or hypertension. However to date there is little understanding of exactly which facets of a HF diet, HSU diet or obesity are responsible for these programming effects in the offspring. In particular, there is uncertainty as to whether established obesity or simply a maternal diet high in fat or sucrose during pregnancy is the stimulus for programming. Furthermore, the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the development of maternal high fat-programmed hypertension are not clear. It is thought that dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) may be pivotal in the development of obesity related, HSU or high fat -related hypertension. Therefore in this study we tested the effects of a maternal HF diet and HSU diet without development of obesity, on cardiovascular and autonomic function during rest and in response to physiological and psychological stressors.

Rat dams were placed on either a HF (34% fat) or HSU (10% w/v) diet for one month before mating, until parturition. Control dams were fed a standard chow (4.8%) fat, and protein levels were maintained at 21% in all groups. At birth, litters were reduced to 8 pups to control for postnatal nutrition. At six months of age, the offspring were implanted with a telemetry blood pressure (BP) transmitter in the abdominal aorta. After a recovery period of two weeks, BP waveform was recorded (5min/hr, 24hr/day) over a 9-day protocol. This protocol comprised of three days baseline, three days of water deprivation and three days of recovery. Following a three-week recovery period from the 9-day dehydration protocol, the rats were subjected to an air jet stress (psychological stressor). The air jet protocol comprised of a series of air puffs (pressurised air) directed to the head of the rat. Various cardiovascular (systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DPB) and heart rate (HR)), and autonomic (spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (sBRS), baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), dP/dt_{max}, heart rate variability (HRV) and blood pressure variability (BPV)) indices were determined. Comparisons between high fat, high sucrose

and control offspring's were made at rest and in response to the psychological (air jet stress) and the physiological (dehydration) stressor.

Our data showed that a maternal high fat diet during pregnancy results in hypertension at rest, demonstrating that the risk of developing hypertension is increased in these offspring when compared to offspring from mothers given a control diet. In response to a psychological or physiological stressor, all animals showed an increase in cardiovascular variables. However despite the high fat rats having a higher blood pressure to start, the magnitude of increase in cardiovascular variables were similar between groups in both male and female rats. There were no obvious differences in autonomic responses to either air jet stress or dehydration between high fat and control animals, indicating that any increased susceptibility to hypertension in high fat programmed rats is unlikely to be due to heightened sympathetic responses to stress. Further studies are necessary to elucidate the pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie hypertension in our model of high fat programming.

In our second model, a maternal high sucrose diet failed to program hypertension in the offspring at rest or in response to either a psychological or physiological stressor. There were also no differences in autonomic function between groups at rest or in response to a psychological or physiological stressor. Therefore this model failed to detect any detrimental effects of a maternal high sucrose intake on the cardiovascular or autonomic function in the offspring.

Our results therefore indicate that a maternal diet high in fat during pregnancy, even in the absence of developed obesity, increases the risk of hypertension in adult offspring, although autonomic control of blood pressure does not appear to be significantly compromised. In contrast, a diet high in sugar during pregnancy does not appear to have a major effect on blood pressure or blood pressure control in the offspring.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTE	R 1:	INTRODUCTION	10
1.1	OVE	ERVIEW	10
1.2	HYF	PERTENSION	11
1.2.	1	A global public health concern	11
1.2.	2	Current treatment strategies	12
1.3	BLC	OOD PRESSURE REGULATION	13
1.3.	1	Role of the autonomic nervous system	13
1.3.	2	Baroreceptor reflex	14
1.3.	3	Baroreflex function in hypertension	15
1.3.	4	Chemoreceptor reflex	16
1.4	RIS	K FACTORS FOR HYPERTENSION	17
1.4.	1	Environmental factors	17
1.4.	2	Genetic factors	18
1.4.	3	Epigenetic factors	18
1.4.	4	The Barker Hypothesis and programmed hypertension	19
1.5	ANI	MAL MODELS OF PROGRAMMED HYPERTENSION	19
1.5.	1	Animal models of programmed hypertension using altered maternal diet	20
1.5.	2	Programming vectors responsible for maternal obesity or maternal high fat die hypertension in offspring	et-related
1.5.	3	Evidence of a maternal high sucrose diet in programming hypertension	26
1.6	PRO	OGRAMMED HYPERTENSION: PLAUSIBLE MECHANISMS	27
1.6.	1	Kidney dysfunction	27
1.6.	2	Autonomic dysfunction	28
1.6.	3	Heart and vasculature	30
1.6.	4	Epigenetic changes in programmed hypertension: evidence from animal models	31
1.7	SEX DIS	CONTRACTION OF CARDIOVASES CONTRACTOR CONTRACT	SCULAR 31
1.7.	1	Sex differences implicating the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS)	32
1.7.	2	Sex difference implicating renal nerves in programmed models	33
1.8	STR	RESS AND SYSTEMIC RESPONSE TO STRESS	34
1.8.	1	What is stress?	34
1.8.	2	Psychological stress	34
1.8.	3	Physiological stress	35
1.8.	4	The stress response system	36
1.8.	5	The autonomic response to stress	37
1.8.	6	The endocrine response to stress	
1.8.	7	Central circulatory mediating control of psychological stress	
1.8.	8	Key hypothalamic nuclei involved in stress response	40
1.9	NO	N-INVASIVE MEASUREMENT OF AUTONOMIC FUNCTION	45
1.9.	1	Spontaneous baroreceptor reflex sensitivity (sBRS)	45

1.9.	2 Baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI)	47
1.9.3	3 Heart rate variability (HRV)	47
1.9.4	Blood pressure variability (BPV)	48
1.10	THE C-FOS TECHNIQUE FOR FUNCTIONAL-ANATOMICAL IDENTIFICATION OF POPULATIONS ACTIVATED BY A SPECIFIC STIMULUS	NEURONAL 48
1.10	.1 What is c-fos?	48
1.10	.2 Stimulus for c-fos expression in neurons	49
1.10	.3 The c-fos Technique as a tool for functional mapping of neuronal activity	50
1.10	.4 The c-fos technique in psychological stress	51
1.11	HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS	53
1.11	.1 Hypothesis	53
1.11	.2 Aims	53
CHAPTE	R 2: METHODOLOGY	54
2.1	OVERVIEW	54
2.2	HIGH FAT AND HIGH SUCROSE MODELS OF PROGRAMMED HYPERTENSION	55
2.2.	1 High fat diet	55
2.2.2	2 High sucrose diet	55
2.3	MEASUREMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR PARAMETERS IN THE OFFSPRING	56
2.3.	1 Surgical implantation of radio telemetry probes	56
2.3.2	2 Anesthesia	57
2.3.3	3 Implantation procedure	57
2.3.4	4 Postoperative care	59
2.4	TEST PROTOCOLS (PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL STRESSORS)	59
2.4.	1 Physiological stressor (dehydration protocol)	59
2.4.2	2 Psychological stressor (air jet stress protocol)	60
2.5	HISTOLOGICAL PROCESSING	61
2.5.	1 Perfusion	61
2.5.2	2 Sectioning	62
2.6	IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL STAINING	63
2.6.	1 c-Fos immunohistochemistry	63
2.6.2	2 Mounting	64
2.7	DATA ANALYSIS	64
2.7.	1 Telemetry data	64
2.7.5	2 Data grouping	64
2.7.3	3 Spontaneous baroreceptor reflex (sBRS)	65
2.7.4	4 Spectral analysis of heart rate and systolic blood pressure variability	65
2.7.	5 dP/dt _{max}	66
2.7.0	5 Statistical analysis	66
2.8	IDENTIFICATION AND QUANTIFICATION OF FOS-LABELLED NEURONS	66
CHAPTE	R 3: RESULTS	68
3.1	OVERVIEW	68

3.2	HIGH FAT MODEL	69
3.2.2	Offspring body weight	69
3.2.2	2 Data acquisition protocol for measurement of cardiovascular and autonomic para the awake, freely moving rat	ameters in 71
3.2.3	Comparison of cardiovascular parameters in male and female control rats at rest	73
3.2.4	Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and con rest	itrol rats at 74
3.2.5	5 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and c during dehydration	ontrol rats
3.2.6	6 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and c during air-jet stress	ontrol rats 86
3.3	HIGH SUCROSE MODEL	96
3.3.1	Offspring body weight	96
3.3.2	2 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose a rats at rest	ind control
3.3.3	Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose a rats during dehydration	ind control
3.3.4	Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose a rats during air-jet stress	ind control
234	5 Fos immunohistochemistry	105
0.0.0		
CHAPTE	R 4: DISCUSSION	
CHAPTEI 4.1	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE	103 108 109
4.1 4.2	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	103
4.1 4.2 4.2.	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model	103 108
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used	103 108
4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.3	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry	103 108 109 110 110 113 117
4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function	103 108 109 110 110 113 117 120
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry	103 108 109 110 113 117 120 124
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation	103 108 109 110 110 113 117 120 124 125
4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.44 4.2.44 4.2.44 4.2.44444444	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES	103 108 109 110 110 113 117 120 124 125 126
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3 4.4	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST	
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4	R 4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS 1 Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S	
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.4 4	R4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry. 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S	103 109 110 110 113 117 120 124 125 125 127 TRESS 131
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	R4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS 1 Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation 5 SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING DEHYDRATION COMPARISON OF FOS LARELLING IN UNCLEDING DEHYDRATION	
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	R4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS 1 Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING DEHYDRATION COMPARISON OF FOS LABELLING IN HIGH SUCROSE AND CONTROL RATS	
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.6 4.7 CHAPTEI	R4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING DEHYDRATION COMPARISON OF FOS LABELLING IN HIGH SUCROSE AND CONTROL RATS R5: CONCLUSIONS	
CHAPTEI 4.1 4.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 CHAPTEI REFEREN	R4: DISCUSSION LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS I Low statistical power in the high fat model 2 The programming models used 3 Radiotelemetry 4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function 5 Fos immunohistochemistry 6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL S CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING DEHYDRATION COMPARISON OF FOS LABELLING IN HIGH SUCROSE AND CONTROL RATS R5: CONCLUSIONS	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 OVERVIEW

Hypertension, a disease of blood pressure control, is a major risk factor for potentially fatal cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease. Due its high prevalence, it is one of the leading causes of death worldwide (WHO, 2012), and a major public health concern. Despite decades of research, the underlying causes of hypertension remain unclear. A major consequence of this is a failure of the treatment strategies currently used in the management of hypertension, whereby approximately half of all patients on anti-hypertensive medications fail to adequately control their blood pressure (Ausdiab report, 2012).

While the etiology of hypertension is yet to be elucidated, the major risk factors are becoming increasingly evident. Traditionally, these risk factors are divided into environmental and genetic, while more recently the importance of epigenetic risk factors has come to light (Chmurzynsk, 2010; Reik *et al.*, 2001). It is likely that complex interactions between these factors result in hypertension. The concept of developmentally programmed hypertension encompasses all of these risk factors. Programming in this context, is a process in which intrauterine factors permanently affect the developing foetus, including changes in gene expression, in a manner that predisposes it to develop disease as an adult.

Epidemiological studies indicate that a significant proportion of cases of primary hypertension may have a programmed or developmental origin (Barker *et al.*, 1986; Woods *et al.*, 2004). However, the *in-utero* insults that program a hypertensive phenotype are not fully understood and appear varied. The two most well studied animal models of programmed hypertension involve maternal undernutrition (including low calorie and low protein diet) and raised foetal exposure to glucocorticoids (Pladys *et al.*, 2004; Vehaskari *et al.*, 2001; Woods *et al.*, 2001; Igosheva *et al.*, 2004; Celsi *et al.*, 1998; Ortiz *et al.*, 2001). Many reports indicate that raised levels of glucocorticoids may represent a common overarching causative factor in many animal models of programming. For example, there is evidence that maternal undernutrition increases the production and circulation of maternal glucocorticoids (Lesage *et al.*, 2001), as well as increasing foetal

access of maternal glucorticoids (Lesage *et al.*, 2001ref), which results in foetal glucocorticoid overexposure and altered development.

More recently, the rising severity of the worldwide obesity epidemic has led to an increasing interest in the impact of maternal overnutrition on the developing foetus and the subsequent long-term consequences (Poston, 2012). Epidemiological evidence has highlighted that adults whose mothers were obese during pregnancy have increased incidence of metabolic syndrome, including hypertension (Gamborg *et al.*, 2007) with a noteworthy report highlighting increased mortality rates from cardiovascular events and hypertension (Reynolds *et al.*, 2013). Animal studies have shown that maternal obesity and/or diets high in fat produce offspring with metabolic dysfunction, including hyperphagia, adiposity and insulin resistance (Nivoit *et al.*, 2009; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2008), impaired blood pressure regulation (Khan *et al.*, 2003; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2008; 2010), vascular problems (Khan *et al.*, 2003; 2004) and disrupted circadian rhythm (Borengasser *et al.* 2014; Lemmer, 2006).

1.2 HYPERTENSION

1.2.1 A global public health concern

Hypertension refers to a disease in which arterial pressure is chronically elevated. Clinically, it is defined as a blood pressure greater than or equal to 140/90 mmHg (WHO, 2013). It is a highly prevalent disease, affecting approximately 40% of the human population (WHO, 2013). In Australia, hypertension is the greatest attributor to cardiovascular diseases such as stroke and heart attack, accounting for 42.1% of all cardiovascular disease burden (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2012). Alarmingly, the prevalence of hypertension and the secondary complications associated with it appear to be increasing; over the past decade, age-adjusted rates of stroke have risen, while the incidence of end-stage renal disease and the prevalence of heart failure have also increased (Carretero and Oparil, 2000). This may be attributed to population growth, aging, and environmental risk factors such as obesity, stress and alcohol consumption (WHO, 2013; Hajjar *et al.*, 2006). However, a major contributor is also the inadequate control of blood pressure in the hypertensive population. It has been estimated that almost 70% of hypertensive patients in Australia (Ausdiab report 2012, National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2012), and worldwide

(Roger *et al.*, 2012) fail to adequately control their blood pressure, despite treatment with multiple anti-hypertensive medications. This outcome may be explained in part, by a poor understanding of the etiology of hypertension and therefore, sub-optimal treatment targets.

1.2.2 Current treatment strategies

The initial approach to the management and treatment of hypertension involves changing lifestyle factors, including adjustment to the individual's diet, exercise regime, alcohol consumption and tobacco use. In fact, a clinical trial on the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure revealed that a diet rich in fruits, vegetables, low-fat dairy foods with reduced saturated and total fat, along with abstinence of alcohol and tobacco can be successful in lowering blood pressure by as much as 11 mmHg in hypertensive individuals (Appel *et al.*, 1997). However, due to poor patient compliance to strict diets, and the complex, multi-factorial nature of hypertension, a pharmaceutical approach is often necessary to reduce blood pressure in hypertensive people.

Current anti-hypertensive medications have had limited success. In a global survey on the management of hypertension, the proportion of patients on treatment regimes achieving a blood-pressure target below 140/90 mmHg ranged from a maximum of 27% in the USA to a minimum of less than 3% in Zaire (Mancia and Grassi, 1999). Further exacerbating this problem is the occurrence of resistant hypertension, a condition that describes the presence of hypertension despite the concurrent use of three anti-hypertensive agents from different classes (Calhoun *et al.,* 2008). Rates of resistant hypertension appear to be increasing, and is currently estimated to affect approximately 30% of hypertensive patients (Hajjar and Kotchen, 2003).

Since the current approach for the treatment of hypertension involves dietary, lifestyle and the use of multiple drugs, the problem of patient adherence inevitably arises. One study evaluating patient compliance to prescribed diets reported that only 13% of the patients were able to reduce their dietary fat intake as recommended (Hamalainen *et al.*, 2000). It has also been reported that approximately 40% of patients prescribed anti-hypertensive medications will discontinue their treatments within the first year of the prescription, due to reasons such as inconvenience and intentional "drug holidays" (Speckman *et al.*, 1999). These issues may be rectified with the development of novel anti-hypertensive agents, which entail more specific targets. Of course, this can only occur once the pathophysiology of hypertension has been better elucidated.

1.3 BLOOD PRESSURE REGULATION

Blood pressure is tightly regulated around two major requirements: blood pressure must remain high enough to maintain constant perfusion of various tissues and meet metabolic demands, while remaining low enough to avoid structural damage to the tissues (Boron and Boulpaep, 2012). Such regulation is achieved by interdependent adjustments of heart rate (HR), stroke volume (SV), and the total peripheral resistance of the vasculature (TPR). The mean arterial pressure (MAP) represents the average force propelling blood flow, and is defined mathematically as the product of cardiac output (CO- the product of HRxSV) and TPR. Homeostatic mechanisms regulate MAP around an optimal set point, which is largely dependent on levels of physical activity. For example, postural changes induce changes in MAP, which are buffered by reflex mechanisms. Short-term regulation involves the baroreceptor and chemoreceptor reflexes. The most important effector mechanisms are the parasympathetic and sympathetic divisions of the autonomic nervous system (Boron and Boulpaep, 2012).

1.3.1 Role of the autonomic nervous system

The sympathetic nervous system is central to the control of blood pressure via direct adjustments to CO and TPR, and indirect adjustments to BV via changes in renal function. A neurogenic component to hypertension is becoming increasingly realised, as several lines of evidence in animal models and humans show convincingly that sympathetic over-activity plays a major role in the etiology of the disease.

Studies in the Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat (SHR) have been important in establishing the link between sympathetic over-activity and hypertension. In one study, sympathetic nerve activity and blood pressure were shown to increase rapidly as SHR's aged, and by 5 weeks of age, both blood pressure and sympathetic nerve activity were significantly higher than values observed in normotensive strains of rat (Judy *et al.*, 1976). When sympathetic ganglionic transmission was reduced via hexamethonium administration in SHRs, both sympathetic nerve activity and mean arterial pressure were reduced to a level comparable with normotensive controls (Judy *et al.*, 1976). This evidence highlights the role of elevated sympathetic activity in producing hypertension in rats genetically predisposed to hypertension. Of interest, it has also been demonstrated that

transplantation of hypothalamus, a key region of blood pressure control, from embryonic SHRs into the hypothalamus of a normotensive strains of rat induces hypertension in the recipient (Eilam *et al.*, 1991). Although a rise in sympathetic nerve activity was not confirmed in these studies, they show convincingly that alteration in the function of the hypothalamus in the SHR is important for the development of hypertension in this model. Related to this, blockade of glutamate or angiotensin II receptors in the rostral ventrolateral medulla reduces blood pressure to a much greater extent in the SHR than control rat (Sved *et al.*, 2003; Ito *et al.*, 2003) and this is believed to be due to increased excitatory drive from the hypothalamus to the rostral ventrolateral medulla in the SHR (Guyenet, 2006). These data support the hypothesis that the pathophysiology of hypertension has a strong neurogenic component.

Data from human studies provides further evidence to support a major role for autonomic dysfunction in hypertension. Firstly, children with a familial history of hypertension, but who are normotensive according to clinical definition, have been shown to have an elevated blood pressure, heart rate, and plasma noradrenaline concentrations (Lopes et al 2010). These children also exhibit decreased baroreflex sensitivity (Lopes *et al.*, 2000). This may underlie an increased risk of developing hypertension in adult life. Furthermore, there is convincing evidence from studies measuring noradrenaline spill over and from direct neural recordings in hypertensive patients that sympathetic over-activity is present in both overt hypertension and in borderline hypertension (Anderson *et al.*, 1989; Esler, 2000; 2011; Grassi *et al.* 1998; Lambert *et al.*, 2007; Smith *et al.*, 2004). Indeed, such "neurogenic hypertension" has been reported to account for at least 50% of all cases of high blood pressure (Esler *et al.* 2010). Taken together, these data indicate that sympathetic dysfunction plays a major role in the pathophysiology of hypertension.

1.3.2 Baroreceptor reflex

The arterial baroreceptor reflex is a rapid, homeostatic reflex which buffers acute fluctuations in blood pressure that occur during every day behaviors such as postural changes, stress and physical activity (Guyenet , 2006; Heusser *et al.*, 2005). Such buffering is crucial for maintaining regulation of blood flow and facilitating gas and nutrient exchange with the tissues. Changes in blood pressure are detected by specialized mechanoreceptors known as baroreceptors located in the carotid sinus and aortic arch. The reflex acts via adjustments to the level of sympathetic and

parasympathetic nerve activity in response to signals from the baroreceptors. For example, when blood pressure rises, vascular distension is sensed by the baroreceptors and the resulting baroreceptor afferent fibre activation triggers reflex parasympathetic activation and sympathetic inhibition, resulting in a reduction in cardiac output and vascular resistance, buffering the increase in blood pressure.

Although clearly of major importance in the short term regulation of blood pressure, the role of the baroreflex in the long term regulation of blood pressure remains controversial. The consensus view is that the baroreceptors only play a role in the short-term regulation of blood pressure. This stems from the work of Cowley in the 1970's, who showed that denervation of the baroreceptors increased blood pressure lability but did not affect mean blood pressure over a period of days (Cowley, 1992). This is believed to be due to the re-setting of the baroreceptors to a newly established blood pressure over a period of hours to days (Guyenet, 2006; Cowley, 1992). However, there is evidence that the baroreceptors can exert long-term control of blood pressure. In dogs, unloading of the intact baroreceptors produces a sustained rise in blood pressure over a period of five weeks (Thrasher, 2004). The difference in these results to those of Cowley's may be due to neural remodeling effects following denervation (Schreihofer and Sved, 1992). In addition, in the rabbit, an increase in blood pressure from infusions of angiotensin II produces a sustained fall in renal sympathetic nerve activity over a period of 7 days (Barrett et al., 2003), while chronic stimulation of the carotid baroreceptors reduces blood pressure for at least 7 days (Lohmeier and Iliescu, 2011). Thus, there is evidence that the baroreceptors are capable of exerting a long-term effect on blood pressure, at least in the medium term. However, the question arises as to whether inhibition of the baroreceptors, or a decrease in baroreceptor reflex sensitivity may play a role in the etiology of hypertension.

1.3.3 Baroreflex function in hypertension

Hypertensive individuals have often been shown to have normal, or frequently, an elevated heart rate (Heusser *et al.*, 2005). This suggests that the baroreflex has either adapted to a higher blood pressure and has reset to operate around a higher set point, or reflects a primary dysfunction (Bristow *et al.*, 1969). One study calculated baroreflex sensitivity in hypertensive individuals via sudden intravenous injections of angiotensin and phenylephrine (to increase blood pressure)

(Bristow *et al.*, 1969). The corresponding reflex changes in heart rate following these injections were determined and plotted against blood pressure. This revealed diminished baroreflex sensitivity in hypertensive patients compared to normotensive individuals, such that higher blood pressures were required to produce corresponding changes in heart rate in hypertensive patients (Bristow *et al.*, 1969). This suggests that baroreflex dysfunction, such as a reduced sensitivity of the reflex, may play a permissive role in hypertension.

However, some recent evidence suggests that the baroreflex plays a more central role in hypertension. A study by Heusser *et al.*, 2005 showed that two previously normotensive patients that presented with neck trauma and subsequent damage to carotid arteries became severely hypertensive after the trauma. Compensatory baroreflex-mediated changes in heart rate were severely reduced in these patients, most likely attributed to the loss of function of baroreceptors in the carotid sinus. Thus, since damage to the baroreceptors may result in extreme, chronic hypertension, it is likely that the reflex plays a crucial role in producing a hypertensive phenotype.

1.3.4 Chemoreceptor reflex

Another short-term feedback system aimed at regulating blood pressure is the chemoreceptor reflex. Chemoreceptors are specialized receptors in the carotid and aortic bodies, which respond primarily to decreases in the partial pressure of oxygen (Dampney *et al.*, 2001). The arterial chemoreceptor reflex serves an important regulatory role in the control of alveolar ventilation, but also exert a powerful influence on cardiovascular function and blood pressure control directly (by interacting with medullary vasomotor centers) or indirectly (via altered pulmonary stretch receptor activity) (Schultz, 2007). Stimulation of the chemoreceptors reflex evokes increases in the rate of respiration, and sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction. Both of these mechanisms are aimed at increasing and conserving oxygen, however, the increase in sympathetic vasoconstriction results in an increase in blood pressure (Dampney *et al.*, 2001).

1.4 RISK FACTORS FOR HYPERTENSION

Over 95% of all cases of hypertension are of unknown etiology (WHO, 2013) and termed essential or primary hypertension. Essential hypertension will be the sole focus of this thesis. Although the underlying causes of hypertension are yet to be elucidated, there are known risk factors. These risk factors can be classified into several categories: environmental, genetic, and epigenetic.

1.4.1 Environmental factors

The modification of environmental risk factors is usually the first step in the prevention and management of hypertension. Common environmental risk factors include poor diet and psychological stress. Modern diets are commonly high in fat, sugar, salt and alcohol. Salt and alcohol are independent risk factors for hypertension (Carretero and Oparil, 2000; Kotsis *et al.*, 2010) while increased consumption of fat and sugar can lead to obesity and insulin resistance. Of particular relevance to this thesis is obesity and the associated high fat and high sugar diets, which account for over 30% of the morbidity and mortality due to hypertension (WHO 2013).

The relationship between obesity and hypertension is well established in both humans (Hsueh and Buchanan, 1994; Nasser *et al.*, 1999; Faloia *et al.*, 2000) and animal models (Kamal *et al.*, 2005; Kurtz *et al.*, 1989; Dobrian *et al.*, 2001), although the mechanisms behind this relationship are still unclear. However, there is good evidence that obesity-related hypertension has a strong neurogenic component. Evidence for this hypothesis has been provided from direct, microneurographic measurements of sympathetic activity in obese patients, which reveal elevated muscle sympathetic nerve activity (Grassi *et al.*, 1995). Similarly, diets high in fat have been shown to result in the stimulation of peripheral α 1- and β -adrenergic receptors, resulting in an increase in sympathetic activity and subsequent hypertensive responses (Rocchini *et al.*, 2004; Kotsis *et al.*, 2010). The concept of sympathetic over-activity playing a central role in hypertension will be revisited later in the thesis.

In more recent studies, psychosocial stress has been highlighted as a major risk factor for hypertension. Chronic job strain, defined by high work demands, decision latitude and low reward, is a widely studied model of psychosocial stress in humans. Studies have shown that subjects who identified as having a high level of job strain are at greater risk of having sustained, elevated blood

pressure (Schwartz *et al.*, 1996; Vrijkotte *et al.*, 2000; Spruill, 2010). More recently, investigators reported 15.9% of a patient sample developed hypertension in response to laboratory-induced mental stressors over a 3-year follow-up period (Hamer *et al.*, 2012). The notion of a relationship between a heightened cardiovascular response to stress and hypertension will be discussed later in the thesis.

1.4.2 Genetic factors

It is widely accepted that individuals differ in their susceptibility to hypertension, and that this can be attributed, in part, to various genetic determinants. For example, meta-analyses have shown that polymorphisms in the gene encoding angiotensinogen (Jeunemaitre *et al.*, 1992; Sethi *et al.*, 2003) and the epithelial sodium channel γ subunit (Hansson 1995; Young, 2007) are associated with an increased risk of hypertension. Furthermore, familial aggregation studies highlight that these predispositions are inheritable (Fuentes *et al.*, 2000; Fermino *et al.*, 2009). Although evidence from these studies have produced strong associations, the attributable risk of these polymorphisms has been described as minor, and only accounts for a fraction of actual occurrence (Gluckman *et al.*, 2010). Epigenetic changes have been proposed as an explanation for this 'missing heritability.

1.4.3 Epigenetic factors

The most plausible explanation for the predilections to hypertension that have been reported in the literature is that a complex interaction of both genetic and environmental factors produces the disease (Millis, 2010). Epigenetics refers to gene-environment interactions, which ultimately result in changes in gene expression. These changes are stable and long-term, and occur via DNA methylation or acetylation (Millis, 2010). If these processes occur during foetal development, the maturation of tissue types may be altered, resulting in an increased risk of developing chronic disease in adulthood (Thornburg *et al.*, 2010). This concept is known as developmental programming. In the context of programmed hypertension, certain genes related to blood pressure regulation may be switched on or off via *in utero* environmental cues.

1.4.4 The Barker Hypothesis and programmed hypertension

The *in utero* environment encountered in foetal life has a profound influence on foetal development. The Barker hypothesis states that sub-optimal *in utero* conditions may permanently alter the growth and maturation of foetal tissues, changing their structure and physiological function. These changes become harmful during adulthood when the insult is no longer present, increasing the risk of certain diseases in adult life (Jones *et al.*, 2012; Langley Evans, 2006).

This concept first arose after Professor David Barker's epidemiological studies in the 1980's, which revealed that the geographical distribution of infant mortality in England and Wales closely matched the distribution of death rates from cardiovascular disease decades later (Barker and Osmond, 1986). From this observation, Barker and colleagues deduced that in regions of high infant mortality, those babies that survived appeared to be at increase risk of developing cardiovascular disease in their adult lives. They also observed that the mean birth weights in these disadvantaged regions were significantly lower, highlighting that an inverse relationship existed between birth weight and cardiovascular disease (Barker and Osmond, 1986; Barker *et al.*, 1989).

A low birth weight (<2.5 kg) can result from pre-term birth or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR). IUGR is the failure of the foetus to reach its growth potential, due to placental abnormalities or factors related to maternal nutrition, disease and stress (Resnik, 2002). Barker and colleagues noted that disadvantaged regions had higher rates of maternal undernutrition, particularly in regards to protein and total caloric intake, as well as increased psychological stress during pregnancy. They hypothesized that these factors exerted a major influence on foetal development and were a cause of the low birth weights observed. However, it is unlikely that low birth weight itself is the underlying cause of cardiovascular disease such as hypertension decades later, but rather is a surrogate observation reflecting foetal exposure to intrauterine stressors (Davis and Sandman, 2010).

1.5 ANIMAL MODELS OF PROGRAMMED HYPERTENSION

Beginning with David Barker's theory of foetal origins of adult disease, epidemiological studies have shown that an adverse intrauterine environment may lead to adult hypertension in the offspring (Barker DJP, 1989; Denton *et al.*, 2006; Langley-Evans, 2009; Nuyt, 2008). However,

there are a number of limitations with such epidemiological studies. For example, not all epidemiological reports show an association between low birth weight and hypertension (Stanner et al., 1997). Moreover, most epidemiological studies have been criticized on the basis that they do not account for all confounding variables (Huxley et al., 2002), which is particularly significant in the field of programming due to the long time interval between the stimulus (during gestation) and the effect twenty to fifty years later (Langley-Evans, 2009). Finally, criticism may be applied on the basis that human epidemiological studies do not provide a cause-effect relationship. Thus, it is very hard to provide robust evidence for *in utero* programming in the human. Properly designed prospective cohort studies would require 50-60 years to assess the impact of gestational stressors on adult blood pressure and cardiovascular disease, which is impractical to say the least (Langley Evans, 2009). In an effort to overcome these issues, and develop a "proof of principle" foundation, animal models have been developed. Animal models serve two purposes; first, they eliminate the variation in genetic background and thereby other potential risk factors for hypertension. Second, animal models hold the key to unravelling the mechanisms involved in programmed hypertension due to the ability to investigate the physiology in a more invasive and more detailed manner (Vehaskari et al., 2005).

Most experimental models have aimed to duplicate foetal growth impairment because original reports of prenatally programmed hypertension were linked to intrauterine growth restriction (Alexander, 2006; Denton *et al.*, 2006; Langley-Evans, 2009). Therefore prenatal manipulations can be divided into three categories; (1) Maternal under nutrition; (2) maternal glucocorticoid exposure; and, (3) obtrusion of placental function (Vehaskari *et al.*, 2005). For the purposes of this thesis we will focus on maternal diet. Most animal models have used a variety of nutritional manipulations during gestation, these include; calorie-restricted diet, protein restricted diet, cafeteria-like diet, iron and other micronutrient-restricted diets; all of which have been shown to program hypertension in rats, pigs, sheep and guinea pigs (Nuyt *et al.*, 2009).

1.5.1 Animal models of programmed hypertension using altered maternal diet

Global food restriction: Studies of programming of hypertension by maternal nutritional manipulation have been conducted since the early 1990's. Woodall and colleagues (1996) showed in rats that severe food restriction, equivalent to only 30% of their normal food intake during

pregnancy programmed the offspring for hypertension. These results have been confirmed and extended such that in rats it has been shown that hypertension is induced in offspring with a 20-30% reduction in maternal food intake during the latter part of pregnancy (Woods *et al.*, 2005). In sheep, restricting maternal dietary intake by 15% during the first half of gestation increased the mean arterial pressure in offspring by approximately 10mmHg (Hawkins *et al.*, 2000). Thus, it is evident that food restriction in the mother for all or part of gestation leads to increased blood pressure in the offspring, although the exact timing of the restriction varies, and is possibly species dependant. However, what is not clear from these experiments is if overall reduction in calories or a reduction in a specific nutrient is the important factor. One of the major nutrients that have been the focus of much attention in the field of programmed hypertension is protein.

Protein Restriction: a maternal low protein diet while maintaining a normal total calorie intake has been widely studied in the rat. The normal dietary intake of protein is approximately 19% (21% casein) of total calorie intake, with restricted levels ranging from 12% (mild) to 9% (modest) to 5% (severe) (Langley-Evans *et al.*, 1994; 1996; 1999; Pladys *et al.*, 2004; Vehaskari *et al.*, 2001; Woods *et al.*, 2001). It has been shown that arterial blood pressure in the offspring in adulthood is increased at all three levels of restriction (Langley *et al.*, 1994). In the pig, mean arterial pressure of adult offspring increased by 10-25mmHg when dams were fed a diet consisting of 1.0% protein (Bagby *et al.*, 2001). In all the models described above, a normal protein diet is given after birth, highlighting the likelihood that it is low protein during foetal development that programmes hypertension

Manipulation of other maternal dietary factors: Supplementing a maternal low protein diet with glycine protects the offspring from the development of high blood pressure (Jackson *et al.*, 2002), suggesting that the programming effects of nutrient restriction may be due to specific deficits. Glycine, in particular is important in the metabolism of methionine and homocysteine, which in turn play a crucial role in DNA methylation; thus suggesting a mechanism whereby maternal low protein diet may engender epigenetic changes (Rees, 2002). Another study by Langley-Evans *et al.*, (2000), compared the programming effects of two alternative maternal low protein diets: one with more fat and starch, the other with more sugar. Interestingly, only the low protein diet with high fat/starch produced increased systolic blood pressure in the offspring (compared to a control diet),

while low protein and high sugar failed to program for hypertension in the offspring (Langley-Evans *et al.,* 2000). Therefore differences in the specific nutrient content of a diet, and not only the protein content may be important in programming of hypertension, and can potentially lead to confounding results when interpreting the results of different studies.

Recently there has been emerging evidence that numerous other dietary manipulations may program offspring for hypertension in later life. These include both high and low sodium intake (Woods *et al.*, 2001; Battista *et al.*, 2002), water deprivation (Ross *et al.*, 2005), iron deficiency (Lisle *et al.*, 2003), and obesogenic diets, such as the high fat diet (Khan IY, 2003). The overwhelming conclusion is that the foetus may be highly susceptible to maternal dietary influences that appear to alter development in such a way as to affect blood pressure homeostasis in later life. Of these examples listed above, obesogenic diets, or diets high in fat are particularly interesting in light of the changes in diet in society, with greater intake of fat and sugars.

Evidence of maternal obesity or high fat diet-related hypertension in offspring: As described above, initial studies directed their focus on maternal/foetal under-nutrition and low birth weights. However, in light of the obesity epidemic, more attention has recently been directed towards maternal over-nutrition in programming of hypertension. There is now accumulating evidence from numerous animal studies supporting the hypothesis that maternal overweight, obesity or high fat dietary intake is associated with obesity and hypertension in the offspring (Khan *et al.*, 2003; Elahi *et al.*, 2009; White *et al.*, 2010; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010).

There has been some controversy as to whether maternal high fat diet/obesity programmed hypertension is secondary to obesity or whether obesity and hypertension exist separately in programmed offspring. Sprague Dawley rats fed a lard rich diet 10 days prior to mating throughout pregnancy and during the suckling period produced offspring that became obese in adulthood, although only the female progeny became hypertensive (Khan *et al.*, 2003). However, recently Samuelsson *et al.*, (2010) showed that offspring from dams fed a highly palatable diet rich in saturated fat and sugar for 5 weeks prior to mating developed hypertension, had increased systolic blood pressure compared to control groups as early as at 3 months of age, hence prior to their development of obesity (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010). Consistent with this, in mice male offspring of fat fed dams had increased systolic blood pressure without elevated body fat, however litter

matched females developed obesity and hypertension (Elahi *et al.,* 2009). Thus, it is apparent that, at least in males, maternal high fat diet programming of hypertension can occur independently of obesity, although the two frequently do occur together.

1.5.2 Programming vectors responsible for maternal obesity or maternal high fat dietrelated hypertension in offspring

There are many facets of obesity (hyperleptinaemia, dyslipidaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, or hyperglycaemia) that could be responsible for programming of maternal obesity/high fat diet-related hypertension in offspring. Indeed, it is unclear as to whether a high fat/hypercaloric diet per se, or established obesity is the stimulus for programming of hypertension. The identification of vectors that cross the placenta is of significant importance as it provides a target for potential therapeutic treatment or behavioural modification.

Maternal dietary imbalance, obesity or overweight; which is more important? Studies done on Japanese macaques suggest that a maternal diet high in fat is sufficient to establish programming effects and that maternal obesity is not required. Monkeys resistant to diet induced obesity were placed on a high fat diet during pregnancy, and the foetus was found to develop a fatty liver phenotype identical to monkeys that were obese (McCurdy et al., 2009). However other studies indicate a prerequisite of maternal obesity for programming; this was shown in rats fed a diet rich in fats during pregnancy and suckling, where the offspring developed hypertension only if their mothers were obese (White et al., 2010). Interestingly, a high fat obesogenic maternal diet programmed offspring for hypertension at rest (Samuelsson et al., 2010), while a high fat nonobesogenic maternal diet did not produce hypertension at rest, but did evoke a hypertensive response to stress (Rudyk et al., 2011). These results suggest that there may be a dose interaction between maternal high fat diet and obesity in programming the offspring phenotype, such that although hypertension may not be programmed at rest with maternal high fat diet alone, it may nevertheless increase the risk of developing hypertension when subjected to other environmental factors. Other studies done in sheep suggest that the mothers' body condition before pregnancy may have programming effects irrespective of maternal condition during pregnancy (Rattanatray et al., 2010). To date there is no clear consensus as to whether maternal dietary imbalance, obesity or overweight is most likely to program hypertension in the offspring. A clearer understanding of

the differences in these factors for risk of programming is crucial to better understand the risk of programmed cardiovascular disease in society, considering that overweight and obesity is now present in 34% of the Australian obstetric population (Callaway *et al.*, 2006).

Importance of the type of fatty acid intake in pregnancy: Many studies have looked at manipulating saturated, polyunsaturated and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid content during pregnancy. Of these, it appears that maternal saturated fatty acid intake is deleterious to the health of offspring, while omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid consumption may be beneficial for offspring health. Offspring of dams fed a diet rich in omega-3 fatty acids throughout pregnancy, suckling and 6 weeks post weaning had normal blood pressure despite the total fat content of the diet being high (10%), (Weisinger *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, it was described by Weisinger *et al.*, (2010), that a diet low in omega-3 fatty acids programmes hypertension and increased sodium appetite; and this is thought to be due to persistent changes in fatty acid composition of the hypothalamus (Weisinger *et al.*, 2006). These data suggest that the type of fatty acid consumed during pregnancy may have profound implications for offspring heath, with a maternal diet high in saturated fatty acids rather than polyunsaturated fatty acids increasing the risk for programmed obesity or hypertension in offspring.

Is the amount of placental lipid transfer important? Lipid transfer from the mother to the foetus is vital, providing a crucial source of energy for the developing foetus. Placental lipases aid in the transportation of lipids from the maternal circulation to the foetus by liberating non-esterified fatty acids from triglycerides. These non-esterified fatty acids are then transferred to the synctiotrophoblast via fatty acid binding proteins and fatty acid translocase. Studies suggest that there is an association between excessive foetal growth rates and increased maternal plasma triglyceride and diglyceride concentration (Son *et al.*, 2010), and that this may contribute to accelerated development of atherosclerosis in offspring of hypercholesterolaemic rabbits (Napoli *et al.*, 2000). Studies done in sheep show overfeeding results in increased foetal plasma triglyceride concentration, and that this in turn causes an upregulation of fatty acid translocase expression allowing more fatty acid transport to the foetus (Zhu *et al.*, 2010). The amount of fatty acids that transport to the foetus or neonate can be quantified using a fatty acid with a stable ¹³C isotope (Gil-

Sanchez *et al., 2010),* however to date, it is unclear as to whether the kinetics would increase due to a maternal high fat diet, obesity or overweight.

Increases in inflammation and placental cytokines: Placental cytokines are undoubtedly important for normal conception, placentation, foetal growth, parturition, and immune cell activity (Szukiewicz, 2012). Maternal obesity during pregnancy is linked to an exaggerated inflammatory response (Henry et al., 2012). However, it is unclear what the effects are of excess maternal inflammation on foetal development. It is known that women who are obese and have gestational diabetes during pregnancy release higher concentrations of leptin from the placentae, however it remains unclear as to how leptin may affect the foetus (Henry et al., 2012). Furthermore, macrophage recruitment to the placenta is increased during maternal obesity, which results in increased cytokine production and upregution of pro-inflammatory adipokines and cytokines such as leptin, interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor (Challier et al., 2008). Of interest, leptin increases sympathetic activity in the adult (Haynes et al., 1997), however the direct effect of leptin on autonomic function in the foetus is unclear. A gestational diet high in saturated fat produces hypertriglyceridemia and hyperleptinemia in both mothers and foetuses (Mazzucco et al., 2013). Moreover, the foetus exhibit increased body weight, increased leptin expression in the placenta and foetal liver and increased accumulation of lipds in the liver (Mazzucco et al., 2013). This suggests the possibility that leptin may exert significant influence over the developing foetus.

Given the information above, it is likely that maternal obesity, over weight or a maternal diet rich in fats during pregnancy may results in obesity or high-fat related hypertension in offspring. There are many potential programming vectors described above. Identifying these vectors and understanding their potential programming effects on the developing foetus is of great importance in devising therapeutic and behavioural strategies to mitigate the development of programmed cardiovascular disease.

In addition to the increased prevalence of obesity and increased consumption of diets high in fat in the obstetric population, there is also a growing trend in the consumption of beverages high in sugar. Maternal exposure to high sucrose intake may also have profound implications to offspring health in later life. A cohort study by Englund-Ogge, *et al* (2012) showed an increased risk of mortality and morbidity during preterm delivery in offspring from mothers with a high intake of

sugary drinks during pregnancy. We will now examine the literature on high sucrose intake during pregnancy and putative programming effects that may predispose the offspring to hypertension in later life.

1.5.3 Evidence of a maternal high sucrose diet in programming hypertension

Diets high in simple sugars result in a high glycemic load (GI) and are therefore a major risk factor for obesity and metabolic syndrome and it's associated sequela (Brand-Miller et al., 2002). An increased GI diet during pregnancy is associated with an increased risk for gestational diabetes mellitus and maternal obesity (Zhang et al., 2006). Conversely, a low GI diet during pregnancy may reduce gestational weight gain and improve glucose homeostasis in the mother (Walsh et al., 2012). Despite the growing interest of a high GI diet and its role in obesity, exposure to a high sucrose diet during pregnancy and its effects in utero has not been extensively investigated. It is unclear as to whether a maternal high sucrose diet causes hypertension as a result of obesity and its related sequela or if hypertension is a consequence of direct influence of a maternal diet high in sucrose. A study by Metzger et al., (2008) found a strong linear relationship between maternal glucose intake and increased infant adiposity, based upon direct measurement of infant skin-fold thickness. Fructose given to pregnant rats in drinking water (10% w/v) resulted in hyperglycemia in both the mother and foetus (Flynn et al., 2013). Moreover, such pups are found to have hyperinsulinaemia indicative of developing insulin resistance (Vickers et al., 2012). In pregnant mice, obesity induced by feeding a diet rich in both animal fat and sugars resulted in hypertension and increased fat mass in the offspring, however it was uncertain whether the programming effects were due to the high fat or high sugar (Samuelsson et al., 2008). These same investigators subsequently examined the effects of a gestational high sugar diet in isolation and found that a diet high in sugar (26% of total energy) but low in fat produced hypertension in both male and female offspring from the high sucrose group at three months of age (Sammuelsson et al., 2013). Furthermore, both male and female offspring showed increased low:high frequency ratio in their HRV, suggesting that the hypertension may be due to increased sympathetic tone.

In summary, high sucrose diets during pregnancy cause changes to maternal metabolic parameters that in turn affect foetal metabolic parameters and foetal development, ultimately

increasing the risk of chronic disease in later life. However, the mechanisms behind these metabolic changes and increased disease risk are not well understood.

1.6 PROGRAMMED HYPERTENSION: PLAUSIBLE MECHANISMS

1.6.1 Kidney dysfunction

Since the kidney plays an important role in the control of blood pressure by regulating water and salt excretion (Hall *et al.*, 1991), it has been the subject of considerable investigation in studies aimed at determining the etiology of programmed hypertension. Extensive studies in the rat and sheep show windows of susceptibility to blood pressure programming that appear to occur during the early stages of kidney development (Vehaskari *et al.*, 2001). A study by Zeman *et al.*, (1968) reported that rats exposed to severely protein-restricted diets during thoughout gestation had 30-45% fewer glomeruli than controls. Since then, several laboratories have confirmed this finding (Woods *et al.*, 2001, Ortiz *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, rats born with reduced nephron numbers were shown to develop hypertension by 3 months of age (Vehaskari *et al.*, 2005).

The mechanism behind the inverse relationship between low nephron number and blood pressure is thought to arise due to a decrease in the total kidney filtration surface area. This decrease in filtration surface area may not meet the demands of a growing animal, thus resulting in sodium retention (Mackenzie *et al.*, 1996; Brenner *et al.*, 1988). Furthermore, a greater workload is placed on each nephron, resulting in glomerular and arterial hypertension and subsequent hyperfiltration. This can result in glomerular sclerosis and greater loss of nephron function (Mackenzie *et al.*, 1988). Other studies of programmed hypertension including uterine artery ligation, food restriction, iron deficiency, glucocorticoid exposure and low protein diet have also observed reduced nephron numbers in programmed animals (Kett *et al.*, 2004). It is therefore believed that a reduction in nephron number may play a role in prenatally programmed hypertension (Brenner *et al.*, 1998).

However, there is conflicting evidence regarding the importance of a reduction in nephron number in producing a hypertensive phenotype. Studies has shown, when given a low protein diet with a combination of dietary supplements prevented any reduction in nephron number without affecting

the development of hypertension (Langley-Evans *et al.*, 2003; Jackson *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, studies show hypertension in the absence of reduced nephron number (da Silva *et al.*, 2003) and reduced nephron number with no apparent hypertension (Zimanyi *et al.*, 2002). Although it is physiologically plausible that abnormalities in the kidney may be of importance to the etiology of programmed hypertension, the data indicate that while nephron deficit may play a permissive role, it is not the primary cause of programmed hypertension.

Another mechanism that may cause adult hypertension via increase sodium retention is thought to be due to programming of epithelial sodium co-transporters located in the renal tubles. Sodium cotransport are located throughout the kidney from the proximal tubule to the collecting duct (Su and Menon, 2001). However, most of the sodium reabsorption occurs in the proximal tubule of the nephron while the fine control of reabsorption occurs in the collecting duct of the distal nephron (Schnermann, 2001; Schnermann, 2000). Only a few studies have looked at the direct effect of renal sodium transporter function in programming models. A study by Manning et al., 2002, looking at 4 week old offspring rats from mothers fed a low protein diet during the second half of gestation reported an increase in (mRNA and protein levels) of sodium co-transporters located in the thick ascending limb (302% compared to controls) and in the distal convoluted tubule (160% compared to controls). These changes in the kidney was manifested before the onset of hypertension, therefore already the foetal kidney was programmed inappropriately to retain sodium (Manning et al., 2002). Furthermore, at 8 weeks of age, sodium transporters in these rats were not down regulated with the onset of hypertension at 8 weeks of age (Manning et al., 2002). These findings are of significance, as down-regulation of sodium co-transporters in the distal convoluted tubule is known to be an important part of the normal pressure natriuresis response (Wang et al., 2001). In spite of the large number of programming studies on the kidney, looking at both a decrease nephron number and prenatal programming of renal sodium co-transporters, to date there is no evidence of reduced nephron number or prenatal programming of renal sodium co-transporters and hypertension reported in offspring due to a maternal obesogenic or high fat diet.

1.6.2 Autonomic dysfunction

Recent studies on humans and animal models have suggested that abnormalities in autonomic control may be pivotal in the development of obesity or high-fat related hypertension.

Measurements of noradrenaline spill over from sympathetic nerves and direct sympathetic nerve recordings show obese humans have increased sympathetic outflow to the blood vessels in skeletal muscles and increased sympathetic outflow to the kidneys (Esler *et al.*, 2006). Animal models of diet-induced obesity also show a net increase in sympathetic activity. This has been demonstrated via adrenergic blockade, which attenuates elevated blood pressure in obese rabbits and dogs (Antic *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, a study by Samuelsson et al (2010), showed hypertension in juvenile offspring (30 days of age) and as young adults (90 days) from mothers fed an obesogenic diet during pregnancy. The increased blood pressure was accompanied by evidence of increased sympathetic activity, including an increase in the LF:HF ratio of HRV, indicative of increase sympathetic activity. Moreover, administration of α - and β -adrenergic blockers reduced blood pressure to levels comparable to control rats. Therefore, these results support the hypothesis that sympathetic overactivity may play a role in programmed hypertension.

It has been hypothesised that hormones such as leptin and insulin are responsible for the chronic stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system in obesity-related and programmed hypertension. These hormones play a crucial role in peripheral signalling involved in energy homeostasis control. Leptin is primarily produced by white adipose tissue, and is often found to be elevated in people who are obese (Elmquist *et al.*, 2004) and obverweight (Zhang *et al.* 1994). Leptin has been shown to increase blood pressure by increasing renal sympathetic nerve activity (Marsh *et al.*, 2003 and Mark *et al.*, 2009). A study by Franco *et al.*, (2012) showed that offspring from mothers fed a high fat diet during pregnancy developed hyperleptinaemia and subsequent leptin resistance. It has been shown that leptin resistance appears to affect only the appetite-inhibitory aspects of leptin signalling, while the sympatho-excitatory aspects remain unchanged. This may result in inappropriately high appetite and persistent over activation of sympathetic nervous system, thus leading to the hypertension observed (Esler *et al.*, 2008).

Baroreflex dysfunction has also been studied in animal models of programmed hypertension. For example, sheep exposed to dexamethasone (a synthetic glucocorticoid) *in utero* display altered baroreflex function prior to hypertension (Segar *et al.*, 2006). The baroreflex curve, relating changes in HR to MAP, was found to be shifted toward a higher set-point in these animals. Similarly, rats programmed by either maternal protein restriction or maternal high fat diet have

displayed altered baroreflex responses that are pro-hypertensive (Pladys *et al.*, 2004; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010). These data suggest that the baroreflex may indeed play an important role in long-term blood pressure control, and play a permissive role in programmed hypertension.

1.6.3 Heart and vasculature

Changes to the cardiovascular system are associated with the development and maintenance of hypertension. Increased resistance in arteries and changes to myocardial contractility can impact cardiac output and total peripheral resistance. However there are limited studies available describing the effects of programming on the cardiovascular system.

Heart: intrauterine insults of hypoxemia (Murotsuki *et al.*, 1997) and anemia (Broberg *et al.*, 2003) are shown to have a significant effect on the foetal heart. A model of perinatal anemia in sheep showed remodelling of coronary vasculature whereby coronary reserve and conductance increased, resulting in a physiological advantage (Davis *et al.*, 2003). However, maternal administration of dexamethasone resulted in increased cardiac output and hypertension in the offspring (Dodic *et al.*, 2001). There have been no studies done investigating diet-induced programming changes in the offspring heart.

Vasculature: one of the primary vascular defects known to date is impaired endotheliumdependent relaxation. This has been shown in offspring programmed by maternal protein restriction (Brawley *et al.*, 2003), high fat intake (Koukkou *et al.*, 1998) under nutrition (Franco *et al.*, 2002) and placental insufficiency (Payne *et al.*, 2003). It is unclear to as what is the underlying cause of reduced endothelium-dependent dilation; a potential mechanism might be impaired response in the vascular smooth muscle cells to nitric oxide (Lamireau *et al.*, 2002) or impaired synthesis of nitric oxide (Payne *et al.*, 2003). Another possibility could be increased responsiveness to vasoconstrictors (Ozaki *et al.*, 2001).

There is some evidence for vascular dysfunction in offspring from mothers fed an obesogenic diet. Isolated femoral arteries of 15 day old rat pups from mothers fed a high fat diet (30% wt/wt) showed blunted responses to endothelium depended relaxation to acetylcholine. Furthermore, 60day-old offspring showed increased constrictor responses to norepinephrine (Koukkou *et al.*, 1998).

1.6.4 Epigenetic changes in programmed hypertension: evidence from animal models

Very little is known about the epigenetic changes which orchestrate programmed hypertension. Recent studies on rats have shown that maternal protein restriction during gestation decreases methylation of the angiotensin II type 1 β gene (Bogdarina *et al.*, 2007) in the offspring. This may result in stable, elevated AT1 β gene expression in the brain, and may cause hyper-responsiveness to angiotensin, a vasoconstrictor, in the offspring. Likewise, it has been observed that hypertensive offspring exposed to low protein diets during gestation have excessive brain angiotensin type 1 (AT1) receptor binding (Pladys *et al.*, 2004). Importantly, blockade of central AT1 receptors reduced blood pressure in the low protein group, but not controls (Pladys *et al.*, 2004), indicating that increased expression of AT1 receptors in the brain may play a role in producing a programmed-hypertensive phenotype. Further studies into the epigenetic changes that precede a programmed hypertensive phenotype are required.

1.7 SEX DIFFERENCES ASSOCIATED WITH DEVELOPMENTAL ORIGINS OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

It is widely known that men tend to have higher blood pressures than age matched women (Li *et al.*, 2010). However, aging decreases these sex differences (Kotsis *et al.*, 2006) and increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases in women (Jousilahti *et al.*, 1999). These sex differences are thought to be due to differences in sex steroids. There have been numerous programming studies that show sex differences, whereby males are worse off due to programming than age matched females. In a model of intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) in the rat, hypertension in the male offspring was associated with a two-fold increase in circulating testosterone (Ojeda *et al.*, 2007). In this model the importance of testosterone in the etiology of IUGR induced hypertension was shown by castration, whereby hypertension was abolished (Ojeda *et al.*, 2007). In addition, the male IUGR rats show greater increases in blood pressure to acute Ang II injection than control rats, an effect that is also abolished by castration. Therefore these studies strongly indicate that testosterone acts as a pro-hypertensive factor in the male IUGR rat models (Ojeda *et al.*, 2010). In comparison, female IUGR offspring are found to be normotensive after puberty (Alexander *et al.*, 2003). Ovariectomy induces hypertension in these rats, and replacement of estradiol reverses the

increased blood pressure (Ojeda *et al.*, 2007). Thus, loss of ovarian hormones in IUGR rats is associated with increases in blood pressure. Furthermore, ovariectomized IUGR females also show increased blood pressure sensitivity to Ang II in comparison to control females who have also been ovarectomized (Ojeda *et al.*, 2011). The studies above suggest differences in sex hormones may be associated with differences in offspring health outcomes due to gestational stress. Consistent with this, protein restriction in the pregnant dam (9% vs 20%) elicits programming of hypertension in the male offspring (Woods *et al.*, 2001) but not in the female (Woods *et al.*, 2005).

In summary, many models of developmental programming show sex differences in blood pressure during baseline conditions.. An increased risk of high blood pressure is more often seen in male offspring compared to controls regardless of the method of insult (undernutrition, obesogentic diet, glucocorticoid exposure or protein restriction) or timing of insult (prenatal vs postnatal) (Alexander *et al.,* 2014). However, it should be noted that not all studies indicate a role of sex hormones in the etiology of sex differences seen in foetal programming of hypertension (Alexander *et al.,* 2014).

1.7.1 Sex differences implicating the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS)

The RAAS plays a major role in blood pressure and volume homeostasis. Recent studies indicate that the vasodilatory arm of RAS is heightened in females compared to males (Sampson *et al.*, 2012) and that the RAAS is modulated in a different manner via sex steroids, which may contribute to sex differences in blood pressure control (Harrison-Bernard *et al.*, 2003; Hinojosa-Laborde., 2004). There are a number of differences in the RAS between male and females. Firstly, there is increased receptor density of renal angiotensin type 1 receptor (AT₁R) in the male compared to female rats (Sandberg *et al.*, 2003). Conversely receptor density of angiotensin type 2 receptor (AT₂R) which opposes vasoconstrictor activity (non classical pathway), is increased in females compared to male rats (Sampson *et al.*, 2008). Secondly, sex hormones have been implicated in the modulation of components of the RAAS. There is evidence that the classical vasoconstrictor arm of RAAS is augmented in males in way that is testosterone dependent (Yanes *et al.*, 2009), while estrogen increases production of angiotensin-(1-7) peptide associated with the regulation of the non classical dilator pathway, acting as an anti-hypertensive hormones in females (Brosnihan *et al.*, 1997). Therefore these studies suggest that the RAAS is implicated in sex specific developmental programming of hypertension.

The RAAS is also implicated in sex specific developmental programming of hypertension. Programming studies using a variety of maternal insults show female offspring in young adulthood are more protected from increases in blood pressure than their male counterparts during baseline conditions and in response to acute Ang II administration (Loria et al., 2013; Ojeda et al., 2007; Ojeda et al., 2011, Woods et al., 2005; Xiao et al., 2008). Moreover, placental insufficiency in the rat programmes marked increases in renal angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) activity in the offspring (Grigore et al., 2007), indicating that endogenous levels of Ang II may be raised in these animals. However, the females in this model show a marked increase in renal ACE2 expression that is reduced by overiectomy (Ojeda et al., 2007). Ovariectomy also induces hypertension in the female IUGR rat (Ojeda et al., 2007). Consistent with this, bilateral uterine ligation in the rat causes up-regulation of renal AT₁R in the male, but not female offspring (Moritz et al., 2009; Wlodek et al., 2007), while moderate protein restriction shows increased renal AT_2R expression in female, but not male offspring (McMullen et al., 2004; McMullen et al., 2005). Finally, severe gestational protein restriction also causes an increase in expression of vascular AT₁R in the male offspring by three months of age, whereas the in females, this is delayed until 6 months of age (Sathishkumar et al., 2012). In summary, programmed hypertension in response to a number of different in utero insults is implicated with the up regulation of the vasoconstrictor arm of RAAS in male offspring, and up regulation of the vasodilatory arm of RAAS in female offspring. This appears to play a significant role in delaying the development of programmed hypertension in the female.

Clearly sex differences are associated with developmental origins of cardiovascular diseases. Differences in the RAAS, renal nerve and the influence of sex steroids, contribute to differences in blood pressures of male and female offspring during young adulthood.

1.7.2 Sex difference implicating renal nerves in programmed models

There has been a wide range of studies that show programmed hypertension is associated with changes to renal nerves and there is evidence for sex-specific differences associated with these changes (Alexander *et al.*, 2014). In particular, programming changes in renal nerves appear to be present from birth in the male offspring, whereas in the female, a secondary insult may be needed to uncover programming of hypertension (Alexander *et al.*, 2014). In IUGR, female offspring are normotensive during young adulthood but develop age dependent hypertension associated with

increased visceral fat and increased leptin levels (Alexander *et al.*, 2003; Intapad *et al.*, 2013). Renal denervation abolishes hypertension in these rats (Intapad *et al.*, 2013). This suggests that IUGR programmed hypertension in females is dependent on a leptin-mediated activation of the renal sympathetic nerve (DiBona *et al.*, 2002). In contrast, in the male offspring, hypertension is not associated with increased fat mass and circulating leptin levels (Alexander *et al.*, 2014). Thus, although both male and female offspring from programming models show hypertension in adulthood, the mechanism by which the renal nerves are activated in developmental programming of hypertension might be sex specific.

1.8 STRESS AND SYSTEMIC RESPONSE TO STRESS

1.8.1 What is stress?

Stress can be broadly defined as a state of disharmony or threatened homeostasis; the stressor inflicted can be of biological (physiological) or psychological origin (Martinez- Lavin 2007). A Physiological stressor such as a pain, haemorrhage or cold cause direct harm to the body as the homeostatic regulation is challenged. Psychological stressors on the other hand do not cause direct harm to the body, but are perceived as a potential harmful insult by an individual. Such stressors include feeling threatened, fear, confrontation and startle. Stress can also manifest due to unpleasant memories of stressors. However, both physiological and psychological stress cause marked cardiovascular and autonomic changes, preparing an organism to respond or escape from the challenge (Carrive, 2011).

1.8.2 Psychological stress

In the context of humans, there is concern over the adverse effects of increased psychological stress on health, in particular the risk of cardiovascular disease. An on going problem in today's society is work related stress, (psychosocial stress). Such chronic stress is an ongoing stimulus for the stress response system. A prospective cohort study has shown that employees with increased job strain (defined by low salary, few career opportunities and lack of social approval) had a 2.2 fold increased risk of cardiovascular mortality compared to employees with a low job strain (Kivimaki *et al.*, 2002).

Acute psychological stressors have also been shown to increase risk of cardiovascular events, an example of this was shown in a study of the 1998 football world cup (Carroll *et al.*, 2002). There was a 25% increase in admission for acute myocardial infarction on 30th June 1998 (when England lost to Argentina in a penalty shoot out) and for the two days following the loss (Carroll *et al.*, 2002). Patients who survive myocardial infarction usually report a triggering activity, that is most commonly identified as physical exertion or being emotionally upset (Tofler *et al.*, 1990). Further evidence for health risks of acute stress comes from studies investigating adverse health outcomes surrounding catastrophic environmental events. An earthquake in 1994 at Northridge, southern California, saw a 35% increased admissions for myocardial infarction for a week following the earthquake compared to before the earthquake, and the proportion of hospitals reporting increased admissions were closer to the epicentre (Lear *et al.*, 1996).

Other studies have shown significant increases in sympathetic nerve activity following catastrophic environmental events. For example, hospitalised patients showed increased heart rate and heart rate variability (HRV) following an earthquake in Taiwan (Huang *et al.*, 2001). The increase in the low-frequency:high-frequency ratio in HRV is indicative of increased sympathetic nerve activity, and the increased cardiovascular risk associated with acute psychological stress may in part be due to increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system (Huang *et al.*, 2001). With regard to developmental programming, an increased sympathetic response to stress may play a significant role in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases and may be responsible for the increased propensity to develop hypertension (O'Regan *et al.*, 2010).

1.8.3 Physiological stress

Physiological stress refers to the homeostatic responses to various environmental stressors such as predation, infection, injury, fasting, water loss and temperature extremes (Girod and Brotman, 2004; Hindmarch *et al.*, 2011). The responses to a physiological stressor include specific responses particular to the stress stimulus and a more general response common to psychological stress, described below (Nesse and Young , 2000; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). It is important to note, however, that although there are very similar responses between physiological and psychological stressors, or even between different physiological stressors, the central pathways mediating the responses are not necessarily the same (Dampney *et al.*, 2008).
The physiological stress used in the present study was dehydration. Extended periods of water deprivation increase plasma osmolality and decrease blood volume (Toney and Stocker, 2010). This response is highly similar to that of high salt consumption (Toney and Stocker, 2010). Despite the hypovolemia, blood pressure usually increases in the conscious rat due to hormonal and sympathetic activation (Veitenheimer *et al.*, 2012). There is accumulating evidence that exaggerated sympathetic responses to increased plasma osmolarity may contribute to salt sensitive hypertension (Adams, 2004; Brooks et al. 2005; O'Donaughy et al. 2006), although the mechanisms by which this occurs are not well elucidated (Toney and Stocker *et al.*, 2010).

1.8.4 The stress response system

When an organism experiences a psychological or physiological stressor, information related to the stressor from all sensory systems is conveyed to the brain, in response, the neural and neuroendocrine systems are activated (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). The autonomic nervous system (ANS) is the most immediate response system to the stressor; activation of the ANS, particularly the sympathetic branch provides rapid changes to the physiological state (Iversen *et al.*, 2000). The activation of the hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which is a neuroendocrine cascade, results in increased circulating glucocorticoids; it has been found that glucocorticoids levels peak 10 minutes after the initiation of a stressor (Droste *et al.*, 2008). When activated by a stressor, these two systems together cause stereotypical changes such as piloerection, pupillary dilatation, sweating, increased blood pressure and heart and changes in metabolism. The brain responds to stress in proportion to the nature of the stressor.

During a psychological stressor, the limbic and thalamic nuclei are triggered in response to a cognitive interpretation of the stressor from the cortical and amygdaloid regions of the brain. This results in the activation of the ANS and HPA-axis via neuronal projections to certain structures in the hypothalamus (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). Physiological stressors such as dehydration also activate the ANS and HPA-axis via structures in the hypothalamus (Toney and Stocker, 2010). Thus the hypothalamus appears to be a key structure in mediating the stress responses to both psychological and physiological stressors.

1.8.5 The autonomic response to stress

The autonomic nervous system serves as the most immediate responder to stress, resulting in rapid changes to the physiological state by neural activation of targeted organs such as the sweat glands, pupils, gut, heart and vasculature beds via its sympathetic and parasympathetic branches (Critchley et al., 2000; Carrive and Gorissen, 2008; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009; Harrison et al., 2010). For the purposes of this thesis, we will focus on stress-mediated changes in autonomic control of cardiovascular function. Animal models have shown, acute psychological stress such as air jet stress increases arterial pressure and heart rate, and has varied affects on vascular beds, including vasodilatation to skeletal muscles and vasoconstriction to skin. These responses are typically a result of sympathetic activation (Alves et al., 2010; Brotman et al., 2007; Blessing et al., 2003; and Schadt and Hasser, 1998), however this is not always the case. There is evidence that the skeletal muscle vasodilatation may be due to stress-induced inhibition of sympathetic vasoconstrictor fibres to the skeletal muscle (Gebber et al., 2000). These coordinated responses help to mobilize the animal to respond appropriately to the environmental conditions that have evoked the stress. However, if the autonomic nervous system responds inappropriately, or if the animal is unable to remove itself from the stress, a non-homeostatic or pathological response may develop.

Stress may have adverse effects on health and disease when there are exaggerated, sympathetic responses to a stressor or in response to long term exposure to a stressor, and this may lead to overt hypertension (Grassi *et al.*, 2010; Razanski *et al.*, 2005). For example, a recent study reported that patients treated for chronic psychosocial stress had increased blood pressure as well as increased low frequency: high frequency heart rate variability, increased low frequency systolic blood pressure variability and decreased baroreflex sensitivity compared to control patients (Lucini *et al.*, 2014). All of these signs of autonomic dysfunction are commonly associated with hypertension (Grassi *et al.*, 2010). Animal studies have also shown changes in blood pressure in response to chronic stress. Henry and coworkers (1993) showed psychosocial competitive behavior between group-housed aggressive male Long Evans rats increased basal blood pressure by approximately 20 mmHg (Henry *et al.*, 1993), while chronic stress evoked by repeated foot shock in rats increased basal blood pressure and heart rate after only two weeks (Xiao *et al.*, 2013). With regard to physiological stress, the most common example is high salt diet, which is a

well-known risk factor for hypertension (Weinberger, 1996). Studies show that increased consumption of salt raises sympathetic nerve activity in rats (Toney and Stocker, 2010), and that preventing the increase in sympathetic activity also prevents the development of hypertension (Brody, 1988). These studies demonstrate a strong association between chronic stress and hypertension, however evidence for more mild stress eliciting hypertension via a sympathetic pathway is less robust.

Air jet stress is considered a mild psychological stress (Dampney *et al.*, 2008). A study in the borderline hypertensive rat, exposed to daily air jet stress for 8 weeks showed increased heart rate and basal arterial pressure, compared to controls (Mansi and Drolet, 1997). This study suggests that chronic mild stress may sensitise the sympathetic system and lead to hypertension. It should be noted that the borderline hypertensive rat has a genetic predisposition to develop hypertension when exposed to a stressor. Thus, some individuals may have increased sensitivity to chronic stress due to genetic and/or epigenetic factors, predisposing them to developing hypertension.

In the context of foetal programming, studies have shown heightened anxiety-like behavior from offspring of mothers exposed to a stressor such as raised glucocorticoids during pregnancy (Welberg *et al.*, 2001; Welberg and Seckl, 2001). A study by Igosheva *et al.*, (2004) showed, offspring rats exposed to gestational restraint stress had increased blood pressure when they themselves were exposed to restraint stress at 6 months of age. Furthermore, blood pressure remained elevated during the recovery phase in these rats, indicating that programming both increased the magnitude and extended the duration of the stress response (Igosheva *et al.*, 2004; O'Regan *et al.*, 2008). Similar results were obtained in an obesogenic high fat diet model of programming (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010). Arterial pressure increased more and remained elevated for longer in the high fat offspring in response to restraint stressed (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010). These programming studies add to the complexity of understanding the development of hypertension, furthermore, they provide evidence that stressors or unfavorable environments experienced in early life may in fact predispose offspring to develop hypertension.

1.8.6 The endocrine response to stress

Glucocorticoids (GC) are one of the main effectors of the endocrine response to stress, being released from the adrenal cortex after the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis (HPA) is activated

(De Kloet et al., 1998) (Figure 1.1) .The HPA-axis consists of three major endocrine glands; the hypothalamus, pituitary gland and the adrenal gland. These interact with each other to produce a complex network of feedback that controls the amount of glucocorticoid release in response to stress (O'Connor et al., 2000). Activation of the HPA-axis begins with hypothalamus-stimulated release of corticotropin-releasing hormone from the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) (Bornstein et al., 2008). This results the in release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary, which then enters the circulation and acts on the



Figure: 1.1 Schematic representation of feedback mechanism of HPA axis, "+" represents positive feedback loop whilst "– " represents negative feedback loop; corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). Figure adapted from Hiller-Sturmhöfel and Bartke, 1998.

adrenal cortex to stimulate the production of GCs (Bornstein *et al.* 2008). GCs in the circulation go on to act on a wide range of target organs, producing an array of biological responses, including glycogenesis and gluconeogenesis in the liver, lipolysis and proteolysis in adipose, muscle, lymphoid and connective tissue (Smith *et al.*, 2006). These biological responses all act to provide adequate substrate to overcome a challenging situation.

1.8.7 Central circulatory mediating control of psychological stress

The integrated central pathway of the autonomic nervous system that responds to stress is highly complex and remains poorly understood, however there is convincing evidence that suggests that

this response may be orchestrated within the hypothalamus. This became evident 70 years ago from studies done by Hess and Brugger. Their experiments showed electrical stimulation of the hypothalamus in a conscious cat produced behavioural and autonomic responses that were identical to those of a cat exposed to a threatening stimulus. This response is known as the "defense reaction" described by hissing, growling and piloerection behaviours observed (Hess and Brugger, 1943). Although these studies provided good evidence implicating the hypothalamus, it was impossible to delineate the precise regions of the hypothalamus or identify pathways associated with the defense reaction due to technical limitations of the day. However, more recent studies that have used more precise and localised methodology have enabled the identification of key regions within the hypothalamus, these include the lateral areas surrounding the fornix as well as the ventromedial and dorsal areas of the hypothalamus, the collection of these areas is often termed the hypothalamic defense area (Hilton, 1965).

1.8.8 Key hypothalamic nuclei involved in stress response

Studies with improved and more sophisticated techniques have confirmed previous experiments indicating the role of the hypothalamus in mediating autonomic responses to stress. These studies have been able to identify regions *within* the hypothalamic defense area that are important in producing cardiovascular and behavioral responses to stress. The three main regions identified include; the perifornical nucleus (PeF), the dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMH) and the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). **Figure 1.2** shows a summary of these structures that mediate the cardiovascular responses to stress.



Figure 1.2: Key regions of the hypothalamus that are associated with cardiovascular responses to stress. A) Parasagittal section indicating location the of the hypothalamus in a rat. B) Show three coronal sections with key hypothalamic regions located at anterior, middle and hypothalamus. posterior of the Parventricular nucleus (PVN), dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus (DMH), perifornical area (PeF). Figure adapted from Dampney, 2013.



The PeF: is located in the middle of the hypothalamus, surrounding the fornix. Stimulation of this area evokes defense reactions as described by Hess and Brugger, 1943, (Nakao, 1958; Smith *et al.*, 1990). Further, studies by Dampney and coworker (2008); suggest that the PeF is important in producing cardiovascular and autonomic responses to contextual stressors. Contextual stressors are defined as a stimulus that is perceived by the animal as threatening due to prior experiences, whereas non-contextual stressors are unconditioned fear, they do not depend upon prior experience and so are intrinsically threatening, such as a loud noise (Dampney *et al.*, 2008). Studies by Furlong and Carrive (2007) showed that lesions made in the PeF reduced cardiovascular and autonomic responses to an environment in which the rat had been conditioned to fear (i.e. a contextual stress), but no changes were seen in cardiovascular and autonomic responses to contextual stressors. In contrast, the DMH is thought to play a role in mediating responses to non-contextual stressors (Palmer and Printz, 2002; Dampney *et al.*, 2008).

The DMH: regulates cardiovascular and autonomic responses to acute stress (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009, Dampney *et al.,* 2002; 2008) (**Figure 1.3**). Discrete stimulation of the DMH

increases blood pressure, heart rate, respiratory rate and increases HPA-axis responses to a psychological stressor (Bailey and Dimicco, 2001; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009; Dampney et al., 2008). In contrast, inhibition of the DMH by injection of neuroinhibitory compounds decreases the increase in blood pressure and heart rate following an acute psychological stress such as air restraint or jet stress (Morin et al., 2001; Stotz-Potter et al., 1996; Ulrich-Lai and Herman 2009).



Figure 1.3: Flow diagram showing proposed central pathways subserving the autonomic, neuroendocrine and respiratory responses to psychological stress. DMH, dorsomedial hypothalamus; NTS, nucleus of the solitary tract; RVLM, rostral ventrolateral medulla, BAT, brown adipose tissue. Figure adapted from Dampney *et al.*, 2008.

Afferent projections from other hypothalamic, cortical and subcortical regions input into the DMH, these projections are known to be associated with the perception of stress (Stotz-Potter *et al.*, 1996). The afferent inputs that initiate cardiovascular responses to a psychological stress in the DMH, however, are currently unknown (Dampney *et al.*, 2008). The efferent projections from the DMH are defined more clearly. With the activation of the DMH, a modulation of the baroreflex is observed (McDowall *et al.*, 2006). This probably arises via a direct input from the DMH to the nucleus tractus solitaries (NTS), which is a site at which primary baroreceptor afferents terminate (Thompson *et al.*, 1996) and well known to be an important site of baroreflex modulation (Boscan *et al.*, 2002). Direct projections from the DMH to the raphe pallidus have also been identified and thought to play an important role in regulating heart rate in response to a stressor (Sarker *et al.*,

2007; Samuels *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, studies have shown a functional projection from the DMH to the sympathetic premotor neurons located in RVLM (Fontes *et al.*, 2001), and these projections may be responsible for changes in sympathetic vasomotor activity and therefore increases in blood pressure associated with a psychological stressor (Horiuchi *et al.*, 2004, Dampney *et al.*, 2002). However this remains controversial (Furlong *et al.*, 2014). The descending pathways that mediate the stress evoked respiratory changes have not yet been defined (Dampney *et al.*, 2008). Finally, there is evidence that the DMH is involved in gating PVN activation during a psychogenic stressor, which may play a role in both sympathetic and glucocorticoid responses to stress (DiMicco *et al.*, 2002).

The PVN: Inputs from other hypothalamic regions converge at the PVN, which plays a crucial role in regulating numerous homeostatic function, including temperature, appetite and fluid regulation. In addition, the PVN is a principle integrator of stress signals to autonomic and HPA axis (Ulrich-

Lai and Herman, 2009; Guyenet, 2006). The PVN is highly involved in the regulation of HPA-axis; the medial parvocellular subdivision of the PVN contains neuroendocrine neurons that synthesise and release corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH) via the pituitary gland (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). CRH stimulates then the secretion adrenocorticotropic of hormone (ATCH) producing glucocorticoid hormones from the adrenals (Figure 1.4). In addition to their role in mobilizing glucose and fatty acids, glucocorticoids also play a major role in regulating the stress response, via negative feedback cycle inhibition of



Figure 1.4: *role of paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in response to stress*, showing major projections from the PVN in modulating HPA-axis and sympathetic activity. Adapted from Benarroch, 2005.

the HPA-axis (Sawchenko et al., 2000; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009).

The posterior subdivision of the PVN projects directly to autonomic nuclei in the brain stem and spinal cord, including the spinal intermediolateral cell column (IML) and the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM). These pathways are thought to mediate part of the autonomic responses to stress (Shafton *et al.*, 1998; Coote *et al.*, 1998; Dampney *et al.*, 2002) (**Figure 1.4**).

The PVN also plays a crucial role in mediating sympathetic and endocrine responses to

dehydration- and osmotic stress (Brooks et al., 2005; Guyenet, 2006). Inhibition of PVN neurons significantly attenuates the sympathetic activation in response to acute hyperosmolality (Antunes et al. 2006; Chen and Toney, 2001). The increase in sympathetic nerve activity is also mediated by activation of presympathetic RVLM neurons (Brooks et al., 2005), suggesting that the pathway fro the PVN to the RVLM plays a crucial role in osmotic and possible volumedependent increases in sympathetic activity.



Figure 1.5: *inputs to the parventricular nucleus (PVN).* The PVN receive visceral and nociceptive inputs via the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), either directly or via a relay in the C1/A1 groups of catecholaminergic nerurons of the ventrolateral medulla or the parabrachial nucleus (PBN). Adapted from Benarroch, 2005.

The PVN receives both direct and indirect inputs from key cardiovascular regulatory sites such as the NTS and A1 neurons in the caudal ventrolateral medulla. The exact pathways are not fully elucidated but do include a synapse in the pontine parabrachial nucleus (PBN) (Benarroch, 2005) (**Figure 1.5**). These inputs provide information on bood pressure, blood volume and oxygen saturation (Karim *et al.*, 1972, Clement *et al.*, 1972; Lovick and Coote, 1988; Reddy *et al.*, 2005) and may play an important role in modulating sympathetic homeostatic responses such as during

dehydration.

Finally, studies indicate that the PVN may play a crucial role in initiating the increase sympathetic activity associated with heart failure (Felder *et al.,* 2003) and hypertension (Ito *et al.,* 2002; Allen, 2002; Guyenet, 2006; Toney and Stocker, 2010). To date the role of the PVN in programmed hypertension has not been investigated.

1.9 NON-INVASIVE MEASUREMENT OF AUTONOMIC FUNCTION

Traditionally, the assessment of autonomic function requires the use of invasive techniques, such as direct recording of sympathetic nerve activity from electrodes placed on nerve fibers. These measurements of autonomic function cannot be done easily in a conscious freely moving animal and usually require conducting experiments under anestheisa. This makes it extremely difficult, if not impossible to determine the response to psychological stressors. Similarly, in humans the assessment of autonomic function is ethically complicated by the use of invasive techniques. Therefore, several non-invasive techniques have been developed to measure indices of autonomic function without causing undue stress to the subject. In this thesis, autonomic function was assessed by the following techniques: (i) spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (sBRS), (ii) baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), (iii) frequency analysis of heart rate variability (HRV), (iv) frequency analysis of systolic blood pressure variability (BPV) and (v) determination of maximum rate of change of aortic pressure during ventricular systole (dP/dt_{max}). These measurements are all conducted post-hoc from the blood pressure waveform, without the need to manipulate cardiovascular variables, and therefore minimise the disturbance to the animal.

1.9.1 Spontaneous baroreceptor reflex sensitivity (sBRS)

sBRS is a method of determining cardiac baroreflex function; this method has been used both clinically and in animal studies to identify problems in blood pressure control (La Rovere *et al.*, 1998; Polson *et al.*, 2006; Tank *et al.*, 2000; Waki *et al.*, 2006). sBRS measures the relationship between pulse interval (or R-R interval from electrocardiogram) and systolic blood pressure during spontaneous fluctuations in blood pressure. Traditionally, baroreflex sensitivity is determined by injecting vasoactive drugs into the animal resulting in changes in blood pressure. The resultant heart rate or pulse interval response is then plotted against blood pressure; this relationship

provides a measure of the baroreflex sensitivity. This method is known as the Oxford technique (Smyth *et al.*, 1969). This technique has been used to show decreased baroreflex sensitivity in hypertensive patients and in animal models of hypertension (Bristow *et al.*, 1969; Casto and Phillips, 1986; Pladys *et al.*, 2004).

More recently, analysis of sBRS has been done using computer-based techniques without the use of vasoactive drugs. These computer based techniques scan the blood pressure waveform using an algorithm that identifies beat-to-beat fluctuations in blood pressure and heart rate. These techniques provide a low cost, noninvasive and simple way of measuring sBRS. An advantage of this technique is that it allows for an assessment of the baroreflex function at its functional operating point and how it's modulated in daily life (Parati et al., 1995). There are two basic approaches commonly used: the sequence method and the spectral method. The sequence method incorporates the identification of sequences of consecutive beats in which progressive increases in SBP (pressor ramps) are followed by a progressive lengthening of pulse interval or progressive decreases in SBP (depressor ramps) are followed by progressive shortening of pulse interval. For each ramp, these values (SBP and PI) are plotted and fitted with a linear regression line, the slope of the regression between SBP and PI values in each sequence are indicative of baroreflex sensitivity (Di Rienzo et al., 2001; Waki et al., 2006). This technique has two major advantages; firstly measurement variability is decreased due to the automatic and standardized way of computing the data, secondly, different measurements are taken for increasing and decreasing blood pressure values, these account for any asymmetry of baroreceptor response (La Rovere et al., 2008). The sequence method was used for the analysis of baroreflex in our experiments.

Spontaneous BRS can also be determined by investigating SBP and pulse interval variability (or heart rate variability (HRV), see below) in the frequency domain, and is based on the assumption that a component of the HRV in a certain frequency range is dependent upon the baroreflex, and where HRV and BPV will display a high coherence (Persson *et al.*, 2001). In other words, where the oscillations in HR and SBP are linearly related. The gain of the transfer function between SBP and HRV provides a measure of the BRS. In practice, this can be determined as the square root of ratio of HRV and BPV powers in the low frequency and high frequency ranges, respectively (La

Rovere *et al.*, 2008). Both the sequence method and the spectral method have been validated using a number of tests, including denervation of baroreceptors producing a loss of gain and correlation with the gain as determined by the Oxford technique (Persson *et al.*, 2001; La Rovere *et al.*, 2008).

1.9.2 Baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI)

In healthy individuals the baroreflex is not always activated following every fluctuation in blood pressure, and this phenomenon can be quantified as the baroreflex effectiveness index. It is the ratio between the number of SBP ramps followed by the respective PI reflex response and the total number of SBP ramps observed for a given time period (Di Rienzo *et al.*, 2001), calculated using the formula below:

$BEI = \frac{total \ number \ of \ PI/SBP \ sequences}{total \ number \ of \ SBP \ ramps}$

1.9.3 Heart rate variability (HRV)

Measurements examine quantitatively how heart rate varies over time. The measures are usually performed over both long and short term and are an important quantitative marker of autonomic activity. The association of HRV as a function of autonomic activity is seen in experimental evidence as an inclination to lethal arrhythmias and either increased sympathetic or reduced vagal activity. Such evidence has therefore allowed the development of quantitative markers and HRV represents a promising marker of autonomic activity (Heart rate variability, 1996). There are a variety of techniques to measure quantitatively how heart rate varies over time

The frequency domain measures of HRV are determined by performing fast fourier transform (FFT) over a heart rate waveform that has previously been created from the raw blood pressure waveform or ECG trace. This enables the separation of the fluctuations into three pre-determined frequency components, very low frequency component (0-0.25 Hz), low- (0.25-0.75 Hz) and high frequency (0.75-3.3 Hz). These frequency ranges in the rat have been previously determined (Waki *et al.*, 2006). Two of the frequency bands have been shown to be related to autonomic function: low frequency reflects the level of sympathetic modulation and high frequency reflects the

parasympathetic modulation. Furthermore, there is evidence that the very low frequency component is associated with hormonal influences (Malik *et al.,* 1996).

1.9.4 Blood pressure variability (BPV)

Blood pressure can differ significantly in an individual at different times, for example during night and day, changes in the beat to beat blood pressure variation during sleep and wakefulness and in response to physiological or psychological stimuli. Evidence suggests that if such representation of BPV is augmented, there is an increased cardiovascular risk (Floras, 2013). Similar to HRV, spectral analysis of the beat-to-beat fluctuations in SBP in the low frequency band corresponds to levels of sympathetic vasomotor activity (Waki *et al.*, 2006).

1.10 THE C-FOS TECHNIQUE FOR FUNCTIONAL-ANATOMICAL IDENTIFICATION OF NEURONAL POPULATIONS ACTIVATED BY A SPECIFIC STIMULUS

1.10.1 What is c-fos?

C-fos is an immediate early gene, the mammalian homologue to the osteosarcoma-causing viral oncogene v-fos (Sagar *et al.*, 1988; Curran et al., 1983). These genes are the first to be activated following virus integration into an infected cell and are responsible for transcriptional reprogramming of the host to promote virus replication (Milde-Langosch, 2005). C-fos is a part of the Fos family of transcription factors, including FosB, Fra-1 and Fra-2. It encodes for the protein product Fos, which forms heterodimers with the protein product from another immediate early gene c-*jun* to form a protein complex known as Activator Protein-1 (AP-1). AP-1 is a transcription factor: it binds DNA at AP-1 specific binding sites at the promoter and enhancer regions of target genes, thereby altering gene expression of other genes (**Figure 1.6**) (Rylski and Leszek Kaczmarek, 2004). Although AP-1 is involved in many aspects of the brain physiology, only a few downstream target genes have been identified. Some of these include genes encoding for neurotransmitters or neuromodulators, such as tyrosine hydroxylase, corticotrophin releasing hormone and arginine vasopressin, while other encode for transmembrane protein and neurotrophine and cytokines (Hoffman et al., 1993; Icard-Liepklans et al., 1993; Rylski and Leszek Kaczmarek, 2004).



Figure 1.6: *illustration of intracellular pathways leading to Fos expression.* Adapted from Dampney et al., 2003

1.10.2 Stimulus for c-fos expression in neurons

Fos expression was first identified in brain neurons in the late 1980s and the expression was shown to be increased by generalised seizure, noxious stimulus or electrical stimulation (Sagar *et al.*, 1988; Dragunow and Faull, 1989; Dragunow and Robertson, 1988; Herrera and Robertson, 1996). In particular, the activation of c-*fos* appears to be dependent on increasing intracellular calcium concentrations, such as occurs during depolarisation-activated voltage dependent calcium channels (Dragunow and Faull, 1989; Haby et al., 1994; Herrera and Robertson, 1996; Sheng and Greenberg, 1990). Thus, a major stimulus for c-*fos* expression is neuronal activation.

Following a stimulus, c-*fos* is expressed rapidly, within a few minutes, reaching peak mRNA levels within 30 minutes (Kovacs, 2008) and maximum protein expression by approximately 60-120 minutes (Sheng and Greenberg, 1990; Kovacs, 2008). Protein expression persists for 2-5 hours (Kovacs, 2008; Morgan et al., 1987). Basal c-*fos* expression in most neurons is very low (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003), indeed usually a strong and sustained stimulus is required before c-*fos* expression can be reliably induced (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003; Dragunow and Faull,

1989). These simple expression characteristics have made the identification of c-*fos* mRNA levels using in situ hybridisation or Fos protein levels using immunohistochemistry one of the most powerful and reliable techniques for identification and mapping of neuronal populations that are activated by a specific stimulus (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003; Ferrera and Robertson, 1996). Since these early studies, there have been hundreds of reports that have investigated c-*fos* expression in the central nervous system following specific stimuli (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003; Ferrera and Robertson, 1996). It is important, however, to be aware of the limitation of the c-*fos* technique when used as a tool for functional neuroanatomical identification.

1.10.3 The c-fos Technique as a tool for functional mapping of neuronal activity

Identification of brain regions or neuronal populations responsible for a specific function is of crucial importance in neuroscience. Earliest techniques involved lesioning or electrical stimulation of brain regions of interest and observation of the evoked responses. Clearly these techniques were coarse in their nature and could not discriminate between effects on cell bodies or axons of passage (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003; Dragunow and Faull, 1989). Electrophysiological recording of individual or small groups of neurons to identify neurons activated by a stimulus allowed for greater discrimination within brain regions, but at the expense of better understanding of more global effects. Such experiments could not identify more than a few neurons at any given time, and so were unable to provide useful information about populations of neurons that are activated by a stimulus (Dampney et a, 1995; Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003).

To obtain a more comprehensive picture of the distribution of neurons that are activated by a specific stimulus, it is necessary to use a functional mapping technique. An early method was the 2-deoxyglucose method, which uses injected radioactive deoxyglucose to identify brain regions whose metabolic activity is altered as a consequence of the stimulus (i.e. because of increased neural activity) (Dampney et al., 1995; Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003). The disadvantage of this technique is its lack of resolution. The incorporated radioactive glucose in the tissue is simply exposed onto photographic plates and so there is no microscopic magnification of the area under observation. Therefore, it is not possible to identify individual neurons, or even whether the radioactivity is in neuronal cell bodies or terminals. Moreover, the basal level of metabolic activity is fairly high, meaning there is often a low signal to noise ratio that can make it difficult to identify

some activated regions (Dampney et al., 1995; Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003; Greenberg *et al.,* 1981). The c-*fos* technique is a more advanced functional mapping technique that overcomes many of the problems described above.

Fos protein can be stained for immunohistochemically, staining the nucleus of the neuron, and allowing the tissue to be examined under the microscope. Therefore, the c-*fos* technique has the dual advantage of being able to identify activated (by the presence of Fos) *populations* of neurons at the cellular level. Moreover, Fos labelling can be combined with other neuroanatomical techniques, such as double labelling for retrograde tracers or neurotransmitters, allowing more information to be evaluated (Dampney et al., 1995; Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003).

Limitations: There are a number of limitations to the c-*fos* technique that need to be considered. First, neurons differ in their capacity to produce Fos and the time course over which Fos is produced is not consistent between different cell populations. Therefore, absence of Fos expression does not necessarily mean that the neurons were not activated. For example, following a raised blood pressure stimulus, no Fos was found in the nucleus ambiguous, the site of cardiac vagal preganglionic neurons, despite it being well reported that these neurons are activated by raised blood pressure (Dampney et al., 1995). A second limitation is that Fos expression is affected by anaesthesia (Dragunow and Faull, 1989), making it complicated to carry out studies in anaesthetised animals (Dampney et al., 1995). For example, barbiturates have been reported to inhibit Fos expression, while urethane increases baseline expression (Dragunow and Faull, 1989; Dampney et al., 1995). Finally, because the expression of Fos is linked to neuronal activation, any stimulus that increases neuronal activation will likely cause Fos expression. Therefore, it is important to control the local environment in which the experiments are taking place: for example noise levels and smells may elicit Fos expression (Beckett et al., 1997).

1.10.4 The c-fos technique in psychological stress

There are numerous reports describing neural activation in response to acute (Ceccatelli et al., 1989; Furlong et al., 2014; Palmer and Printz, 1999; Porter and Hayward, 2011; Spencer and Day, 2004; Spencer et al., 2005), and contextual (Carrive and Gorissen, 2008; Furlong et al., 2009) stress. Many of the regions reported to be activated include regions known to be involved in mediating sympathoexcitatory responses to stress, including the rostral ventrolateral medulla,

midbrain periaqueductal grey and several structures in the hypothalamus (Carrive and Gorissen, 2008; Furlong et al., 2009; 2014; Palmer and Printz, 1999; Porter and Hayward, 2011; Spencer and Day, 2004; Spencer et al., 2005).

Air jet stress, used in this study, is considered an acute stress of moderate intensity (Dampney et al., 2008). Rats exposed to an air jet stress show significant increases in Fos expression in certain hypothalamic regions, including the DMH, PVN, and PeF, (Furlong et al., 2014; Palmer and Printz, 1999; Spencer et al., 2005; Spencer and Day, 2004). As described in **Section 1.8.9**, these nuclei are crucial for the normal expression of sympathoexcitatory responses to stress. There are no reports describing stress-evoked Fos expression in the hypothalamus in programmed hypertension, however increases in stress-evoked Fos expression in the hypothalamus have been described in the spontaneously hypertensive rat (Imaki et al., 1998; Palmer and Printz, 1999). Therefore, the exaggerated cardiovascular responses to stress in the spontaneously hypertensive rat (Palmer and Printz, 1999) may be due to increased activity in these hypothalamic regions. Investigation of Fos expression following acute stress in programmed hypertension is crucial to better understand the mechanisms underlying hypertension in this model.

1.11 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

1.11.1 Hypothesis

- 1. Programmed rats (offspring of dams exposed to a high fat (HF) or high sucrose diet (HSU) during pregnancy) exhibit a hypertensive phenotype and altered autonomic function at rest
- Programmed rats exhibit altered cardiovascular and autonomic responses to physiological (dehydration) and psychological (air jet) stress
- Programmed rats have an increased number of activated neurons (as determined by c-fos expression_ in response to air jets stress

1.11.2 Aims

- 1. To compare blood pressure and derived cardiovascular and autonomic parameters in offspring at 6 months of age of dams fed a high fat (34% fat) or control (4.8% fat) diet non-invasively using radiotelemetry. The cardiovascular parameters include systolic and diastolic blood pressure, pulse pressure, heart rate and pulsue interval. The autonomic parameters include heart rate and systolic blood pressure variability, spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity, baroreflex effectiveness index and maximum rate of change of the rise in aortic pressure during systole (dP/dt_{max}, as an index of cardiac contractility). Parameters will be measured in the absence stress and during exposure to a physiological (dehydration) or psychological (air jet) stressor.
- 2. To compare blood pressure and derived cardiovascular and autonomic parameters in offspring at 6 months of age of dams fed a high sucrose (10% sucrose) or control (0% sucrose) diet using radiotelemetry. Parameters will be measured in the absence of stress and during exposure to a physiological (dehydration) or psychological (air jet) stressor.
- 3. To determine whether the offspring of dams fed a high sucrose diet exhibit differences in Fos expression (as a marker of neuronal activation) in key hypothalamic structures (dorsomedial hypothalamus, perifornical area and paraventricular nuscleus) following a psychological (air jet) stress.

CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY

2.1 OVERVIEW

These experiments were designed to investigate the propensity for hypertension in the offspring of rat dams fed a high fat (HF) or high carbohydrate (sucrose, HSU) diet during pregnancy. Pregnant rats were fed either a standard chow (6% fat), high fat chow (34% fat) or high carbohydrate (10% sucrose solution in water) diet for a period of time (discussed in detail below). Protein levels were maintained similar at 20-26% energy in all feed, a difference that is unlikely to impact on foetal programming. The offspring were kept for 6 months before commencement of experiments.

Adult offspring rats (6 months old) were implanted with a radio telemetry probe under general anaesthesia, for blood pressure measurement in the awake, freely moving animal. Following a recovery period of approximately 7 days, blood pressure was recorded in the rat over a nine-day period, during which time they were subjected to dehydration (a physiological stressor) by removing access to water for three days. Following recovery, the rats were also subjected to an air jet stress (psychological stressor), which consisted of 15 minutes of repeated exposure to puffs of air. The rat was then perfused using paraformaldehyde to fix the brain. The brain was removed and prepared for c-fos staining of neurons using an immunohistochemical procedure.

The Animal Care and Ethics Committee at The University of Sydney approved all experimental protocols and all experiments were done in accordance with the NHMRC Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (2004). Experiments were conducted in *Sprague Dawley (SD)* rats for all the experiments. A total of 23 males and 20 female SD rats were used for HF experiments and a total of 16 male SD rats were used for HSU experiments.

2.2 HIGH FAT AND HIGH SUCROSE MODELS OF PROGRAMMED HYPERTENSION

2.2.1 High fat diet

Female Sprague-Dawley rats (age 5 weeks; approximate weight 157-173g) were maintained under light and temperature-controlled conditions and fed either a HF diet (34% fat omega-6 PUFA, 26% protein, energy 22.3 KJ/g) or control diet (6% fat, 23% protein, energy 13.9 KJ/g), by Specialty Feeds Services, Western Australia, commencing four weeks prior to mating. After mating, female pairs were established for the period of gestation. Dietary interventions were maintained throughout gestation and switched to a standard diet on day one of lactation.

2.2.2 High sucrose diet

A second group of rats (age 5 weeks; approximate weight (g) 249 -267.) were also maintained under controlled conditions and given either a high sucrose diet or a control diet. The high sucrose diet rats consumed a standard chow (4.8% fat, 20% protein, energy 14.0 MJ/Kg digestible energy, Specialty Feeds), but in addition to being provided with normal drinking water, they were also provided with drinking water that contained sucrose at 10% wt/vol (Coles white sugar; Victoria, Australia) concentration (**Figure 2.1**). The average daily amount of drink intake of sucrose drink was 112.5±17.3 mL and water was 29.9±6.8mL for the sucrose group (**Figure 1 in Appendix**). The control rats were fed the same control diet and normal drinking water only. The dietary interventions were the same as for HF rats: established four weeks prior to mating, one week during mating (where they were co-housed with a male rat), and subsequently for the 3 weeks of gestation. For both high fat and high sucrose protocols, female rats were housed separately and mated at night by introducing a male rat into the cage. The following morning vaginal swabs were performed to confirm mating by the presence of sperm on the swab. If sperm was identified, this was taken as confirmation of pregnancy and as embryonic day zero. All rats were housed in The University of Sydney animal houses throughout gestation and lactation.



Figure 2.1: Experimental design for high sucrose model

Both maternal control and sucrose groups were provided with a chow diet and water. In adition to this the sucrose group was provided with a 10% sucrose solution (w/v). The dietary intervention period was implemented 4 weeks before mating, 1 week during mating and for thee weeks of gestation. Figure adapted from Ekayanti, 2013.

On the day of parturition, litters were culled to 8 pups per dam to ensure equal nutrition within the offspring. At this stage, all dams were provided with a standard diet and pups remained with the mother until weaning at an age of three weeks. Post weaning, the pups were housed in-group cages of males and females until the commencement of experiments. Prior to commencement of experiments rats were brought up to the laboratory and housed in an approved animal holding room within the laboratory. The room in which the rats were held was temperature controlled (approximately 25°C) with a 12:12 light: dark cycle and all rats had free access to water and chow.

2.3 MEASUREMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR PARAMETERS IN THE OFFSPRING

2.3.1 Surgical implantation of radio telemetry probes

At approximately 6 months of age the rats underwent a surgical procedure to implant a telemetry blood pressure transmitter (PAC11-40, Data Science International, St, Paul, MN, USA). Blood pressure was measured using a pressure-sensing catheter that was inserted in the upstream direction into the abdominal aorta. The catheter is connected to a pressure transducer that transmits the pressure signal via radio frequency signals. This radio frequency signal can be detected and recorded when the rat is placed on a receiver, which is connected to a computer. The

pulsatile arterial pressure signal was recorded at a sampling rate of 1000 Hz using DATAQUEST software. Cardiovascular variable (heart rate (HR) pulse interval (PI), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and pulse pressure (PP)) and autonomic indices (spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (sBRS), baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), heart rate variability (HRV), systolic blood pressure variability (BPV) and maximum rate of change of blood pressure (dP/dt_{max})) were calculated post-hoc using Spike2 software (CED, Cambridge, UK). This method of recording blood pressure is considered a gold standard method whereby blood pressure waveforms can be measured in the conscious rat in its home cage without disturbing it or causing any unintended stress (Huetteman and Bogie, 2009).

2.3.2 Anesthesia

The rat was anaesthetized via a two-step process; anaesthesia was first induced by inhalation of isoflurane (5%, Isoflo, Abbott Laboratories Inc.) by placing the animal in a box connected to a ventilator that pumped an isoflurane-air mixture into the box. Anesthesia was maintained by intraperitoneal injection of medetomidine hydrochloride (300-500 µg/kg) and ketamine hydrochloride (60-100 mg/kg). To ensure adequate anaesthesia, pinching of the hind paw was used to test withdrawal reflexes. The level of anesthesia was not arousing from anaesthesia. Supplementary doses of medetomadine and ketamine were administered if the animal showed any withdrawal reflexes during the surgical procedure. Throughout the procedure, body temperature of the rat was monitored and maintained at approximately 36°C by a heating blanket placed under the animal.

2.3.3 Implantation procedure

The surgical procedure was performed under aseptic conditions: all surgical instruments were washed overnight using a medical instrument detergent (Pyroneg, Suma) and water. Blood pressure transmitters were also sterilized in a 2% Glutaraldehyde solution H_2O for up to three hours and soaked in saline overnight.

After appropriate anesthesia was acquired the animal was placed in a supine position and the abdomen was shaved and cleaned with saline solution. A midline incision was made through the skin and abdominal muscles; the intestines were carefully removed from the abdominal cavity to

expose the descending aorta at the level between the renal arteries and bifurcation of the iliac arteries. The intestines were kept moist by covering them with gauze soaked in saline.

A section of the aorta was cleared of overlaying connective tissue and fat using cotton tip applicators to allow good visualization of the aorta. A section of the aorta was isolated vascularly by temporarily ligating lateral vessels arising from the aorta using a suture. Vascular clamps were placed proximally and distally on the aorta from the site of catheter insertion. Using a 19G needle a small hole was made in the aorta to allow the insertion of the catheter. The catheter was inserted 1cm into the abdominal aorta, in the direction of the heart (**Figure 2.2**), and glued in place using few drops of tissue adhesive (3M Vetbond), which also facilitated haemostasis. A small sheet of cellulose patch (Data Science International) was placed over the aorta at the site of cannula insertion to help tissue growth and to promote healing. Following successful implantation the vascular clamps were removed and intestines repositioned. The body of the transmitter was sutured to the abdominal muscles and the abdominal muscles sutured closed (**Figure 2.3**). The skin incision was closed using autoclips. The entire procedure took approximately one hour.



Figure 2.2: Vessel cannulation technique

A small hole is made in the abdominal aorta using a needle and the catheter is inserted 1 cm into the aorta in the direction of the heart. Adapted from Huetteman and Bogi (2009).



Figure 2.3: *illustration of a rat implanted* with a blood pressure telemetry device

The catheter is glued in place with tissue adhesive. The body of the transmitter is sutured to the abdominal wall. Adapted from Huetteman and Bogi (2009).

2.3.4 Postoperative care

Following the surgical procedure the rat was given fluids (5% glucose, subcutaneously), antibiotics (procaine penicillin, 30 mg/kg, subcutaneously), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory (Carprofen, 4mg/kg subcutaneously) and an alpha-2 receptor antagonist (atipamazole, 1mg/kg) to reverse the actions of medetomidine. The animal was then placed in its home cage in a quiet room with a heating lamp and monitored until awake. Following recovery from anaesthesia, the animal was monitored twice daily and weights checked to ensure no post-surgery complications. This comprised checking for hind limb weakness, signs of pain or distress and hydration status by following guidelines on animal monitoring forms. If the weight of the rat was found to have reduced below 15% of the pre-operative weight, the rat was euthanized. Postoperatively, the rats were housed separately and left to recover for at least 7 days before commencements of experiments.

2.4 TEST PROTOCOLS (PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL STRESSORS)

2.4.1 Physiological stressor (dehydration protocol)

Dehydration produces hypovolaemia and hyperosmolarity, both of which activate the sympathetic nervous system, increase vasopressin release and increase blood pressure (Collister *et al.*, 2014). There is evidence that the physiological response to dehydration is similar to that of a high salt diet, a known risk factor for hypertension (Toney and Stocker, 2010). Therefore this physiological test was performed both to increase sympathetic activity and according to the rationale that dehydration may mimic the effects of a high salt diet over a shorter time course.

Following the post-surgery recovery period, the rat was transferred in its home cage to the telemetry recording room. The telemetry room was arranged to allow recordings to take place with minimal external disturbances during the experimental protocol. The test room was temperature controlled (approximately 25 degrees) with a 12:12 light: dark cycle.

The dehydration protocol comprised three days of baseline recording, followed by three days of dehydration, where the animal was deprived of water, and then three days recovery, where access to water was returned. Therefore the dehydration protocol comprised a total of 9 days (baseline, dehydration and recovery). During this entire time recordings of blood pressure were made for 5

minutes each hour at a sampling rate of 1000 Hz. The animal was monitored throughout the protocol and body weight measured daily to ensure the dehydration was being managed adequately: dehydration was ceased and water returned to the rat if its body weight fell below 15% during the dehydration period. This did not occur in any of the animals studied.

2.4.2 Psychological stressor (air jet stress protocol)

After a period of recovery from the dehydration protocol, the animal was subject to a psychological stressor. The air jet stress is commonly used and has been well characterized in studies done previously in rats (Spencer *et al.,* 2005; Furlong *et al.,* 2014). The animal was left in its home cage in the telemetry room for baseline recording for 30 minutes before the air jet stress was performed.

The air jet protocol consisted of a series of air puffs (approximately 500 kPa pressure) blown towards the head of an unrestrained animal at a distance of approximately 10 cm. The air puffs were delivered via a metal nozzle trigger connected to a cylinder of medical oxygen via a plastic tube. The air jet stress consists of air puffs in blocks; each block consisted of three 2-second air puffs, each separated by a 10 second gap. In total 9 blocks of air puffs were administered to the rat with a rest period of 1 minute between each block. The total duration of the air jet stress protocol was approximately 15minutes (**Figure 2.4**). Following the air jet stress, the animal was left quietly for 2hours for further recording and to allow for c-fos expression before the animal was perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde solution (see below).





Data were recorded for 30 minutes before the commencement of air jet stress. The air jet stress consists of air puffs delivered in blocks with a total of 9 blocks. Each block consisted of three puffs, 10 seconds apart. Each block was 60 seconds apart. Each air puff was delivered for 2 seconds. At the end of the air jet stress, data were recorded for 30 minutes as the recovery period. Figure adapted from McDowall (2007).

2.5 HISTOLOGICAL PROCESSING

2.5.1 Perfusion

Rats were deeply anaesthetised using pentobarbital sodium (120 mg/kg, delivered intraperitoneally). A deep level of anaesthesia was confirmed by the total absence of any withdrawal response to a strong pinch of the hind paw and observation of a depressed respiratory rate. After adequate anaesthesia was established the animal was placed in a supine position and a large midline incision was made through the skin and abdominal muscles. The incision was extended up to the thorax and the diaphragm was exposed. Using scissors the ribs were cut to expose the heart and an injection of 500 units of heparin was made into the circulation, via the left ventricle. The perfusion of the rat was performed transcardially by inserting a 14 gauge needle into the ascending aorta via the apex the left ventricle. The needle was clamped in place using a

hemostat. Silicone tubing was connected to the needle and perfusion solutions were pumped through using a peristaltic pump (Masterflex model 7553-75 Cole Parmer Instruments Company Ltd) at a rate of 25ml/min. Initially, warmed 0.9% saline solution was pumped into the systemic circulation to wash away the blood. A small cut was made on the right atrium to allow for blood and saline to drain from the body. Whilst the saline was pumped through the body, the transmitter was removed and using a hemostat the aorta was clamped downstream.

When the fluid from the right atrium drained clear, the rat was perfused with cold, 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldric Inc.) in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 7.4) for approximately 20 minutes. The brain was then carefully removed and post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution for up to 45minutes at 4°C, before the solution was replaced with 20% sucrose in phosphate buffer solution (PBS) and refrigerated at 4°C for a minimum of 24 hours.

2.5.2 Sectioning

Using fine forceps any remaining pia mater surround the brain and brainstem was carefully removed, this allowed the smooth sectioning. The brain was divided into three separate blocks, cut transversely for sectioning. The first transverse cut was made at approximately the level of the colliculus and the other at the level of the optic chiasm. This region included most of the midbrain and the hypothalamus. Each block was carefully mounted on the stage of a carbon dioxide-freezing microtome (model 1320, Leica) using 20% sucrose-PBS solution (0.1 M pH 7.4) and sections were cut at a 40 µm thickness. To ensure minimal damage to the brain whilst cutting, firstly a solid ice base was formed on the microtome stage using sucrose solution. The brain was carefully placed on the solidified solution base and a protective barrier was formed around the brain by freezing the sucrose solution, this allowed stable and protective layer during cutting. Five sequential series of brain sections in series one were transferred into separate wells on a well tray (ProSciTech, HCE11) to maintain correct order of sections. Series two was used for immunohistochemical staining for Fos.

2.6 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL STAINING

2.6.1 c-Fos immunohistochemistry

c-Fos expression is used as a marker for neuronal activity throughout the neuraxis following peripheral stimulation (Bullitt). Fos is the protein product of the gene c-fos; Fos protein can be stained to allow for visualisation in a semi-quantitative manner by using methods of immunohistochemistry. The formation of a black precipitate in the nucleus of a neuron is a marker for Fos and is indicative of an activated neuron (Dragunow and Faull, 1989). There is evidence that Fos expression is greatest approximately two hours after a stimulus is applied (Nestler, 2001), therefore rats were perfused two hours after the air jet stress test to allow for maximum Fos expression.

One of the five series of sections were used for Fos staining; these sections were carefully washed and incubated three times with 50% ethanol in water for 10 minutes on an orbital mixer. Incubating the tissue in ethanol allows the lipid membrane to become more permeable, thereby facilitating the penetration of antibodies into the cell. To block non-specific antigen binding, sections were incubated with 20% normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS for 30-60 minutes using the orbital mixer. Sections were then incubated in the primary antibody at 4°C for 36-48 hours. The primary antibody used was rabbit polyclonal anti-Fos IgG (sc-52, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) at a dilution of 1:1000 in a solution containing 20% NHS in 0.1M PBS.

After 48-36 hours sections were washed three times with 0.1M PBS for 10 minutes per wash on an orbital mixer. Following the three washes, sections were incubated in the secondary antibody, biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit IgG (1:400 dilution in PBS, GE Healthcare Australia Pty. Ltd.) overnight at 4°C.

Sections were washed again for 10 minutes (3 X 10min) with 0.1M PBS, and incubated in ExtrAvidin peroxidase conjugate (diluted 1:1000 with PBS, Sigma) at room temperature for one hour. At the end of the ExtrAvidin peroxidase incubation the sections were washed (3 X 10 min) with 0.1M Tris buffer and placed in a solution of 0.1 M Tris buffer containing: 3,3' diaminobenzidinetetra-hydrochloride (DAB, 25μ g/ml), D-glucose (0.5%), ammonium chloride (0.04%) and nickel sulphate (1%) for five minutes. Expression of Fos was then revealed by

reacting the tissue by adding 10μ I of glucose oxidase to produce a black reaction product. The reaction was then stopped by washing in 0.1M PBS.

2.6.2 Mounting

Following immunohistochemical staining, sections were placed in rostrocaudal order. Sections were mounted onto gelatinized slides (0.5% gelatin) and allowed to dry in room temperature for 24 hours. Sections were dehydrated by dipping the slides in 100% alcohol, cleared in histolene and coverslipped.

2.7 DATA ANALYSIS

2.7.1 Telemetry data

Blood pressure waveform recordings were obtained using acquisition software (Data Sciences International Inc.). A sample rate of 1000 samples per second was used to allow for a high fidelity of construction of the digitized blood pressure waveform. Other measurements such as HR, SBP, DBP, PP, heart rate variability (HRV) and spontaneous baroreceptor reflex sensitivity (sBRS) were derived from the blood pressure waveform using a script within Spike2 software (Cambridge Electronic Design Ltd.). Any further statistical analysis was performed using Excel or Graphpad Prism version 6.

2.7.2 Data grouping

The dehydration protocol consisted of scheduled recordings of blood pressure every hour for 5 minutes. Each five-minute period was grouped into 12-hour blocks, consisting of 12-hour day and 12-hour night cycles for each of the nine days. Each of these 12 hour blocks were then averaged and cardiovascular parameters were obtained.

The air jet protocol consisted of continuous recordings of blood pressure. Cardiovascular parameters were calculated for two 15 minutes periods immediately before the commencement of the air puff stress test to determine the baseline values, and for two 15 minute periods after air puff to determine the post-stress recovery values. The data during the stress test were analysed during the one minute wait-period between each block of air puffs. It was not possible to measure blood pressure during the air puff because of the movement artifacts caused by the rat's running. Each

one-minute period was averaged to obtain cardiovascular parameters for the stress period, a total of nine, one-minute measurements were made.

2.7.3 Spontaneous baroreceptor reflex (sBRS)

In the rat, for a given change in SBP there is a time delay before the reflex response in PI is initiated, this baroreflex delay has been calculated previously as a delay of 3-5 beats (Oosting et al. 1997). To summarise, a sBRS sequence was accepted if there was a minimum of three beats of consecutive increasing or decreasing SBP (four SBP-PI pairs), the linear regression was positive and the correlation (r^2) coefficient greater than 0.85 for each time delay (3, 4 and 5 beats). If these criteria were fulfilled, then the sBRS for each sequence was calculated as the average of the slopes for each time delay.

Baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI) is the ratio between the number of sBRS sequences (SBP ramps followed by the appropriate PI reflex response) and the total number of SBP ramps observed for a given time period (day/night or baseline, stress, recovery) (Di Rienzo *et al.*, 2001). BEI is therefore an index of how frequently the baroreceptor reflex is initiated in response to a change in SBP.

2.7.4 Spectral analysis of heart rate and systolic blood pressure variability

HRV and BPV were determined in spike2 software (CED) using customized scripts. A power spectral analysis was done by performing a fast Fourier transformation (FFT) on heart rate and SBP waveforms, which provides information on the distribution of power (variance) in different frequency components.

HRV: Measurements examine quantitatively how heart rate varies rhythmically over time (Task Force of The European Society of Cardiology and The North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology 1996).

BPV: The analysis of the variation in beat-to-beat systolic blood pressure is very similar to that of HRV. A systolic BP waveform is created at 10 Hz using a spline interpolation protocol and an FFT performed as described above. The frequency ranges are identical to that of HRV. The VLF (0-0.25 Hz) and the LF (0.25-0.75 Hz) components similarly represent hormonal influences on total

peripheral resistance and sympathetic vasomotor modulation, respectively (Waki *et al.*, 2006). The HF component of BPV is unlikely provide any information about parasympathetic influence because there is no significant parasympathetic innervation of the blood vessels.

2.7.5 dP/dt_{max}

In this study, dP/dt_{max} was used as an estimated index of left ventricular contractility; it is the maximum rate of left ventricular pressure rise during systole and is determined by the first differential of the ventricular contractility. This differential provides an estimate of the sympathetic inotropic state of the left ventricle

2.7.6 Statistical analysis

All data were expressed as mean ± SEM. Birth weights, cardiovascular and autonomic parameters at rest and Fos-labelled neurons between groups were analysed by an unpaired student t-test. Cardiovascular and autonomic parameters during dehydration and air jet stress were statistically determined using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with or without repeated measures, as necessary, and a Bonferroni's correction for multiple comparisons (GraphPad Prism 6, GraphPad software).

2.8 IDENTIFICATION AND QUANTIFICATION OF FOS-LABELLED NEURONS

Microscopy and image analyses were carried out in the Bosch Advanced Microscopy Facility. A comparison of the number of Fos-labelled neurons in response to air jet stress between control and high sucrose programmed rats was made in 3 key hypothalamic structures: the dorsomedial hypothalamic area (DMH), the perifornical area (PeF) and the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). Hypothalamic sections of interest were selected according to the location of these nuclei identified by their cytoarchitectural features, according to an atlas of the rat brain (Paxinos and Watson, 2007). The major identifying features were the shape and location of the optic tract, the distance between the fornix and the mammillothalamic tract and the third ventricle. Sections were examined microscopically and photographed using an Olympus stereology microscope with a motorised xyz-stage. A high-resolution image montage at 200x magnification ("virtual slice") was

created using Stereo Investigator software (MBF Bioscience, VT, USA) for 2D anatomical mapping. The image montage was analysed using Metamorph (Molecular Devices Inc, CA, USA) to create a "mask" image that identified Fos-labelled nuclei according to the criteria of colour intensity and shape area. Each region (DMH, PeF and PVN) was then selected and cell counts extracted via an automated process. This automated procedure for Fos identification minimises subjective bias as to the identification criteria for Fos labelling. Counts were done bilaterally for each area and then halved. Therefore an estimate of Fos-labelled neurons was determined for one side of the hypothalamus.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 OVERVIEW

To investigate the propensity for programming of hypertension following a high fat diet (high fat model) or sucrose diet (high sucrose model), eight pregnant dams were given a high fat diet (HFD) and 12 dams were given a high sucrose diet (SUD). To compare these dietary interventions, 12 pregnant dams were given a control diet (CD) of standard chow. The dietary intervention was established for eight weeks; first for four weeks prior to mating, one week during mating, and subsequently for three weeks of gestation. On the day of parturition, litters were culled to eight pups per dam to ensure equal nutrition within the offspring and all litters were treated identically - at this stage mothers were given a control diet. For the high fat model, male and female offspring were investigated while for the high sucrose model only male offspring were investigated. The HFD and SUD rats were kindly provided to us by Dr. Kieron Rooney from the Faculty of Health Sciences and Prof. Robert Boakes from the Faculty of Science, respectively.

Our hypothesis was that offspring rats exposed to a HFD or a SUD during pregnancy may exhibit elevated blood pressure, caused at least partly by altered autonomic function resulting in elevated cardiovascular sympathetic activity. We also hypothesised that these effects may be exaggerated when animals are exposed to certain physiological stressors (such as dehydration) or psychological stressors (such as air jet stress).

To investigate these hypotheses, we used the method of radio telemetry to measure blood pressure in the awake, freely moving animal. From the blood pressure waveform, we derived a number of indices of autonomic function, including spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (sBRS), baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), heart rate variability (HRV), blood pressure variability (BPV) and maximum rate of change of aortic blood pressure during systole (dP/dt_{max}).

For the high fat model, both male and female offspring were investigated. Blood pressure probes were implanted in 12 control male offspring and 11 high fat (HFD) male offspring at six months of age. One control rat died during the implant whilst a further five HFD and four control rats did not recover adequately from surgery. Furthermore, the computer failed to record data on another two

HFD and two control rats. In addition, one control rat was excluded when a tumour was identified in the abdomen. Subsequently, data could only be obtained on four high fat and four control rats. Blood pressure probes were also implanted in 12 control and eight HFD female offspring at six months of age. Of these, four HFD and eight control rats did not recover adequately from surgery, leaving four control and four HFD female offspring from which data were obtained.

We are unclear as to why such a large number of rats did not recover well from the surgical procedure in the high fat model. Many of the rats exhibited rasping like breathing sounds presurgically. This is indicative of mucous secretion in their airways and suggests the possibility of infections present in our rat colony. We believe this may have significantly increased the risk of postoperative complications such as wound healing and nerve damage in these rats. In addition, It was noticed that there was a large number of obese rats in the female control group, with an average weight of $513g \pm 4.0g$, with large amounts of abdominal fat. The high failure rate in this surgical procedure will be discussed in more detail in **Section 4.2.1** of the discussion.

3.2 HIGH FAT MODEL

3.2.1 Offspring body weight

Gestation lasted for 21-22 days and all pups were born approximately 22 days post conception. Total of 54 males were born, of these 32 were from mothers fed a standard chow diet and 22 from mothers fed a high fat diet. A total of 34 females were born, of these 25 were born from mothers fed a standard chow and 9 from mothers fed a high fat diet.

Birth weights of males and females were similar between HFD and control dams (**Figure 3.2.1A**). At day 24-weaning, females had reduced body weight compared to their litter matched male offspring: this was statistically significant only in the HFD rats (P=0.02), while approaching statistical significance in control rats (P=0.06) (**Figure 3.2.1B**). At this age, there was no difference in body weight between HFD and controls within each sex (**Figure 3.2.1B**). At 94 days, females remained lighter than their litter matched male siblings. This was observed in both HFD and control rats (P<0.01 for both groups). At this age, male HFD rats had a lower body weight than male controls (P=0.02) (**Figure 3.2.1C**), although no difference was observed in the female rats (P=0.15).

Finally, at six months of age (time of implantation of telemetry transmitter) male offspring were approximately 143g heavier, on average, than females in both control and HFD rats (P<0.01 for both groups) (**Figure 3.2.1D**). Males no longer indicated a statistically significant difference in weight between groups (P=0.26), while in females there was a tendency for HFD rats to be lighter (P=0.07).





(A) No significant difference in weight between male and female rats at birth. Further, there was no significant difference between HFD and control rats within each sex. (B) At day 24 there was a significant difference between male and female HFD rats (P=0.02). (C) At day 94 females rats had a significantly lower body weight compared to males, this was observed in both HFD (P<0.01) and control (P<0.01) rats. Furthermore, male, HFD rats had a significantly reduced body weight compared to controls. (D) At six months of age there were significant differences observed between sexes in HFD (P<0.01) and control (P<0.01) rats, however no differences were observed between groups within sexes.

3.2.2 Data acquisition protocol for measurement of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters in the awake, freely moving rat

Following a minimum of one week recovery from transmitter implantation surgery, blood pressure waveform was recorded at rest for each rat. Rats remained in their own home cage, which was transferred to the telemetry recording room. Recordings of blood pressure waveform (sampling rate of 1,000 Hz) were made for five minutes per hour, 24 hours a day. This ensured that the rats acclimatised to the recording room, which allowed for any diurnal differences in blood pressure or other cardiovascular variables to be examined carefully. From the blood pressure waveform signal, several cardiovascular and autonomic variables were derived. These included, SBP, DBP, HR, PP, sBRS, BEI, HRV, BPV and dP/dt_{max}. In general, the blood pressure trace was satisfactory; however any major movement artifacts or signal dropouts that occurred during this period were excluded from the analysis. The blood pressure waveform was deemed satisfactory if BP and PP measures were similar to other recorded rats with no major signal dropouts or major movement artefact occurring for long durations.

Figure 3.2.2 illustrates an example of a blood pressure waveform recording and derived parameters over 24 hours in a control rat. Note the discontinuity in the recorded data with sudden increases or decrease in the blood pressure trace. This is indicative of variations in the blood pressure between recording periods at different hours throughout day and night. There was considerable variability observed, depending on the level of activity of the rat. These fluctuations appeared to be greatest at night during the active phase of a rat. At times, large increases were seen in the blood pressure signal that occurred as a result of sudden movements caused by the rat. These values pertaining to the sudden movements were identified as movement artefacts and therefore were not representative of the true blood pressure. As such, these areas of the trace were excluded from analysis. The hourly recordings of blood pressure measurements were averaged into a night phase (1900 to 0600) and a day phase (0700 to 1800) for comparison between groups.




Figure 3.2.2: Blood pressure waveform recording and derived parameters over 24 hours in a control rat

SBP: systolic blood pressure, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HR: heart rate, PP: pulse pressure, BP: blood pressure. Note: some animals showed signs of diurnal rhythm, but that this was not consistently observed in all animals and the grouped data did not demonstrate diurnal rhythm.

3.2.3 Comparison of cardiovascular parameters in male and female control rats at rest

To determine if it was feasible to combine data from males and females, a comparison of cardiovascular parameters (SBP, DBP, PP and HR) was made from litter-matched male and female offspring, from mothers given a control diet.

There was no difference in resting DBP or PP between male and female rats (**Figure 3.2.3**). However, there were significant differences in resting SBP and HR between male and female rats during both night and day. It was also noted that neither male nor female rats exhibited a diurnal rhythm in their cardiovascular measures. This was evident as there were no significant differences in any of the cardiovascular variables between night and day in either males or females (**Figure 3.2.3**). Based on the differences observed in SBP between sexes in the control rats, it was decided to separate males and females for further analysis when comparing control and HFD offspring.





A) SBP was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter-matched male offspring during both night (P=0.01) and day (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.04). **B**) HR was significantly higher in female offspring compared to their litter matched male offspring during both night (P=0.01), and day (P=0.03). **C**) There was no difference in DBP observed between male and female rats during the night (P=0.24) or day (P=0.47) phases. **D**) There was no difference in PP observed between male and female rats during the night (P=0.26) or day (P=0.31) phases.

3.2.4 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and control rats at rest

Cardiovascular parameters: Male and female data were separated in order to isolate the gender differences in cardiovascular and autonomic parameters. In males, SBP was approximately 23 mmHg higher, on average, in the HFD group than controls during night and day (**Figure 3.2.4A**). DBP was also higher in the HFD group during the night and close to significant during the day (**Figure 3.2.4B**), while HR was higher in the HFD group only during the night, by approximately 40 beats/min, on average (**Figure 3.2.4C**). There was no difference in PP between groups either during the night or day (**Figure 3.2.4D**).



Figure 3.2.4: Comparison of cardiovascular parameters in HFD and control male rats during night and day (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was a significant difference observed in male SBP between groups during night (P=0.02) and day (P=0.03). **B**) There was a significant difference in DBP observed between groups only during the night (P=0.03) and approaching statistical significance during the day (P=0.06). **C**) There was a significant difference in male HR observed between groups only during the night (P=0.04) and not during the day (P=0.35). **D**) There was no significant difference in PP between group either during the night (P=0.48) or day (P=0.59).

In females, SBP was higher in the HFD group than controls during both night and day, by approximately 10-15 mmHg (**Figure 3.2.5A**). However, other cardiovascular variables: DBP, HR. and PP did not indicate a significant difference at rest between the two groups (**Figures 3.2.5B-D**).



Figure 3.2.5: Comparison of cardiovascular parameters in HFD and control female rats during night and day (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was a significant difference observed in SBP between groups at night (P=0.05) and approaching significance during the day (P=0.08). **B**) There was no significant difference observed in DBP between groups during the night (P=0.29) or day (P=0.26). **C**) There was no significant difference observed in HR between groups during the night (P=0.63) or day (P=0.38). **D**) There was no significant difference in PP between group either during the night (P=0.37) or day (P=0.38).

Autonomic parameters: Measurement of autonomic function of a rat is quite complex and generally requires invasive techniques to be used. To measure autonomic function in the conscious, freely moving rat, we used a non-invasive methodology. This methodology provides indices of autonomic function by examination of certain components of the blood pressure waveform and their relationship to heart rate. In particular, power spectral analysis on HR and SBP waveforms provide information on cardiac and vasomotor autonomic function. In addition, we used a sequence technique for measurement of spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (sBRS) and baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), a

measure of how often the baroreflex is activated in response to changes in blood pressure. Finally, we measured dP/dtmax, which has been reported to provide an estimate of cardiac contractility (Brington et al., 1997) and therefore represents the level of sympathetic activity to the ventricular myocardium.

sBRS and BEI: There was no significant difference in resting sBRS (Figure 3.2.6A) or BEI (Figure 3.2.6B) between control and HF offspring in either males (Figure 3.2.6) or females (Figure 3.2.7). It was also noted that neither HF nor control rats exhibited a diurnal rhythm in the baroreflex measures in the males or the females.





Figure 3.2.6: Comparison of sBRS and BEI at rest in HFD and control male rats (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was no difference in sBRS observed between groups during night (P=0.16) or day (P=0.60). **B)** There was no difference in BEI observed between groups during night (P=0.26) or day (P=0.23).

Figure 3.2.7: Comparison of sBRS and BEI at rest in HFD and control female rats (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was no difference in sBRS observed between groups during night (P=0.23) or day (P=0.28). *B)* There was no difference in BEI observed between groups during night (P=0.57) or day (P=0.63). *HRV and BPV:* Frequency domain analysis of HRV and BPV at rest did not indicate any differences between the groups at rest in either male (**Table 3.2.1**) or females (**Table 3.2.2**). Furthermore, neither HFD nor control rats exhibited a diurnal rhythm in any of the frequency ranges of HRV or BPV in the males or the females.

	LF (bpm ²)	LF%	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)	HF%	TPWR (bpm ²)
Males						
Control (Day)	0.22 ± 0.0	0.25 ± 0.03	0.34 ± 0.05	0.70 ± 0.15	0.75 ± 0.03	2.94 ± 0.34
Control (Night)	0.37 ± 0.09	0.25 ± 0.03	0.33 ± 0.05	1.31 ± 0.28	0.75 ± 0.03	5.17 ± 0.89
HFD (Day)	0.26 ± 0.09	0.26 ± 0.01	0.37 ± 0.01	0.70+ ± 0.20	0.74 ± 0.01	4.19 ± 0.67
HFD(Night)	0.37 ± 0.09	0.24 ± 0.02	0.32 ± 0.02	1.03 ± 0.18	0.76 ± 0.02	5.15 ± 1.05
Females						
Control (Day)	$0.65 \pm 0.21^{\dagger}$	$0.40 \pm 0.03^{\dagger}$	0.31 ± 0.02	$1.94 \pm 0.43^{\dagger}$	$0.603 \pm 0.028^{\dagger}$	8.13 ± 2.05 [†]
Control (Night)	0.70 ± 0.24	$0.37 \pm 0.02^{\dagger}$	0.36 ± 0.01	1.96 ± 0.72	$0.633 \pm 0.015^{\dagger}$	$8.57 \pm 0.86^{\dagger}$
HFD (Day)	0.66 ± 0.20	0.25 ± 0.02	0.57 ± 0.10	1.17 ± 0.19	0.755 ± 0.016	5.73 ± 1.11
HFD(Night)	0.80 ± 0.20	0.27 ± 0.01	0.55 ± 0.06	1.74 ± 0.52	0.727 ± 0.013	6.23 ± 1.44

Table 3.2.1: Comparison of HRV at rest in male and female HFD and control rats

Note: [†] denotes difference between control male and female rats during either night or day.

There were no observed differences between HFD and controls within each sex. However, differences in HRV were observed between male and female offspring from the control group during night and day, these gender differences were lost in the programmed rats. (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test).

	LF (mmHg ²)	LF%	HF (mmHg ²)	HF%	TPWR (mmHg ²)
Males					
Control (Day)	0.02 ± 0.00	0.56 ± 0.06	0.01 ± 0.00	0.34 ± 0.05	0.19 ± 0.01
Control (Night)	0.02 ± 0.00	0.58 ± 0.08	0.02 ± 0.00	0.33 ± 0.05	0.23 ± 0.02
HFD (Day)	0.03 ± 0.00	0.60 ± 0.03	0.02 ± 0.00	0.37 ± 0.01	0.19 ± 0.02
HFD(Night)	0.04 ± 0.01	0.61 ± 0.04	0.02 ± 0.00	0.32 ± 0.02	0.21 ± 0.04
Females					
Control (Day)	$0.04 \pm 0.00^{\dagger}$	$3.52 \pm 0.30^{\dagger}$	0.02 ± 0.00	0.64 ± 0.01	$0.27 \pm 0.05^{\dagger}$
Control (Night)	$0.04 \pm 0.01^{\dagger}$	4.61 ± 0.90 [†]	0.02 ± 0.00	0.63 ± 0.01	0.26 ± 0.04
HFD (Day)	0.04 ± 0.01	4.59 ± 1.51	0.03 ± 0.00	0.56 ± 0.06	0.21 ± 0.04
HFD (Night)	0.05 ± 0.01	4.37 ± 1.11	0.03 ± 0.00	0.61 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.03

Table 3.2.2: Comparisons of BPV at rest in male and female HFD and control rats

Note: [†] denotes difference between control male and female rats during either night or day where significant. Differences in BPV were observed between male and female offspring from the control group, these gender differences were lost in the programmed rats. Furthermore, there were no observed differences between HFD and controls within males or females. (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test).

dP/dT_{max}: In this study, dP/dt_{max} was used as an estimated index of left ventricular contractility; it is the maximum rate of aortic pressure rise during systole and is determined by the first differential of the aortic blood pressure signal. This differential provides an estimate of the sympathetic inotropic state of the left ventricle (see Figure 3.2.8 for a graphical representation; Salo et al., 2009). There was no difference in dP/dt_{max} at rest between HFD and controls rats in either male or female offspring (Figure 3.2.9A, B).







EDP: end of diastole, dP/dtmax: maximum rate of change of rise in pressure difference over time during systole, dP/dtmin: maximum rate of fall in pressure difference over time during diastole. Figure adapted from Salo et al., 2009.



Figure 3.2.9: Comparison of dP/dt_{max} between control and high fat rats during night and day (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) Male, dP/dt_{max} , there was no difference observed between groups during night (P=0.70) or day (P=0.78). **B)** Female, dP/dt_{max} , there was no difference observed between groups during night (P=0.57) or day (P=0.57).

3.2.5 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and control rats during dehydration

Following a baseline recording of three days, the rats were subjected to three days of dehydration (physiological stressor). Water was removed from the cage and the rats were deprived of water for a period of three days, after which free access to water was re-established for a three-day recovery period. Thus, the dehydration protocol consisted of a total of nine days; three days baseline, three days dehydration and three days recovery. For purposes of statistical analysis of dehydration data, we have focused on the data acquired during the night phase, when rats are most active. This period was chosen, as there were no significant differences between night and day for cardiovascular and autonomic parameters. However, the night phase of the rats showed the greatest differences in cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between groups (HFD and controls).

Cardiovascular parameters: In males, SBP and DBP were consistently higher in HFD rats compared to controls throughout the entire protocol (SBP: P=0.02) and (DBP: P=0.05; **Figure 3.2.10A, B**). HR and PP indicated a trend towards being higher in the HFD rats. However, this was not statistically significant (HR: P=0.08 and PP: P=0.54; **Figure 3.2.10C, D**).

With the initiation of dehydration, both groups indicated a trend towards an increase in SBP and DBP of approximately 10 mmHg. However, this did not reach statistical significance (**Figure 3.2.10A, B**). During the recovery period SBP and DBP appeared to drop below baseline levels in both groups, although again this was not statistically significant (**Figure 3.2.10A, B**). HR and PP did not differ

significantly to baseline levels throughout the dehydration and recovery periods in either group (**Figure 3.2.10C, D**). However, SBP and DBP were consistently higher in the HFD rats throughout the dehydration protocol. HFD rats responded to dehydration with a similar magnitude as the control rats (**Figure 3.2.11**).



Figure 3.2.10: Cardiovascular parameters during dehydration protocol in the male rat (2-way ANOVA)

The dehydration protocol is divided into three blocks, Baseline, Dehydration and recovery, the shaded area reflects the duration of dehydration and each data point signifies 12 hours of day or night. **A)** There was a significant difference in SBP between groups (SBP: P=0.02), SBP remained higher in HFD rats throughout the dehydration protocol. **B)** There was a significant difference in DBP between groups (P=0.05) throughout the dehydration protocol. **C)** There was a trend for HR to by higher in the HFD group compared to controls throughout the protocol, however this was not statistically significant (P=0.08). **D)** There was no significant difference in PP between groups (P=0.54).



eriod Figure 3.2.11: Change in SBP during dehydration protocol in the male rat (2way ANOVA)

There was no significant difference in the change in SBP between groups in response to dehydration (*P*=0.68).

In females, SBP was higher in HFD rats compared to controls throughout the entire protocol (P=0.04). However there was no difference in DBP, HR or PP between groups (**Figure 3.2.12**). With the initiation of dehydration there was an increase in SBP of approximately 8 mmHg in both groups (HFD: P=0.02, control: P=0.06; **Figure 3.2.12A**). There was no significant change in DBP in response to dehydration (HFD: P=0.61, control: P>0.99; **Figure 3.2.12B**).

In contrast to males, dehydration caused a significant increase in PP from baseline in both groups of approximately 7 mmHg (control: P<0.01, HFD: P=0.01), although the magnitude of increase was similar between groups. There was no significant increase in HR in response to dehydration in either HFD or control rats (**Figure 3.2.12C**). Following re-introduction of water, SBP and DBP dropped below baseline levels by approximately 8 mmHg (HFD, SBP: P=0.01, DBP: P=0.01 and control, SBP: P<0.01, DBP: P<0.01; **Figure 3.2.12A**, **B**), this drop in SBP and DBP was similar between groups. There were no observable difference in HR or PP in either HFD or control rats from baseline (**Figure 3.2.12C**, **D**).



Figure 3.2.12: Cardiovascular parameters during dehydration protocol in the female rat (2-way ANOVA)

The dehydration protocol is divided into three blocks, Baseline, Dehydration and recovery, the shaded area reflects the duration of dehydration and each data point signifies 12 hours of day or night. **A)** There was a significant difference in SBP between groups (P=0.04), SBP remained elevated in HFD rats throughout the dehydration protocol. **B**) There was a trend for DBP to be higher in the HFD group however this was not statistically significant (P=0.31). **C**) There was no significant difference in HR between groups during the protocol (P=0.40). **D**) There was a trend for PP to by higher in the HFD group compared to controls throughout the protocol although this was not statistically significant (P=0.14)

Autonomic parameters

sBRS and BEI: In males, there was no significant difference in sBRS or BEI throughout the dehydration protocol (P=0.09 and 0.14, respectively). Furthermore, there was no significant difference in sBRS in response to dehydration in either group (control: P=0.90, HFD: P=0.10). Similarly, there was no difference in BEI in response to dehydration in either group (control: P=0.99, HFD: P=0.14).

In female HFD rats, sBRS was significantly higher throughout the dehydration protocol (P=0.05; **Figure 3.2.13A**). There was no change in sBRS in response to dehydration in control rats. However, in HFD rats, sBRS increased by approximately 40% (P=0.03). Furthermore, during recovery, sBRS remained unchanged in control rats (P=0.31), but remained elevated in HFD rats by approximately 20% above baseline levels (P=0.03; **Figure 3.2.13A**). There was no significant difference in BEI

between groups throughout the dehydration protocol (P=0.65; **Figure 3.2.13B**). There was no significant difference in BEI in response to dehydration in either group (control: P>0.99, HFD: P=0.65; **Figure 3.2.13B**).



Figure 3.2.13: *sBRS and BEI during the dehydration protocol in females (2-way ANOVA) A) sBRS* was higher in the HFD rats throughout the protocol (P=0.05). *B)* There was no significant difference in BEI between groups (P=0.65) throughout the protocol).

HRV: In males, dehydration produced no significant change in HRV in the VLF, LF and HF frequency ranges in either group (**Table 3.2.3**). The LF:HF ratio increased above baseline (resting) levels by approximately 45% in control rats (P=0.03), but not in HFD rats (P=0.35), despite this, there was no significant difference in LF:HF ratio between groups (P=0.47). During recovery, the LF:HF ratio returned to baseline levels, for both groups, upon re-introduction of water.

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)
Control					
Pasolino	7pm	3.50 ± 0.53	0.37 ± 0.09	0.33 ± 0.05*	1.31 ± 0.28
Daseille	7am	1.95 ± 0.26	0.22 ± 0.06	0.34 ± 0.05	0.70 ± 0.15
Debudration	7pm	3.54 ± 0.47	0.44 ± 0.13	0.48 ± 0.07	1.16 ± 0.35
Denydration	7am	2.37 ± 0.13	0.20 ± 0.04	0.48 ± 0.05	0.53 ± 0.06
_	7am	2.09 ± 0.22	0.29 ± 0.15	0.31 ± 0.05	1.26 ± 0.74
Recovery	7pm	2.52 ± 0.29	0.52 ± 0.26	0.31 ± 0.06	2.57 ± 1.69
High Fat					
Deseline	7pm	3.02 ± 0.46	0.37 ± 0.09	0.32 ± 0.02	1.03 ± 0.18
Baseline	7am	3.12 ± 0.45	0.26 ± 0.09	0.37 ± 0.01	0.76 ± 0.20
Debudration	7pm	4.69 ± 1.01	0.55 ± 0.17	0.40 ± 0.02	1.43 ± 0.34
Denydration	7am	5.11 ± 1.30	0.58 ± 0.28	0.50 ± 0.10	1.83 ± 0.92
Deservery	7am	3.59 ± 1.26	0.41 ± 0.19	0.33 ± 0.01	1.34 ± 0.59
Recovery	7pm	3.95 ± 1.31	0.41 ± 0.21	0.29 ± 0.02	1.34 ± 0.49
* - (,, .				

Table 3.2.3: HRV in males duri	ng dehydration	protocol (2-way	(ANOVA)
--------------------------------	----------------	-----------------	----------

* Denotes comparison within groups where significant.

In females, there was no significant difference in LF and HF frequency ranges observed throughout the dehydration protocol (**Table 3.2.4**). However, the LF:HF ratio was significantly higher in the HFD rats (P=0.03; **Figure 3.2.14**) throughout baseline, stress and recovery.

In addition, VLF increased by approximately 35% (P=0.01) in the HFD rats, with no difference observed in control rats (P=0.58). Upon replacement of water VLF returned to baseline levels.



Figure 3.2.14: Female *LF: HF* ratio component of *HRV* during dehydration protocol (2-way ANOVA)

The LF: HF ratio was higher in high fat than controls thoughout the protocol (P=0.03).

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)
Control					
Baseline	7pm	3.37 ± 1.35	0.70 ± 0.24	0.33 ± 0.05	1.96 ± 0.72
Dascinic	7am	2.69 ± 0.85	0.65 ± 0.21	0.31 ± 0.02	1.94 ± 0.43
Debydration	7pm	3.87 ± 1.41	1.04 ± 0.54	0.41 ± 0.01	2.33 ± 1.03
Denyuration	7am	3.07 ± 1.03	0.91 ± 0.42	0.43 ± 0.02	2.16 ± 0.88
Recovery	7am	3.35 ± 0.63	0.56 ± 0.28	0.25 ± 0.04	2.01 ± 0.43
Recovery	7pm	3.12 ± 0.34	0.47 ± 0.15	0.28 ± 0.04	1.72 ± 0.15
High Fat					
Baseline	7pm	4.37 ± 1.11	0.80 ± 0.20	$0.55 \pm 0.06^{\dagger}$	1.74 ± 0.52
Daseillie	7am	4.59 ± 1.51	0.66 ± 0.20	0.57 ± 0.10	1.17 ± 0.19
Debydration	7pm	5.88 ± 0.82*	0.97 ± 0.16	$0.69 \pm 0.04^{\dagger}$	1.41 ± 0.08
Denyuration	7am	5.47 ± 1.37	1.07 ± 0.42	0.71 ± 0.11	1.38 ± 0.38
Recovery	7am	5.30 ± 0.54	0.79 ± 0.15	0.57 ± 0.02	1.32 ± 0.15
Recovery	7pm	4.29 ± 0.82	0.73 ± 0.21	0.57 ± 0.06 [†]	1.39 ± 0.39

Table 3.2.4: HRV in females during dehydration protocol (2-way ANOVA)

*Denotes comparison within groups where significant and [†] between groups (HFD and control) where significant

BPV: In males, there was no difference in VLF, LF and HF at any point during the dehydration protocol. In response to dehydration, there were no significant differences observed in BPV in any of the frequency ranges (VLF, LF and HF) in either high fat or control rats. Furthermore there were no significant differences observed during recovery, all parameters remained unchanged from baseline levels. (**Table 3.2.5**).

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (mmHg ²)	LF (mmHg ²)	HF (mmHg ²)
Control				
Baseline	7pm	0.19 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00
Daseime	7am	0.16 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00
Dobydration	7pm	0.19 ± 0.06	0.04 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00
Denyuration	7am	0.13 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00
Pocovony	7am	0.29 ± 0.13	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
Recovery	7pm	0.29 ± 0.12	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
High Fat				
Pagalina	7pm	0.15 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00
Daseillie	7am	0.13 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00
Debydration	7pm	2.04 ± 1.89	0.30 ± 0.25	0.63 ± 0.60
Denyuration	7am	2.26 ± 2.14	0.38 ± 0.34	1.14 ± 1.12
Decovory	7am	0.16 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00
Recovery	7pm	0.16 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00

Table 3.2.5: BPV in males of	during dehydration protocol
------------------------------	-----------------------------

In females, dehydration produced no significant change in BPV in the VLF or HF frequency ranges in either group, while LF increased by 75% in control rats only (P=0.01). On recovery, LF returned to baseline levels in controls while all other BPV variables remained unchanged from baseline (**Table 3.2.6**).

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (mmHg ²)	LF (mmHg ²)	HF (mmHg ²)		
Control						
Pasalina	7pm	0.15 ± 0.04	0.04 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00		
Daseille	7am	0.15 ± 0.07	0.04 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00		
Dehydration	7pm	0.13 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.01*	0.02 ± 0.00		
Denyuration	7am	0.12 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00		
Bacoveru	7am	0.13 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.01		
Recovery	7pm	0.15 ± 0.06	0.03 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.01		
High Fat						
Pasalina	7pm	0.16 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00		
Baseline	7am	0.16 ± 0.03	0.04 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00		
Dehydration	7pm	0.16 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.01		
Denyuration	7am	0.12 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00		
Bacoveru	7am	0.20 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00		
Recovery	7pm	0.20 ± 0.04	0.04 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00		
* Denotes comparison within groups where significant						

Table 3.2.6: BPV in females durin	ng dehydration protocol
-----------------------------------	-------------------------

* Denotes comparison within groups where significant

 dP/dT_{max} : In both males and females, there was no significant difference in dP/dT_{max} between HFD and control groups throughout the entire dehydration protocol (P=0.30 and 0.87, respectively).

3.2.6 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high fat and control rats during air-jet stress

Figure 3.2.15 illustrates an example of a recording of blood pressure and derived parameters during the air jet stress protocol. During each burst of air, rats showed behavioural changes. These included jumping or running away from the jet of air or freezing. Consistent with this, measured cardiovascular parameters such as BP and HR, were increased indicating clear physiological changes during air jet stress.





Raw data recording of BP and derived cardiovascular parameters during 30 minutes of baseline recording, 15 minutes of air jet stress and 30 minutes of recovery. Cardiovascular and autonomic measures during the stress period were taking during the 60-second intervals as shown on the illustration. SBP: systolic blood pressure, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HR: heart rate, PP: pulse pressure, BP: blood pressure. *Cardiovascular parameters:* In males, during the baseline period, SBP was higher in HFD rats than controls (P=0.04), while no difference was observed in DBP (P=0.13), HR (P=0.40) or PP (P=0.07) between groups (**Figure 3.2.16**).

With the initiation of the first series of air puffs, SBP, DBP, and HR all increased significantly from resting levels in all rats, while PP increased only in the HFD group, by approximately 10 mmHg (**Figure 3.2.16**). During the air jet protocol, SBP remained significantly higher in the HFD group than controls (P=0.02), although no difference was observed between groups in the change in SBP from baseline (P=0.77; **Figure 3.2.16**). There was no difference between groups in either the increase or absolute values of DBP and HR (**Figure 3.2.16**), while a higher observed PP of approximately 35% in HFD rats approached significance (P=0.06; **Figure 3.2.16**).

During the first 15 minutes of the recovery period, SBP remained significantly elevated (P<0.01) in both groups (**Figure 3.2.16A**), while PP returned to baseline (**Figure 3.2.16D**). At the end of recovery, HR returned to resting levels in both groups (P>0.99), DBP appeared to be elevated in both HFD and control rats, this was statistically significant only in the control group (P=0.04; **Figure 3.2.16B**). In addition, no difference was observed between groups in the change in SBP from baseline to the initiation of the first air jet (P=0.77; **Figure 3.2.17**).



Figure 3.2.16: Male, cardiovascular parameters during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

The first two points indicate baseline values with two 15-minute averages. Each 9 points in the stress period are averages of each 60-second period following an air puff. The recovery period consists of two points, which are two 15 minute averages. A) Overall SBP remained significantly higher in the HF rats throughout the stress protocol (P=0.02). B) There was no difference in DBP between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.29) C) There was no difference in HR between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.29) C) There was no difference in HR between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.02). D) There was a trend for PP to be elevated in the HF rats throughout the air jet protocol, although this was not statistically significant (P=0.06).



Figure 3.2.17: The initial change from baseline in systolic blood pressure immediately following the first air puff (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test)

There was no significant difference observed in the change in SBP between groups (*P*=0.77).

In females, SBP (P=0.64), DBP (P=0.78) and HR (P=0.34) were not significantly different between HFD and control rats during baseline, while PP was approximately 20% higher in the HFD group (P=0.05; **Figure 3.2.18**). With the initiation of the first series of air puffs, SBP, DBP and PP all increased significantly from baseline (resting) levels in both groups, with similar magnitudes (**Figure 3.2.18**). HR did not increase significantly from resting levels in the control groups but did so in the HFD rats by approximately 40 beats/min (P=0.02).

During the recovery period SBP, DBP, HR and PP all returned towards baseline levels in both groups (**Figure 3.2.18**). In addition no difference was observed between groups in the change in SBP from baseline to the initiation of the first air jet (P=0.34; **Figure 3.2.19**).





The first two points indicate baseline values with two 15-minute averages. Each 9 points in the stress period are averages of each 60-second period following an air puff. The recovery period consists of two points, which are two 15 minute averages. **A)** There was trend for SBP to be elevated in HF rats throughout the air jet protocol, however this was not statistically significant (P=0.23) **B**) There was no statistical difference in DBP between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.76). **C**) There was no difference in HR between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.70). **D**) There was a trend for PP to be elevated in the HF rats throughout the air jet protocol, although this was not statistically significant (P=0.06).



Figure 3.2.19: The initial change from baseline in systolic blood pressure immediately following the first air puff (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test)

There was no significant difference observed in the change in SBP between groups (P=0.57).

Autonomic parameters

sBRS and BEI: in the male, in response to air jet stress sBRS decreased significantly in both groups (P<0.05) with no significant difference between groups (P=0.40). During recovery sBRS remained decreased and did not return to resting levels in either group (P<0.05; **Figure 3.2.20A**). BEI appear to decrease in response to stress in both groups, although this was not statistically significant, with no significant difference between groups (P=0.53). BEI returned to resting levels during the recovery period in both groups (**Figure 3.2.20B**).



Figure 3.2.20: sBRS and BEI during the air jet protocol in males, each data point is indicative of averages for baseline, stress and recovery (2-way ANOVA)

(A) There was a significant decrease in sBRS in HFD (P=0.04) and control (P=0.01) rats in response to stress, with no significant difference observed between groups (P=0.40). B) There was no significant difference in BEI between groups (P=0.53) in response to stress.

In the female, in response to stress, sBRS did not change significantly from resting levels in either HFD (P=0.78) or controls (P=0.56), with no significant difference observed between groups (P=0.90). Furthermore, sBRS remained unchanged during recovery (**Figure 3.2.21A**). In response to stress BEI did not change significantly from resting levels in either group (P=0.10 for both HFD and control rats), with no significant difference observed between groups (P=0.70) and remained constant during recovery (**Figure 3.2.21B**).



Figure 3.2.21: sBRS and BEI during the air jet protocol in females, each data point is indicative of averages for baseline, stress and recovery (2-way ANOVA)'

A) sBRS did not change significantly from resting levels in response to stress in either HFD (P=0.78) or control (P=0.56) groups with no observed difference between groups during stress (P=0.87). **B)** BEI did not change significantly from resting levels in response to stress in either HFD (P=0.10) or control (P=0.10) groups with no observed difference between groups during stress (P=0.53).

HRV: In response to stress, there was no significant difference observed in HF, LF or the LF: HF ratio in either HFD or control rats (**Table. 3.2.7**). However VLF decreased from resting levels by approximately 86% in the HFD rats (P<0.01) but not in the control rats. Similarly, total power decreased by approximately 90% in the HFD rats (P<0.01) but no change was observed in the control rats.

There was no significant difference observed during recovery. Total power and LF:HF returned to resting levels in HFD rats. All other frequency ranges (VLF, LF and HF for both groups and LF:HF ratio and total power for control rats) remained similar to baseline levels.

	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)	TPWR (bpm ²)
Control					
Baseline	1.16 ± 0.09	0.09 ± 0.01	0.31 ± 0.06	0.31 ± 0.08	1.64 ± 0.20
Air jet	0.45 ± 0.27	0.45 ± 0.27	0.45 ± 0.27	0.45 ± 0.27	0.45 ± 0.27
Recovery	1.86 ± 0.15	0.17 ± 0.04	0.38 ± 0.14	0.57 ± 0.20	2.73 ± 0.29
High Fat					
Baseline	1.60 ± 0.37	0.13 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.06	0.36 ± 0.06	2.12 ± 0.48
Air jet	0.22 ± 0.07*	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07*
Recovery	1.91 ± 0.23	0.15 ± 0.04	0.23 ± 0.05	0.68 ± 0.11	2.82 ± 0.33

Table 3.2.7: HRV in males during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

* Denotes comparison within groups where significant

In females, stress elicited a decrease in HRV in all frequency ranges in control rats. Total power was increased by 74% (P<0.01), VLF by 74% (P=0.01), LF by 87% (P=0.02) and HF by 73% (P<0.01). There were no significant differences in these variables observed in the HF rats. There was a significant decrease in LF:HF ratio in both control and HFD rats to a similar degree (control: P=0.04, HF: P<0.01). During recovery all HRV variables returned to resting levels, except for HFD in control rats, which decreased below resting levels by approximately 50% (P<0.01; **Table. 3.2.8**).

	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)	TPWR (bpm ²)
Control					
Baseline	4.84 ± 1.30	1.50 ± 0.69	0.48 ± 0.09	3.94 ± 0.98	10.48 ± 3.16
Air jet	1.24 ± 0.20*	0.20 ± 0.09*	0.31 ± 0.07*	1.08 ± 0.28*	2.72 ± 0.66*
Recovery	4.16 ± 1.11	0.76 ± 0.28	0.53 ± 0.09	$1.98 \pm 0.43^{\#}$	7.08 ± 1.54
High Fat					
Baseline	3.38 ± 0.98	0.54 ± 0.04	1.01 ± 0.29	0.72 ± 0.21	6.15 ± 2.01
Air jet	1.44 ± 0.24	0.33 ± 0.07	0.46 ± 0.15*	1.04 ± 0.48	3.07 ± 0.30
Recovery	3.45 ± 0.62	0.74 ± 0.17	0.76 ± 0.19	1.02 ± 0.29	5.94 ± 0.92
* #denotes comparison within groups where significant					

Table 3.2.8: HRV in females during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA).

* * denotes comparison within groups where significant.

BPV: In response to stress, VLF and total power remained unchanged in both HFD and control rats. HF and LF increased in response to the stress in the control group (by 2150% and 1400%, respectively; P=0.03 for both), no difference was observed in HFD rats. These BPV variables returned to resting levels during the recovery period. There was no significant difference observed in BPV variables during the recovery period in comparison to resting values in either HFD or control rats.

Table 3.2.9: BPV in males during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA).

	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	HF (bpm ²)	TPWR (bpm ²)
Control				
Baseline	0.12 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00	0.17 ± 0.00
Air jet	0.45 ± 0.27	0.45 ± 0.27*	0.45 ± 0.27*	0.45 ± 0.27
Recovery	0.42 ± 0.08	0.09 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.55 ± 0.10
High Fat				
Baseline	0.15 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00	0.22 ± 0.03
Air jet	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.07
Recovery	0.31 ± 0.06	0.11 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.01	0.46 ± 0.08

* denotes comparison within groups where significant.

In females, in response to stress, total power decreased significantly in HFD rats only, by approximately 61% (P=0.03). VLF remained unchanged in both groups, while LF decreased significantly in control rats by approximately 63% (P<0.01), but was unchanged in HFD rats (P>0.99). Finally, HF increased in control groups by approximately 50% (P<0.01) and in HF rats by approximately by 43% (P<0.01). Stress-induced changed in BPV all returned to resting levels during the recovery period, so that there were no significant difference observed in and frequency range during the recovery period compared to resting values in either HFD or control rats (**Table. 3.2.10**).

	VLF (mmHg ²)	LF (mmHg ²)	HF (mmHg ²)	TPWR (mmHg ²)
Control				
Baseline	0.29 ± 0.10	0.16 ± 0.05	0.04 ± 0.01	0.52 ± 0.18
Air jet	0.20 ± 0.08	0.06 ± 0.02*	0.02 ± 0.01*	0.27 ± 0.10
Recovery	0.18 ± 0.03	0.10 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.01	0.32 ± 0.06
High Fat				
Baseline	1.01 ± 0.23	0.13 ± 0.02	1.01 ± 0.23	0.61 ± 0.17
Air jet	1.44 ± 0.25	0.04 ± 0.01	1.44 ± 0.25*	0.24 ± 0.09*
Recovery	0.76 ± 0.15	0.12 ± 0.01	0.76 ± 0.15	0.39 ± 0.02
* denotes comparison within groups where significant				

Table 3.2.10: BPV in females during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA).

* denotes comparison within groups where significant

 dP/dT_{max} : In males, there was a trend towards an increase in dP/dT_{max} immediately upon commencement of air jet, however the size of the increase between HFD and control rats was similar (P=0.77; Figure 3.2.20A). Furthermore there was no difference in dP/dT_{max} between groups at any time point during the air jet protocol (P=0.30; Figure 3.2.20A).

In females, there was a trend towards increase in dP/dT_{max} immediately upon commencement of air jet in the HFD group but not in controls, however the size of the increase between HFD and control rats was similar (P=0.32; **Figure 3.2.20B**). Similarly there was no difference in dP/dT_{max} between groups at any time point during the air jet protocol (P=0.87; **Figure 3.2.20B**).



Figure 3.2.22: *dP/dT_{max}* between *HF* and control rats during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

A) In males, there was no difference in dP/dT_{max} between groups at any time point during the air jet protocol (P=0.30). **B)** In females, there was no difference in dP/dT_{max} between groups at any time point during the air jet protocol (P=0.87).

3.3 HIGH SUCROSE MODEL

For the high sucrose model (HSU), we had access to only male offspring, thus only males were investigated. Blood pressure probes were implanted in eight control offspring (six months of age) and eight sucrose offspring (six months of age). Of these, one sucrose rat and one-control rat did not recover adequately from surgery, leaving a total of seven control and seven high sucrose offspring from which data were recorded.

3.3.1 Offspring body weight

As with HFD rats, gestation period of HSU rats lasted for 21-22 days with all pups born approximately after 22 days of conception. There was no significant difference in birth weights between control and sucrose rats (P=0.80; **Figure 3.3.1A**). Also, there was no difference in weights at day 10 between control and sucrose rats (P=0.72; **Figure 3.3.1B**). At time of implantation (approximately six months age), body weight did not differ significantly between groups (control: $625g \pm 19g$ vs HSU: $605g \pm 28g$, P=0.50; **Figure 3.3.1C**).



Figure 3.3.1: Birth weights of male offspring in high sucrose and control groups (mean ± SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was no significant difference in weight between high sucrose and control groups at birth (P=0.80). **B**) There was no significant difference in body weight at day 10 between groups. **C**) There was no significant difference in weights at six months of age between groups (P=0.50).

3.3.2 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose and control rats at rest

Cardiovascular parameters: There were few differences observed in baseline cardiovascular parameters between control and HSU offspring. Blood pressure (SBP, DBP and PP) was not different between groups during either night or day. Similarly, HR was not different during the day, although at night (during the active phase of the rat) HR was slightly higher (by approximately 20 bpm) in the HSU rat than controls (P<0.03; **Figure 3.3.2**). Surprisingly, the only evidence of diurnal rhythm in these rats (both HSU and controls) was observed in the HR, where both exhibited higher HR of approximately 50 bpm at night (P<0.01 for both groups). Systolic BP, DBP and PP did not show significant differences between night and day within groups (**Figure 3.3.2**).



Figure 3.3.2: Comparison of cardiovascular parameters at rest in high sucrose and control rats (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test)

A) There was no significant difference observed in SBP between groups during night (P=0.93) or day (P=0.81). **B**) There was no significant difference in DBP between groups during night (P=0.32) or day (P=0.36). **C**) There was a significant difference in HR observed between groups only during the night (P=0.03) and not during the day (P=0.34). **D**) There was no significant difference in PP between groups during night (P=0.26) or day (P=0.42).

Autonomic parameters

sBRS and **BEI**: There was no significant difference in resting sBRS between groups during night (P=0.91) or day (P=0.84). Similarly there was no difference in resting BEI between groups during night (P=0.42) or day (P=0.52). Neither HSU nor control rats exhibited a diurnal rhythm in these autonomic measures: there were no significant differences in sBRS or BEI during the night and day within each group (**Figure 3.3.3**).



Figure 3.3.3: Resting values for sBRS and BEI of high sucrose and control groups (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test) (mean \pm SEM)

A) There was no difference in sBRS observed between groups during night (P=0.91) or day (P=0.84). B) There was no difference in BEI observed between groups during night (P=0.42) or day (P=0.52).

HRV and BPV: Frequency domain analysis measurements of HRV and BPV at rest did not show any differences between the groups. There were also no differences observed between night and day within each group (**Table 3.3.1** and **Table 3.3.2**).

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)
Control					
Baseline	7pm	3.26 ± 0.32	0.64 ± 0.19	0.33 ± 0.05	1.85 ± 0.43
	7am	2.92 ± 0.16	0.44 ± 0.09	0.40 ± 0.04	1.39 ± 0.19
High Sucrose					
Baseline	7pm	5.33 ± 1.10	0.87 ± 0.34	0.32 ± 0.05	2.80 ± 0.82
	7am	4.41 ± 1.02	0.64 ± 0.13	0.33 ± 0.05	2.82 ± 1.06

Table 3.3.1: HRV in control and HSU rats at rest (unpaired t-test) (mean ± SEM)

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (mmHg ²)	LF (mmHg ²)	HF (mmHg ²)
Control				
Pagalina	7pm	0.34 ± 0.04	0.04 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
Dasenne	7am	0.31 ± 0.04	0.03 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
High Sucrose				
Baseline	7pm	0.37 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.01
	7am	0.42 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.01

Table 3.3.2: BPV in control and HSU rats at rest

 dP/dT_{max} : There was no difference observed in baseline dP/dt_{max} between control and HSU rats (Figure 3.3.4). Similar to other measures, there was no observed difference between day and night values of dP/dt_{max} .



Figure 3.3.4: dP/dt_{max} between control and high sucrose rats during night and day (mean \pm SEM) (unpaired t-test) (mean \pm SEM) There was no observed difference in dP/dt_{max} , between

groups during night (P=0.70) or day (P=0.95).

3.3.3 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose and control rats during dehydration

The dehydration protocol used here was identical to that used for the study on high fat-programmed rats described above (**Section 3.2.5**). For purposes of statistical analysis of the dehydration data, we have only considered data acquired during the night phase. This was because there were no significant differences between night and day for cardiovascular and autonomic parameters.

Cardiovascular parameters: With the initiation of dehydration there was a small, but consistent increase in SBP and DBP of approximately 5-10 mmHg (SBP: P<0.01 both groups, DPB: P<0.01 for HSU and P=0.03 for control rats). The increase in SBP and DBP in response to dehydration was similar between groups (**Figure 3.3.5A, B**). Dehydration produced no significant difference in HR or PP in either group in response to dehydration (PP: P=0.22 or HR: P=0.37), consistent with the males offspring in the HFD study described above (**Figure 3.3.5C, D**).

During the recovery period SBP fell below baseline levels by approximately 5 mmHg in both HSU (P=0.01) and control (P=0.02) rats. In contrast, DBP fell below baseline only in the HSU rats (P=0.02), whereas in the control rat it returned to baseline levels (comparison of baseline to recovery in control, P=0.60). The changes in SBP during dehydration and recovery were similar between groups (**Figure 3.3.5A, B**).



Figure 3.3.5: Cardiovascular parameters during dehydration protocol (2-way ANOVA)

The dehydration protocol is divided into three blocks, Baseline, Dehydration and recovery, the shaded area reflects the duration of dehydration and each data point signifies 12 hours of day or night. **A)** There was no significant difference in SBP between groups during the dehydration protocol (P=0.93), **B**) There was no significant difference in DBP between groups during the dehydration protocol (P=0.25). **C)** There no significant difference in HR between groups during the dehydration protocol (P=0.22).

Autonomic parameters

sBRS and BEI: Consistent with the results in the HFD study, dehydration produced no effect on sBRS or BEI in either group (P>0.99 for both parameters and both groups;). Similarly, there was no change in these parameters during the recovery phase, when water was returned to the cages. Finally, there were no differences in the effects of dehydration and recovery on sBRS and BEI between groups (sBRS: P=0.84; BEI: P=0.65).

HRV: In response to dehydration, there was no difference observed in HRV in all frequency ranges (VLF, LF and HF) in either high sucrose or control rats. However, the LF:HF ratio did increase significantly from baseline levels in response to dehydration in control rats (P=0.04), no difference was seen in the high sucrose rats (**Table 3.3.3**). Despite this, overall, there was no significant difference observed in HRV between HSU and control rats throughout the dehydration protocol in any of the frequency ranges (VLF, LF or HF or LF:HF ratio; **Table. 3.3.3**). Similarly, there was no significant difference difference observed in HRV between baseline and recovery in either HSU or control rats.

	Night/Day	VLF (bpm ²)	LF (bpm ²)	LF:HF	HF (bpm ²)
Control	Oyele	(opin)	(opin)		(opin)
Basalina	7pm	3.26 ± 0.32	0.64 ± 0.19	0.33 ± 0.05	1.85 ± 0.43
Daseine	7am	2.92 ± 0.16	0.44 ± 0.09	0.40 ± 0.04	1.39 ± 0.19
Debudration	7pm	5.31 ± 1.01	1.34 ± 0.67	0.40 ± 0.03*	3.34 ± 1.24
Denydration	7am	3.97 ± 0.50	0.54 ± 0.05	0.37 ± 0.02	1.82 ± 0.17
_	7am	4.76 ± 0.95	0.88 ± 0.22	0.38 ± 0.05	2.86 ± 0.75
Recovery	7pm	4.01 ± 0.67	0.71 ± 0.12	0.37 ± 0.02	2.57 ± 0.54
High Sucrose					
Baseline	7pm	5.33 ± 1.10	0.87 ± 0.34	0.32 ± 0.05	2.80 ± 0.82
	7am	4.41 ± 1.02	0.64 ± 0.13	0.33 ± 0.05	2.82 ± 1.06
Dehydration	7pm	7.03 ± 1.41	1.31 ± 0.24	0.34 ± 0.05	4.62 ± 1.16
	7am	5.99 ± 1.16	1.11 ± 0.20	0.34 ± 0.05	4.17 ± 1.07
Recovery	7am	6.26 ± 1.18	0.79 ± 0.08	0.31 ± 0.05	3.22 ± 0.51
	7pm	4.98 ± 0.84	0.81 ± 0.19	0.34 ± 0.05	3.90 ± 1.35

Table 3.3.3: HRV during dehydration protocol (2-way ANOVA)

* denotes comparison within groups where significant

BPV: In response to dehydration, there were no significant differences observed in BPV in any of the frequency ranges (VLF, LF, and HF) in either HSU or control rats (**Table 3.3.4**). Furthermore there were no significant differences observed during recovery, all parameters remained unchanged from baseline levels. There was also no difference between HSU and control rats throughout the dehydration protocol in any of the frequency ranges (VLF, LF or HF; **Table 3.3.4**).

	Night/Day Cycle	VLF (mmHg²)	LF (mmHg²)	HF (mmHg ²)
Control				
Bacolino	7pm	0.34 ± 0.04	0.04 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
Daseillie	7am	0.31 ± 0.04	0.03 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
Dobydration	7pm	0.32 ± 0.03	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.01
Denyulation	7am	0.32 ± 0.03	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01
Baaayany	7am	0.33 ± 0.04	0.04 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
Recovery	7pm	0.34 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.01
High Sucrose				
Bacalina	7pm	0.37 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.01
Dasenne	7am	0.42 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.01
Debydration	7pm	0.33 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.02
Denyulation	7am	0.42 ± 0.09	0.08 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02
Bacovary	7am	0.40 ± 0.06	0.05 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01
Recovery	7pm	0.37 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.01

Table 3.3.4: BPV during dehydration protocol (2-way ANOVA)

 dP/dt_{max} : There was no significant difference in dP/dT_{max} between groups throughout the entire dehydration protocol (P=0.98).

3.3.4 Comparison of cardiovascular and autonomic parameters between high sucrose and control rats during air-jet stress

The air jet protocol used here was identical to that used for the study on high fat-programmed rats described above (**Figure 3.2.2**).

Cardiovascular parameters: There was no difference in cardiovascular parameters (SBP: P=0.47; DBP: P=0.40; HR: P=0.57; PP: P=0.61) between groups throughout the air jet protocol (**Figure 3.3.7**). Baseline levels in all cardiovascular parameters were similar in control and HSU rats. With the initiation of the first series of air puffs, SBP, DBP and HR all increased significantly except for PP from baseline levels in both groups, to a similar level (**Figure 3.3.7**).

Similarly, during the recovery period SBP, DBP, PP and HR all returned towards baseline levels in both groups. In addition, no difference was observed between groups in the change in SBP from baseline to the initiation of the first air jet (P=0.58; **Figure 3.3.8**).



Figure 3.3.7: Cardiovascular parameters during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

The first two points indicate baseline values with two 15-minute averages. Each 9 points in the stress period are averages of each 60-second period following an air puff. The recovery period consists of two points, which are two 15-minutes averages. **A)** There was no significant difference in SBP between groups (P=0.47) during the air jet protocol. **B)** There was no difference in DBP between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.40). **C)** There was no difference in HR between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.57). **D)** There was no difference in PP between groups at any stage of the air jet protocol (P=0.61).



Figure 3.3.8: The initial change from baseline in systolic blood pressure immediately following the first air puff (unpaired t-test) (mean ± SEM)

There was no significant difference observed in the change in SBP between groups (P=0.76).

Autonomic parameters

sBRS and BEI: In response to stress, sBRS remained unchanged in both control (P>0.99) and HSU rats (P>0.99; **Figure 3.3.9A**) with no significant difference between groups (P=0.93). Furthermore, sBRS during recovery was similar to baseline levels in controls (P>0.99) and HSU (P=0.79) rats (**Figure 3.3.9A**).

In response to stress there was a significant fall (approximately 45%) in BEI in the HSU group (P=0.03) with no difference seen in control rats (P>0.99). During the recovery period, BEI returned to baseline levels in both control and HSU rats (**Figure 3.3.9B**).



Figure 3.3.9: sBRS and BEI during the air jet protocol, each data point is indicative of averages for baseline, stress and recovery (2-way ANOVA)

A) There was no significant difference in sBRS between groups in response to stress (P=0.93). B) In response to stress there was a significant decrease in BEI in the high sucrose rats (P=0.03) with no significant difference between groups (P=0.48)

HRV: There was no difference in HRV between HSU and controls throughout the air jet protocol in any of the frequency ranges (VLF, LF, HF or LF:HF **Table 3.3.5**). Air jet stress produced no change in HRV in any frequency range in either control or HSU rats (**Table 3.3.5**). Likewise, there was no effect on HRV observed during recovery, all frequency ranges remained similar to baseline levels in both HF and control rats.

	VLF (mmHg²)	LF (mmHg ²)	LF:HF	HF (mmHg ²)
Control				
Baseline	2.46 ± 0.55	0.36 ± 0.12	0.34 ± 0.04	1.33 ± 0.47
Air jet	6.78 ± 2.68	1.77 ± 1.32	0.26 ± 0.06	5.82 ± 3.69
Recovery	1.78 ± 0.26	0.76 ± 0.51	0.32 ± 0.06	4.31 ± 3.61
High Sucrose				
Baseline	2.26 ± 0.56	0.17 ± 0.05	0.32 ± 0.04	0.48 ± 0.13
Air jet	4.63 ± 1.77	1.78 ± 1.21	0.52 ± 0.26	2.18 ± 1.03
Recovery	3.44 ± 0.36	0.55 ± 0.14	0.46 ± 0.12	1.44 ± 0.45

Table 3.3.5: HRV during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

BPV: As with HRV, BPV was not affected by air jet stress in either group of rats (**Figure 3.3.6**). In response to stress, VLF, LF and HF remained unchanged in both high sucrose and control rats. There was no significant difference observed in VLF, HF or LF during the recovery period in comparison to baseline values in either high sucrose or control rats.

	VLF (mmHg²)	LF (mmHg ²)	HF (mmHg²)
Control			
Baseline	0.27 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.00
Air jet	0.87 ± 0.32	0.21 ± 0.15	0.08 ± 0.05
Recovery	0.36 ± 0.08	0.05 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01
High Sucrose			
Baseline	0.22 ± 0.05	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.00
Air jet	0.68 ± 0.28	0.14 ± 0.07	0.04 ± 0.01
Recovery	0.68 ± 0.24	0.08 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.00

Table 3.3.5: BPV during air jet protocol (2-way ANOVA)

3.3.5 Fos immunohistochemistry

Effects of air jet stress on Fos expression were examined in the hypothalamus using the DAB protocol. This process formed a black precipitate in the nucleus of Fos-positive neurons; these neurons could be distinguished from neurons that did not have Fos due to an absence of a black precipitate (**Figure 3.3.10**). Fos-positive neurons were identified in hypothalamic regions previously identified as containing Fos-positive labelling following air jet stress (Furlong *et al.*, 2014), such as the DMH (**Figure 3.3.11**) PeF and PVN (**Figure 3.3.12**) in response to air jet stress (**Figure 3.3.10**). However, we did not find a difference in the number of Fos-positive neurons between high sucrose and control rats in any of these regions (**Figure 3.3.10**).



Figure 3.3.10*:* Fos labelling in different regions of the hypothalamus including DMH, PVN and PeF. (unpaired t-test) (mean ± SEM) The number of Fos positive cells located in the DMH (P=0.80), PVN (P=0.88) and PeF (P=0.67) was not different between groups.



Fos stained neurons

Fos stained neurons



Figure 3.3.12: *Photomicrograph indicating location of foscontaining neurons in PVN*

Note: figure includes the mask for identified Fos-labelled nuclei PVN: paraventricular nucleus; f: fornix.
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The broad aims of this study were to compare cardiovascular and autonomic function in rats exposed to either a high fat or high sucrose diet during gestation with control rats. Variables were compared at rest and in response to an unconditioned psychological stress (air jet stress) and a physiological stressor (dehydration).

Blood pressure was recorded using radio telemetry and measurements were made for 5 minutes each hour over a 9-day protocol. This protocol consisted of three days of baseline recording, three days of water deprivation and three days of recovery. Following completion of this protocol, rats remained in their home cage for three weeks, before the acute air jet stress procedures were performed. For the air jet procedure, blood pressure was recorded continuously for 75 minutes, this included a 30 minute baseline period, a 15 minute stress period and a 30 minute recover period.

The primary findings were as follows. Firstly, in the high fat model, SBP was significantly higher than controls during baseline conditions and during dehydration in both male and female rats. Differences in SBP in response to air jet stress was seen only in the male rats with no difference between groups in the female rats. All animals showed an increased cardiovascular response during exposure to physiological and psychological stressors. However, despite the hypertension observed in the high fat programmed rats, the magnitude of the increase in blood pressure and heart rate from baseline to stress was similar between groups in both male and female rats.

The sustained increased blood pressure observed in high fat programmed females was accompanied by a two fold increase in the low:high frequency ratio of heart rate variability. This ratio represents sympatho-vagal balance, and may be indicative of increased sympathetic modulation, or decreased vagal activity to the heart. This may partly explain the hypertension observed in high fat programmed females. However, there were no obvious differences in autonomic responses to either air jet stress or dehydration between high fat and control animals, indicating that any increased susceptibility to hypertension in high fat programmed rats is unlikely to be due to heightened sympathetic responses to stress.

Second, in the high sucrose model, there was no difference in blood pressure at rest compared to controls. Moreover, there were also no differences in cardiovascular or autonomic variables observed between the two groups in response to either stressor, with both groups showing similar increases in cardiovascular variables in response to the stressors. Therefore the high sucrose model in our studies failed to detect any detrimental effects of maternal high sucrose intake on the cardiovascular or autonomic function in the offspring.

4.1 LOW BIRTH WEIGHT PHENOTYPE

In programming studies, low birth weight is often used as a convenient, albeit simplistic marker for intrauterine adversity. However, in this study, birth weights did not differ significantly between rats programmed by either maternal high fat or high sucrose diets and controls. It is important to note that although birth weight reflects systemic growth restriction *in utero*, it does not provide any information on more subtle, tissue specific growth restriction.

The focus on low birth weight is historical: the original reports on programmed hypertension were human epidemiological studies that relied on birth weight as the major indicator for adverse foetal development (Barker, 1998). Subsequently, the animal models developed to investigate the mechanisms underlying programming also focussed on low birth weight as a defining phenotypic trait of programmed animals (Persson and Jansson, 1992; Langley-Evans *et al.*, 1998). However, accumulating evidence highlights there are many adverse events that affect the development of the foetus that have no effect on birth size (Gluckman and Hanson, 2004; Hanson, 2002; Oliver *et al.*, 2009).

With regard to the effect of high fat and high sucrose maternal diets on birth weight, the data are inconclusive: some studies affirm our results, with no difference in the birth weight of offspring from a maternal high fat or high sucrose diet (Ainge *et al.*, 2011; Ferezou-Viala *et al.*, 2011), while others report reduced birth weight compared to controls (Couvreur *et al.*, 2011; Howie *et al.*, 2009; Khan *et al.*, 2003). Consistent with our results, in sheep a maternal obesogenic diet (high calorie rather than high fat) also has no impact on birth weight (Long *et al.*, 2010; Ford *et al.*, 2009). Thus, possible

programming effects following a maternal high fat or high sucrose diet appear to be independent of birth weight

4.2 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Firstly, the methodologies used in this project will be examined before discussing cardiovascular and autonomic results in high fat and high sucrose programmed rats at rest and in response to a stressor.

4.2.1 Low statistical power in the high fat model

It is imperative to indicate that there was a low statistical power in our high fat model. The final total numbers of rats used in our high fat model for statistical analysis included 4 control and 4 high fat rats in the male and 4 control and 3 high fat rats in the female. Therefore the interpretation of the data of the high fat model must be made with caution, as it may not reflect a true effect.

The reason for the small *n* values was because of high mortality during the surgical implantation of the radio telemetry probe in our high fat study. Because we had obtained the rats through a collaboration with another faculty, it was not possible for us to obtain more rats. The success rate in this study was only 40%, in comparison to the success rate of our high sucrose model, which was 88%. We are uncertain as to the exact cause of the low success rate in the high fat study, although there could be a number of possibilities that may have contributed to it

One of the most obvious post surgical complications observed was a lower limb neurapraxia. If the rats persisted to drag their hind limbs for longer than 24-36 hours without signs of improvement, they were euthanized for ethical reasons. Similar incidence was observed in both male and female rats as well as between groups (HFD and control). Previous experiences by Dr Jaimie Polson and by our laboratory have indicated a strong correlation between the duration of occlusion of the aorta during the insertion of the catheter and incidence of neurapraxia. Based on cumulative experience, we believe that clamping of the aorta for 2-3 minutes results in minimal risk of apraxia. The aortic clamp period during the surgical implants in the high fat study was approximately 4-5 minutes, and this slightly extended time period may have contributed to post surgical complications. However, we do not believe that this was a significant factor, as we have had instances in the laboratory where the aorta was clamped for as long as 10 minutes with no major postsurgical complications. Indeed, we observed

good recovery in our high sucrose model in some rats when the occlusion of the aorta lasted 7 minutes. For this reason, other factors must also be considered.

Another factor that may have impacted on post surgical survival was that many of the female rats were obese; surprisingly this was seen in our control group and not in the high fat group (**Figure 4.1**). Post surgical recovery was diminished in these rats. Complications most commonly observed post surgically in these rats were that they were slow to rouse following administration of the alpha-2 antagonist (taking approximately 1-2 hours compared to a normal period to waken of approximately 15 minutes), remained sluggish for an extended period after waking, showed hind limb neurapraxia as described above, and exhibited porphyrin secretion from the nose and eyes. It is widely known that obesity is a major surgical risk factor and is associated with a number of post surgical complications, however the exact mechanism by which this occurs is not clear cut (Yvonne *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, the adverse health outcomes seen in our obese rats post-surgically may be attributed to obesity related surgical complications, such as retarded wound healing and nerve damage, similar to that reported in humans (Yvonne *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 4.1: Non-obese versus an obese rat following telemetry implant from our high fat rat colony. Post-operative mortality was greatly increased in obese rats. A) Non-obese, female, control rat (11 months old) following telemetry implant. B) Obese, female, control rat (6 months) following telemetry implant.

A third factor in poor post-surgical recovery in the high fat study was the possible presence of bacterial or viral infection of the rat colony at the time. It was noted that many of the rats exhibited rasping-like breath sounds pre-surgically, indicative of mucous secretion in their airways. The likelihood of the rat colony being exposed to an infectious agent is highly plausible as these rats were raised by another investigator in another animal house before being moved to one of the University of Sydney main campus animal houses for our experiments. Therefore this move may have increased exposure to a potential infectious agent. Furthermore, it is well documented that immunity is altered under obese conditions (Macia *et al.*, 2006; Meade *et al.*, 1978). Therefore the combination of increased adiposity together with a potential infectious agent may explain the adverse post surgical consequences in these rats.

Finally, ascites was often observed in a number of these rats. It is unclear as to why such large amount of fluid accumulation was present in the abdominal cavity of these rats, although this commonly occurs with hepatic or cardiac disease. Therefore, there is a possibility that some of these animals may have been suffering from underlying disease.

Therefore, although we are uncertain as to the exact reason, there are a number of possible explanations as to why we experienced low survival rates following surgery in the high fat study. This was particularly problematic because we were unable to obtain additional rats and therefore had low *n* values in the study and subsequently low statistical power. Two power calculations were performed on DBP in female rats at night. The first calculation was done using: the population mean of controls for mu(0), the mean of our sample (high fat) for mu(1) and the known standard deviation for the population for sigma. The power calculation was based on two-sided criteria with 0.05 for the alpha value and 0.80 for power of the test. According to this power calculation a sample size of 16 is needed to be certain of the effect seen. Our second power calculation was done using; the population mean of controls for mu(0), the averages taken from the two highest DBP values for mu(1) and the known standard deviation for the population for sigma. Similar to the first power calculation, the power calculation was based on a two-sided criteria with 0.05 for the alpha value and 0.80 for power of the test. According to the signal similar to the first power calculation, the power calculation was based on a two-sided criteria with 0.05 for the alpha value and 0.80 for power of the test. According to this power calculation, the power calculation was based on a two-sided criteria with 0.05 for the alpha value and 0.80 for power of the test. According to this power calculation for sigma. Similar to the first power calculation, the power calculation was based on a two-sided criteria with 0.05 for the alpha value and 0.80 for power of the test. According to this power calculation a sample size of 12 is needed to be certain of the effect seen. Therefore a minimum sample size of 12 is required to be certain of the effect seen. Hence as

discussed in the thesis we had a low statistical power in the female high fat model. In order to be more confident with the results, it will be necessary to breed animals and raise offspring according to the original protocol so that we can increase the *n* values.

4.2.2 The programming models used

Maternal malnutrition during pregnancy can be defined as either a nutrient deficiency or overnutrition, with both types of maternal malnutrition during pregnancy associated with foetal programming and adverse consequence to the health of the offspring in later life. To investigate the effect of increased maternal intake of high fat or high sucrose diet on the offspring, we have developed two rodent models; a high fat model and high sucrose model.

Programming model one - high fat: A number of studies support the hypothesis that maternal overnutrition and or obesity is associated with obesity and hypertension in the offspring (Armitage *et al.*, 2008, 2005; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2007; Khan *et al.*, 2003; Elahi *et al.*, 2009). In most rodent models of maternal overnutrition, the females are maintained on an obesogenic diet, consisting of high carbohydrate and fat or high fat alone until they become significantly heavier than control animals. These diets are implemented throughout gestation and lactation. In these studies, the offspring are exposed to maternal obesity as well as maternal overnutrition during pregnancy and lactation; therefore, the effects of maternal obesity alone cannot be distinguished from maternal over nutrition. Hence, it is unclear if facets of obesity in the mother such as dyslipidaemia, hypeleptinaemia and hyperinsulinaemia may have on programming of hypertension in the offspring. Furthermore, what is yet to be established is whether programming of hypertension is a consequence of established obesity in the offspring (i.e. a secondary consequence of obesity) or if hypertension and obesity exist separately in programmed offspring. Given the increased prevalence of maternal overweight, without obesity, it is surprising to see only a few studies have investigated the programming effects of maternal overweight in the absence of obesity.

The high fat programming model in our study consisted of a diet composed of 34% fat from omega-6 PUFA, 26% protein and with energy intake of 22.3 KJ/g, note, protein levels were maintained at 20-26%, a difference that is unlikely to impact on foetal programming. The dietary interventions were established four week prior to mating, one week during mating (whilst co-housed with a male rat) and subsequently for three weeks of gestation.

It should be noted that in our study, the high fat mothers did not develop obesity at any stage of the dietary intervention, therefore our data support to reject the hypothesis that maternal obesity and its associated facets, such as hyperleptinemia, hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycaemia, as maternal factors that pre-dispose offspring to develop hypertension (**Table 1 in Appendix**). In addition, plasma leptin levels can be used as a surrogate to measure adiposity due to its association with fat mass (Hajer *et al.*, 2008). In our study, although plasma leptin levels were significantly different between maternal groups pre-gestation, circulating leptin levels were found to be similar at gestation day 19 (**Table 1 in Appendix**), hence indicating similar levels of maternal adiposity during gestation. Furthermore there was no significant difference in maternal weight pre-gestation or during gestation (**Table 1 in Appendix**).

At 6 months of age both control and high fat offspring had similar weights and frank obesity was not noted in the high fat offspring. However, without adequate measures of body composition, it is difficult to conclude if there was, in fact, a difference between offspring body composition at 6 months (time of blood pressure recording). Therefore it is impossible to determine if hypertension arises due to obesity, and its associated facets, in the offspring. To investigate if hypertension arises due to a direct consequence of maternal high fat diet *in utero*, experiments in the younger rats at 3 months of age should be done, before the onset of increased adiposity or obesity hyperleptinemia as seen in the adult rat.

The specific fats that make up a diet commonly used in programming studies of maternal overnutrition include; high saturated, monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fats (Khan *et al.*, 2003; Menegon *et al.*, 2008; Armitage *et al.*, 2008, 2005; Kirk *et al.*, 2009) and since these diets are most often obesogenic, maternal obesity is induced. The high fat diet (34%) used in our study was purely composed of omega-6 PUFA and a non-obesogenic diet. However, this diet is characteristic of a commonly consumed diet in today's society with an overall decrease in omega-3 PUFA intake (Simopoulos, 2011). The consumption of the right ratio of omega-6: omega-3 fats has been thought to be important. An optimum ratio of omega-6: omega-3 is thought to be 1-4 : 1, however in a commonly consumed Western diet, this ratio has changed dramatically to range within 10: 1 (Olivier *et al.*, 2011). Coincidently, there is also an increase in the prevalence of inflammatory processes such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, neurodegenerative and psychiatric illness (Corsinovi *et al.*, 2011) seen with

the consumption of these diets. Therefore a diet high in omega-6 PUFA and low in omega-3 PUFA is thought to shift the physiological state, toward proinflammatory and prothrombotic with increased blood viscosity, vasoconstriction and vasopasam, resulting in increased incidence of developing diseases (Patterson *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, a dietary imbalance of this ratio results in increased metabolic products with increased omega-6 PUFA. These metabolites include; thromboxanes, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, lipoxins and hydroxyl fatty acid forming in larger quantities, the net effect of this is an increased proinflammatory profile with increased lipids, inflammatory mediators and cytokines which may contribute to the development of inflammatory diseases (Simpopulos, 2002). As described in the introduction, excess maternal inflammation, increased placental cytokines and increased lipid transfer is thought to play a role in foetal programming (Mazzucco *et al.*, 2013; Challier *et al.*, 2008), however further studies need to be done to investigate this. In our studies, it can be concluded that this high fat model does program for hypertension in the offspring at rest (section 4.4) but not in response to stress. The failure of a hypertensive response to a stressor is discussed in **sections 4.5** and **4.6** of the discussion. It is also inviting to speculate the effects increased pro-inflammatory and lipid profiles (due to this high fat diet) may have on programming.

Programming model two - high sucrose: in addition to high consumption of a high fat or obesogenic diet in the western world, there has also been increased consumption of sugar sweetened beverages (SSB) (Ismali *et al.*, 1997). Like many dietary insults to the intrauterine environment that alter foetal development, it is thought that maternal access to increased levels of sucrose may also alter foetal development and predispose them for diseases in later life (Metzger *et al.*, 2008; Flynn *et al.*, 2013; Vickers *et al.*, 2012: Sammuelsson *et al.*, 2008). However, exposure to a high sucrose diet during pregnancy and its effects *in utero* has not been extensively investigated. Similarly to our discussions above, it is unclear as to whether a maternal high sucrose diet causes hypertension as a result of obesity and its related sequela or if hypertension is a consequence of the direct influence of a maternal diet high in sucrose.

In our sucrose model, both control and sucrose rats received a standard chow (4.8% fat, 20% protein, energy 14.0 MJ/Kg digestible energy) and water. In addition, the sucrose group was provided with drinking water that contained sucrose at 10% wt/vol. This dietary intervention was applied in the same

manner as the high fat model; established four weeks prior to mating, one week during mating and subsequently for the 3 weeks of gestation.

In most rodent models looking at a high sucrose diet during pregnancy, females are maintained on either a diet high in fructose (Vickers et al 2011), a high sucrose diet alone (Sammuelsson *et al.*, 2008) or a diet high in fructose (10%) and fat (45%), (Flynn *et al.*, 2013). In all these studies there have been observed changes in the offspring compared to controls, these changes include; hypertension and increased fat mass (Sammuelsson *et al.*, 2008), increased plasma leptin, fructose and blood glucose levels in female foetuses (Vickers *et al.*, 2011) and hyperglycemia (Flynn *et al.*, 2013). The latter study by Flynn and colleagues (2013) may be confounding as the diet consisted of both a high fat and high sucrose component, therefore it is unclear as to what the effect of sucrose alone was on offspring health. Furthermore, it was noted that most of these studies do not keep fat and protein levels consistent between control and experimental (sucrose) groups, in most cases the control groups contained higher protein and lower fat levels whilst experimental rats had lower protein and higher fat percentages. This may be confounding as there is ample evidence to show that a low protein diet programs for disease in offspring (Langley-Evans *et al.*, 1994; 1996; 1999; Pladys *et al.*, 2004; Vehaskari *et al.*, 2001; Woods et al., 2001), hence it is unclear as to which component of the diet is having effects on the mother and foetus.

Although a person who consumes a high fat diet is likely to consume a high sucrose diet, differentiating the effect of a high fat diet relative to a high sucrose diet is important as this allows the dietary components that may or may not be detrimental to health outcomes to be teased out. Furthermore, a better phenotypic profile of altered physiological states due to different diets may be developed; allowing investigation of potential over-arching "vectors" (described in introduction **section 1.5.2**) common to each dietary group that might be responsible for programming. This will also allow the investigation of how these vectors may be influencing foetal programming, and therefore assist in identifying the possible pathophysiological mechanisms underlying programmed hypertension. In addition, the vectors common to maternal overnutrition studies may be compared to those in other models of programmed hypertension, such as low protein diet or increased maternal glucocorticoids (Denton *et al.*, 2006; Langley-Evans, 2009)..

The sucrose model in our study consisted of high sucrose (10%) in the absence of high fat; levels of fat, protein and other macronutrients were consistent between controls and sucrose rats. Although some studies described above use a high fructose solution, our model did not. Sucrose is a disaccharide composed of two monosaccharides, glucose and fructose (Kanarek and Orthen-Gambil, 1982). Most ingested food and sugar sweetened beverages are in the form of sucrose, which is later broken down into glucose and fructose during digestion, therefore the sucrose diet used in this model is more reflective of a commonly consumed diet. As described above increased plasma leptin levels, hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulimia and higher blood triglycerides are reported in most of the high sugar model studies (Vickers *et al.*, 2011; Flynn *et al.*, 2013; Rooney *et al.*, 2013; Sammuelsson *et al.*, 2008). In our study it was found that dams exposed to high sucrose showed higher fasting blood triglycerides (Figure 3 in Appendix), however maternal body weights between groups were similar (Figure 4 in Appendix).

In addition the studies mentioned above had different intervention periods for the diet; these included a diet implemented six weeks before mating (Flynn et al 2013), day one of pregnancy to postnatal day 10 (Vickers *et al.*, 2011), six weeks before conception and throughout pregnancy and suckling (Sammuelsson *et al.*, 2008). The dietary intervention period for our study was for a total of 8 weeks; four weeks prior to mating, one week during mating and subsequently for the three weeks of gestation. Foetal programming is thought to be susceptible at different periods during gestation (Entringer *et al.*, 2012; Fisher *et al.*, 2012;) and the effects of the diet on the mother are dependent on the intervention period. Therefore due to differences in the period of dietary intervention, interpreting results from different studies may confound each other.

Overall, the high sucrose model failed to detect any detrimental effects of a maternal high sucrose diet in the offspring. Therefore from this model, it is concluded that a diet consisting of high sucrose alone, in the absence of high fat does not cause adverse effects in the offspring.

4.2.3 Radiotelemetry

Radiotelemetry is now considered the preferred method of blood pressure measurement in the rat. Earlier techniques of blood pressure measurement used methods of arterial cannulation and tail cuff to obtain blood pressure measurements. The use of radiotelemetry provides a number of advantages

over these earlier techniques. Firstly, blood pressure recordings can be obtained in the conscious, freely moving rat. Earlier experiments such as the use of arterial cannulation method had to place the rat under anaesthesia; it is widely known that anaesthesia can affect blood pressure and autonomic regulation, which may confound results and impact on interpretation of data (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003). Furthermore when investigating the effects of either physiological or psychological stress, it is imperative to use unanesthetised, unrestrained animals; this ensures that proper behavioral and physiological responses are evoked in response to the stress.

The tail cuff method, does provide a technique that does not involve the use of anaesthesia, however this method only allows for accurate measurement of systolic blood pressure rather than measurement of a blood pressure waveform. Therefore detailed analysis of cardiovascular function (including heart rate derived from the pulse interval) is not possible. In particular, is it not possible to make calculations of sBRS, HRV, BPV or dP/dt_{max} with tail cuff. Further, tail cuff is likely to elicit additional stress in the animal that may affect the results (Kubota et al., 2006; Denton et al., 2006). This might be of particular importance in studies looking at programmed hypertension, where blood pressure may not be altered during rest but may change between groups in response to a stressor. For example, a study by Ortiz et al., (2001) using the tail cuff method, showed hypertension at rest in dexamethasone-programmed rats. However, a study by O'Regan and colleagues (2008) repeated the experiments 7 years later, using radio telemetry, and showed that blood pressure in dexamethasone programmed rats did not differ from controls at rest but showed an exaggerated response to stressors such as restraint stress. Studies done by Prestipino et al., (2014) have confirmed the observations made by O'Regan and colleagues (2008), that blood pressure measurements in dexamethasone programmed rats at rest are no different to controls but show an exaggerated response to air jet stress.

The technique of tail cuff recording of blood pressure essentially mimics restraint stress. This is because, in order to measure blood pressure, the rat is essentially restrained in a box in an almost identical manner to that used to evoke restraint stress (Igosheva *et al.*, 2004). Chronic indwelling catheters have also been used to measure blood pressure in the conscious programmed rat (Pladys *et al.*, 2004; Woods *et al.*, 2001; 2004). Although use of this technique will provide the investigator with measurement of blood pressure waveform, the animal is still likely to be experiencing greater

levels of stress simply due to the presence of the externalised catheters running from its body. Therefore the use of telemetry may uncover important differences in blood pressure control that was masked by the use of earlier techniques.

Secondly, the use of telemetry allows for long-term recording of blood pressure without the use of any additional manipulation. After the implantation of the radiotelemetry probe, a rat can be placed on a receiver and blood pressure recordings can be made for extended periods of time without disturbing the animal. With regard to our study, this has been key for blood pressure measurements during the 9-day dehydration protocol. Use of radioteleletry allowed measurement of differences in blood pressure in response to a three-day period of dehydration and diurnal fluctuations in blood pressure. Furthermore, the acquisition program used to record blood pressure, allows up to 8 animals to be recorded at a time, enabling collection of blood pressure data from 8 animals at a time over a 9-day protocol. Therefore, telemetry provides a very powerful tool for long-term recording of blood pressure, as well as other indices of cardiovascular and autonomic function in a very efficient manner.

However, further refinement to this technique is possible. The transmitters used in our studies were rat (PA-C40 DSI) transmitters, which are designed for use in rats weighing above 170g. It was noted during the implantation of the probe that the rat transmitter appeared to be quite big when sutured to the wall of the abdomen in some rats. Therefore the use of another smaller and lighter mouse transmitter (PA-C10, DSI) may be a possibility, this would reduce any discomfort in the rat that may be associated with the placement of the transmitter, and allow for better and faster recovery from surgical implantation of the probe, thus reducing any stresses caused. This may be of particular significance in our high fat study, where a high mortality rate following surgery was experienced. Studies using mouse transmitters have shown blood pressure data to be of same stability and quality as the larger rat transmitter (Polson et al., 2010; Braga and Prabhakar, 2009; Samuelsson et al., 2010). It has also been thought that there may be physiological benefits for using a smaller transmitter, Prabhakar et al., (1985) showed evidence of altered breathing patterns with the addition of extra mass to the abdominal cavity. Therefore using a smaller transmitter might reduce physiological disruptions due to the presence of a transmitter thus improving animal welfare. Furthermore, the use of a smaller mouse transmitter would enable us to obtain blood pressure recordings in younger rats (as young as three weeks of age, Samuelsson et al., 2010), allowing us to investigate changes in blood pressure

regulation at a younger age and hence before the onset of any obesity or age related changes to blood pressure regulation (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010; Simms *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, the main disadvantage of using a mouse transmitter is the greater cost of purchase and reduced battery life in these smaller transmitters; this will in turn increase costs associated with refurbishment of transmitters.

4.2.4 The use of non invasive indices of autonomic function

The use of non-invasive measures of autonomic function has a major advantage in the fact that they can be carried out under normal physiological behaviors, i.e in an unrestrained, freely moving animal. However, a major disadvantage of these measures is that they are all indirect measures of autonomic function and are subjected to over interpretation and potential errors. The indices used to describe autonomic function in our study include dP/dt_{max}, HRV, BPV, sBRS and BEI; these indices have all been validated and used in previous studies and have been useful in the estimation of autonomic function provided care is taken with interpretation (Waki *et al.*, 2006; Dowell and Houdi, 1997; Malpas, 2002).

dP/dmaxt: dP/dtmax of the aortic blood pressure waveform was used in our study as an index of left ventricular contractility. Traditional techniques used to determine ventricular dP/dt_{max} are quite invasive, these techniques require the insertion of a catheter into the left ventricle to detect pressure (de Roest et al., 2009). However, studies show aortic pressure can be used as a surrogate for ventricular pressure when determining ventricular contractility. For example, a study by Dowell and Houdi (1997) showed that injections of positive or negative cardiac inotropic agents have significant effects on aortic pressure and flow; these effects are directionally appropriate and produce similar data to use of cardiac catheterisation. Further supporting this theory, Brington et al (1997), found a good correlation (r=0.87) between data from peripheral dP/dt_{max} calculations and invasive catheterised ventricular recordings of blood pressure. However, it is important to note that there are situations in which dP/dt_{max} calculations from aortic blood pressure measurements are imperfect and become an incorrect predictor of the inotropic state. In particular, vessel stiffness in the abdominal aorta is an important factor to consider when making dP/dt_{max} calculations from the aorta. This is because a decrease in arterial vessel elasticity produces increased pulse pressures amongst an array of other pathophysiological changes (Quinn et al., 2012), and this would produce a higher dP/dt_{max} despite unaltered ventricular contractility. We did not investigate arterial stiffness, and so this caveat remains

open to interpretation. However, none of the rats in any cohort showed unusually high pulse pressures. Therefore, although the possibility cannot be excluded, it is unlikely that arterial stiffness was altered in this study. Calculations of dP/dt_{max} are also influenced by changing load conditions on the ventricle (preload and afterload), which affect intrinsic myocardial contractility (Hamlin and del Rio, 2012). Because it was not possible to measure ventricular pressures, the finding that there was no difference in cardiac contractility between groups is dependent on the assumption that intrinsic myocardiac tension-length relationship and cardiac filling conditions are also the same.

HRV and BPV: Beat to beat fluctuations in heart rate and blood pressure are present in all investigated mammals including humans (Malpas, 2002). There are a number of factors that underlie this observed variability including differences in the inherent biophysical properties in the sino-aortic pacemaker myocytes and haemodynamic properties of the circulation (Malpas, 2002). In addition, there is good evidence that variability is influenced by temperature regulation, vasoactive hormone levels and sympathetic and parasympathetic nerve activity (Malik, 1996; Stauss, 2003). The importance of the autonomic nervous system in heart rate variability is clear in patients following cardiac transplantation, where heart rate variability is markedly reduced (Toledo et al., 2002). On the basis of the different frequency response characteristics of sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation of heart rate, frequency analysis of heart rate variability can identify a low frequency component that is correlated to sympathetic modulation and a high frequency component that is correlated to parasympathetic modulation of heart rate (see below). However, despite the strong autonomic modulation of heart rate the LF and HF frequency components of HRV may not always be very reliable markers for cardiac sympathetic and parasympathetic activity (Malpas, 2002). Specifically, while the LF component is influenced by the sympathetic nervous system, there are many examples where known increases in sympathetic nerve activity are not associated with changes in low frequency variability. For example, there is a decrease in the LF HRV with myocardial infarction despite increased levels of sympathetic activity (Houle and Billman, 1999). Similarly, there is a decrease in the LF HRV during exercise, while sympathetic activity is increased (Arai et al., 1989).

Spectral analysis using a fast fourier transform (FFT) algorithm is one of the most commonly used methods of investigating HRV and BPV in the frequency domain (Malpas, 2002; Cerutti *et al.*, 1991), as used in our studies. The FFT algorithm deconstructs the HR and SBP waveforms into different

components depending on frequency. The most common analysis divides the frequency range into three distinct frequency bands; very low frequency (VLF), low frequency (LF) and high frequency (HF). Spectral analysis provides information on how much variance or "power" there is in each frequency band (VLF, LF and HF), (Jenkins and Watts, 1968; Kay and Marple, 1981; Malik et al., 1996). The VLF band comprises a frequency range of HR and BP oscillations between 0-0.27 Hz in the rat. Variability in the VLF component is thought to reflect changes associated with levels of vasoactive hormones (Cerutti et al., 1991; Askelrod et al., 1981). The LF component consists of frequencies in the range of 0.27-0.75 Hz in the rat. Although the LF component is more complex, it is often thought to be a dominant indicator of sympathetic activity, or the level of sympathetic modulation in both HRV and BPV (Berntson et al., 1997; Billman, 2011; Malpas, 2002). This association with BPV has been shown by the use of ganglionic blockade, which abolishes these oscillations in the BPV component (Cerutti et al., 1994). The HF band is associated with respiratory sinus arrhythmia and the parasympathetic influences on HR, consisting of a frequency range between 0.75-3.3 Hz in the rat (Waki et al., 2006). With regard to BPV, the HF component is not related to autonomic function, but is associated with respiratory changes in the intrathoracic pressure perturbing venous return and cardiac output. The HF component in HRV is indicative of parasympathetic activity, and has been demonstrated by using parasympathetic blockers such as atropine, which substantially diminishes the HF component in HRV, but this is not seen in BPV (Malpas, 2002; Malik et al., 1996).

Like any technique there are negative aspects involved in the use of a FFT algorithm in spectral analysis. The FFT takes into account all the data available from the selected signal when producing the power spectrum; therefore it includes the entire signal variance regardless of whether the frequency components emerge as specific spectral peaks or non-peaks (Parati *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, the recorded signal may frequently contain signal artifacts, and as the FFT takes into account the entire recorded signal, these artifacts, if large in amplitude, may have a substantial influence on the signal variance, thereby affecting the power spectrum. It is important to consider these factors in our study, especially when analysing the dehydration protocol. During our protocol, blood pressure was recorded for five minutes per hour over the entire 9 days. One technique to reduce effects of signal variance is to carefully select short periods of time when there is minimal variance. However, a disadvantage of this is that the resulting power spectrum may not be representative of the true variability over the course of the study. Therefore, to both minimise this

signal variance and yet maintain an accurate estimate of true variability, the analysis was performed over every 5 minute period separately and the powers averaged for night and day. By way of comparison, the study of Rudyk et al. (2011) made estimates of HRV in their programmed rats based upon a single 5 minute recording performed between 9-10 am. It is apparent that measurements made over such a small time interval will not be representative of the overall variability in a 24 hour period, but very dependent upon events that have occurred at the time point where the measurements were made.

An alternate method to overcome these artifact- associated influences is the use of another technique, known as autoregressive (AR) modeling. The AR method identifies a best fitting model in the raw data from which the final spectrum is derived, and any component of the recorded signal that does not fit the model is regarded as noise and is either partially or totally removed (Box and Jenkins, 1970, Kay, 1988).

However, in our study, FFTs done over a recorded signal consisting of moderate artifacts did not appear to alter the HRV and BPV analysis, although regions with major artifacts were removed manually. This was mainly done during the air jet protocol; the 2 second time period during which the stream of air was directed at the rat. The sudden puff of air provoked escape behavior (running and jumping), which often elicited substantial movement artifacts in the blood pressure waveform. For this reason, this period was excluded, and data was sourced from the 1 minute intermittent resting phase between sets of puffs. This period was used to describe the stress period and its associated changes in HRV and BPV.

4.2.5 Fos immunohistochemistry

As described in the introduction, the method of immunohistochemical labelling of fos as a marker for neuronal activity has a number of advantages over older traditional techniques such as identification of changes in metabolic activity or invasive electrophysiological recordings (Greenberg *et al.*, 1981). Specific characteristics of c-*fos* transcription and the protein product Fos make it an ideal tool for use as a marker of neurons recently activated. For example, basal Fos levels are almost always negligible in neurons, but is rapidly activated in response to a stimulus (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003). Therefore any Fos expression observed is likely to be from recently activated neurons. This characteristic of Fos has served well for the specific detection, quantification and mapping of activated neurons after the air jet protocol in our studies. In addition, Fos labelling can be performed in conjunction with other techniques to allow for a more detailed analysis, such as double-labelling of neurotransmitters/neuromodulators and the use of retrograde/anterograde tracing (Furlong *et al.*, 2014; Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003). More importantly, the technique of using Fos as a marker of neuronal activity can be used in the conscious freely moving animal, negating any confounding influences of surgical stress or anaesthesia on neuronal activation (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003).

The use of this method has some possible drawbacks. Firstly, although this technique allows studies to be carried out in the conscious animal, the animal may be susceptible to other environmental stimuli such as noise and smell, which may arouse and stress the animal (Li and Dampney, 1994). Any noise or smell in the lab could therefore cause activation of neurons thereby increasing Fos expression. To minimise these effects, we allow the animal to acclimatise to the lab environment for two weeks before the commencement of the experiment. By this time, the animal should have been well adapted for the laboratory environment and any noise or smell should no longer act as a significant stimulus to evoke Fos expression in the animal. Possible false positive labelling from environmental stimuli would have been accounted for with the use of control experiments (i.e. without exposure to air jest stress), in which basal levels of Fos were quantified. Such a control can serve as a baseline for comparison of the level of Fos expression in rats at rest and of those exposed to the air jet stress. These basal measures of Fos expression could not be performed in the present study due to the limited number of animal available and time constraints. However, it should be acknowledged that these measures would provide valuable information about basal Fos expression in high sucrose and high fat programming.

Another drawback of the Fos technique is that Fos expression is not seen in all neurons when activated. For example, neurons activated in the substantia nigra do not express Fos, regardless of the stimulus (Dragunow and Faull, 1989), while in cardiac vagal preganglionic neurons Fos expression is delayed by up to 8 hours before it is detectable (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003). Therefore, in such studies, it is not possible to label Fos in both cardiac vagal preganglionic neurons and other brainstem neurons due to the transient nature of the Fos expression in other neurons. It is therefore necessary when interpreting results to be aware factors such as these that would elicit false negative data.

The use of Metamorph to discriminate labelled neurons was used, the accuracy of this semiautomated counting program has been validated in our laboratory previously by performing manual counts on random selection of sections (ligya et al., 2012)

4.2.6 Receptor sensitisation and desensitisation

To investigate the stress response in programming, rats were subject to two types of stressors, a physiological (dehydration) and a psychological (air jet) stress. Rats were exposed to both stressors; firstly the dehydration protocol was performed, followed by a three-week rest period before the air jet protocol was implemented. A potential confounder in the data obtained from the air jet stress protocol is receptor sensitisation or desensitisation due to prior dehydration. Sensitisation is a process whereby the repeated administration of a stimulus causes an amplification of the process (Shettleworth, 2010). Conversely, receptor desensitisation is a process where by the receptor has a diminished response to a stimulus due to prolonged exposure (Fehmann et al., 1991). It is unlikely that sensitisation or desensitisation due to dehydration would have impacted the blood pressure data obtained in the air jet study. This is because dehydration has been a persistent challenge to homeostasis throughout evolution (Debora et al., 2012) and therefore plasma osmolality and blood volume are robustly defended and controlled tightly in the mammal via homeostatic processes (McKinley et al., 2004; Autunes-Rodrigues et al., 2004). Hence, It is very unlikely that these evolutionarily homeostatic processes would result in any receptor sensitisation or desensitisation, particularly because of the inclusion of a three week resting period, between dehydration and air jet stress. Furthermore, receptor sensitisation is mostly characterised in the central sensitisation of nociceptive neurons, processes of long-term potentiation (learning), drug sensitisation and allergic sensitisation (Collingridge et al., 2004; Robinson et al., 1993; Kohno et al., 2003; Janeway et al., 2001). Therefore, it is unlikely that a stimulus such as dehydration would cause receptor sensitisation under these categories of

sensitisation. Similarly, receptor desensitisation is often associated with increased agonist exposure to a receptor, which decreases its sensitivity. Although hormones such as antidiuretic hormone are in action during dehydration (Autunes-Rodrigues *et al.*, 2004; Burbach *et al.*, 2001) there are no known pathways whereby sensitising or desensitising these hormonal receptors may impact blood pressure data following psychological stress. Ideally, control experiments should have been performed to determine if rats exposed to dehydration respond differently to psychological stress compared to rats that did not experience dehydration. However, due to the limited number of available rats, this was not practicable.

4.3 SEX SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES

There are three main factors that give rise to sexual dimorphism and consequently sexual dimorphism in developmental programming. These three factors include; differences in developmental patterns (genetic, morphological and transcriptional), differences in the timing of development, and the effect of steroid hormone exposure during *in utero* and postnatal life (Aiken and Ozanne, 2012). These factors together give rise to mature adult organisms that are sexually dimorphic in their physiology, anatomy, behaviour and reproductive capacity (Aiken and Ozanne, 2012). Therefore, it was important to consider both male and female offspring in our study to investigating how sex-specific differences may influence blood pressure in our high fat programmed model.

In reviewing the literature, it is evident that male offspring appear to be more susceptible to developing programmed hypertension due to an adverse *in utero* stimulus compared to females. In the rat, there are reports in models of maternal gestational dexamethasone exposure (Alexander, 2003; Ortiz *et al.*, 2003), maternal low protein diet (Woods *et al.*, 2005: Langley-Evans *et al.*, 1996) and in studies of uterine artery hypoperfusion (Alexander, 2003) that describe raised blood pressure in male, but not female offspring. With regard to programming following maternal high fat diet, there are conflicting data. An early study by Langley-Evans (1996) showed mothers fed a diet high in saturated fat results in hypertension in the male offspring but not in females. In contrast, Khan et al (2003) showed a maternal obesogenic high fat diet programmed hypertension in both male and female offspring (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010). Similar conflicting results have been reported in mice, with both

high fat programming producing hypertension in both male and female offspring (Samuelsson *et al.,* 2008) and in females only (Elahi *et al.,* 2008). Thus, it appears that there is not a strong sex-specific difference in high fat programming of hypertension.

In our study, both male and female rats programmed by a maternal high fat diet developed hypertension to a similar degree. The LF:HF ratio, an index of cardiac sympathetic modulation, was elevated in the HRV spectra in females. This response was exacerbated when the females were exposed to dehydration. This suggests that maternal high fat programming may alter cardiac autonomic function in females, which in turn, may increase the risk of developing hypertension under certain conditions. In males, there was no evidence of autonomic dysfunction either at rest or in response to physiological or psychological stressors. Therefore, the hypertensive phenotype observed in programmed males does not appear to have an autonomic origin.

The studies of maternal overnutrition described above indicate that female offspring may have a greater tendency to develop hypertension than the males. The reason for this remains elusive, however, a clue may lie in the observed difference of growth rates in the male and female foetuses *in utero* (Gilbert and Nijland., 2008). Faster growing male foetuses may differ in their susceptibility to nutritional insults in comparison with female foetuses. There is also evidence that there may be sexspecific differences in the mechanisms that produce programmed hypertension. For example, a maternal low protein diet during gestation has been reported to program hypertension in males via a glucocorticoid-mediated mechanism. Conversely, in females it has been shown to be mediated via changes in angiotensin receptor expression (McMullen and Langley-Evans, 2005). It is therefore possible that similar sex specific differences are present in high fat programming, however, this remains to be investigated.

4.4 CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS AT REST

Cardiovascular parameters at rest: Similar to previous studies of high fat programmed hypertension in Sprague Dawley rats (Khan *et al.*, 2003; Samuelsson *et al.*, 2009), our high fat model programmed for hypertension at rest in both male and female offspring. Although there are clear differences in the high fat diets used and the duration of the intervention period implemented across most of the studies of maternal overnutrition, including ours ,, all studies show hypertension in offspring of over-nourished

mothers compared to offspring from mothers given a control diet (Khan et al., 2003; Samuelsson et al., 2009). However, an important difference is, our study appears to be the first to demonstrate programmed hypertension using the high fat diet model in the absence of maternal obesity and offspring obesity. In contrast, Rudyk et al. (2011) found that a non-obesogenic maternal high fat diet (23.6% lard) did not produce raised blood pressure at rest in the offspring. It is possible that the difference in programming effect is due to the timing of exposure to the high fat diet or the amount of fat in the diet. In the study by Rudyk and colleagues, the dams were exposed to the high fat diet for only 10 days prior to conception, compared to one month in our study. This early pre-conception stage is crucial in determining the quality of the oocyte (Minge et al., 2008) and extended exposure to an unfavourable diet may produce early developmental effects. In addition, there was a difference in the amount and type of fat used between our study and that of Rudyk et al (2011), which may impact on possible developmental or epigenetic changes. Nevertheless, in our model, hypertension can arise purely due to gestational dietary high fat intake. This is an important consideration in the interpretation of possible causative mechanisms because it shows that obesity and the changes associated with obesity, such as raised leptin levels (Taylor et al., 2014), are not necessary to produce changes in blood pressure regulation.

In the high sucrose model, raised blood pressure was not observed at rest. There are only two reports in the literature that have investigated the programming effects of gestational high sucrose diet on blood pressure (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2008, 2013). The first of these was a study in mice using radio telemetry and demonstrated programming of raised blood pressure. However, that study used a gestational diet consisting of both high fat (16%) and high sucrose (33%), and importantly, the diet was obesogenic. This raises the possibility that the reported hypertension was due to raised fat or obesity, rather than high sucrose. The same investigators recently reported results of a study in mice using a maternal high sucrose diet in the absence of high fat (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2013). In contrast to the results of the current study, they reported raised blood pressure in the high sucrose rat during the active phase (night). The increased SBP observed by Samuelsson and colleagues, but not seen in our high sucrose model, is difficult to compare as Samuelsson and colleagues used a mouse model and there may be species differences in programming effects of high sucrose on blood pressure control.

An explanation for the difference in programming effect on blood pressure following gestational high sucrose may be due to the shorter dietary intervention period in our study compared to that of Samuelsson and colleagues (2013). Dams were maintained on the high sucrose diet for 4 weeks prior to mating, one week during mating and three weeks of gestation. In contrast, Samuelsson and colleagues maintained their dams on a high sucrose diet for 6 weeks prior to mating, throughout gestation and suckling. In other programming studies of maternal obesity, it has been found that oocyte quality is determined before fertilisation even occurs (Minge et al., 2008), thus the longer dietary intervention period prior to mating may prime adverse changes in the oocyte associated with impaired embryo development. In addition, the early postnatal exposure to high sucrose may also have a significant impact on developmental changes, further priming the offspring to develop hypertension (Myrie et al., 2012). Therefore, it is unclear from the study of Samuelsson et al. (2013) whether the effect that they describe on blood pressure is due to a programming effect during the antenatal or postnatal period. Finally, the sucrose content was much higher (55% greater in simple sugars) compared to our study (10% sucrose), which may impact programming differently. A 10% sucrose solution was used in our model as this is based on the standard energy density of a popular sugar sweetened beverage (1.7kJ/ml), therefore, the sugar content in our study is more applicable to today's society than previous studies. However, further investigation is necessary to develop a better picture of the effects of high sucrose during development of blood pressure regulation.

Autonomic parameters at rest: There was no indication of baroreflex dysfunction at rest in either male or female offspring of the high fat or the high sucrose models according to BEI and sBRS indices. This is not in agreement with other programming studies utilising maternal high fat diet (Rudyk et al., 2011), maternal obesogenic diet (Samuelsson et al., 2010), maternal dexamethasone exposure in sheep (Segar et al., 2006; Dodic et al., 1999) and maternal protein restriction (Pladys et al., 2004). It is important to note that in these previous studies the Oxford technique was used to measure baroreflex. The Oxford technique allows for a detailed description of baroreflex function, as comparisons of the relationship between blood pressure and heart rate are made over a wide range of blood pressures. Therefore, changes associated with baroreflex function can be shown in the absence of changes to baroreflex sensitivity (Pladys et al., 2004). However, a negative aspect of the Oxford technique is that there is an element of stress involved in the protocol, which may confound the results obtained. It is widely known that stress causes changes in baroreflex function (Dampney et al., 2008).

Therefore, the differences in baroreflex function seen in previous studies may be attributed to the way the programmed animals reacted to the stress of exteriorised catheter implantation. Consequently, the spontaneous technique used in our study may reflect a more accurate measure of baroreflex function at rest.

Baseline measurements of dP/dt_{max}, LF and LF:HF component of HRV and the LF component of BPV are indicative of sympathetic and vasomotor modulation. In our study there was no indication of increased cardiovascular sympathetic activity at rest in the male or female offspring of the high fat or the high sucrose models. This is surprising, as previous studies in the rat using similar techniques commonly show increases in sympathetic cardiac and vasomotor activity during rest in programming models using maternal obesogenic diet (Samuelsson et al., 2010) and protein restriction (Pladys et al., 2004). A possibility for this difference may be attributed to differences in these programming models, which may result in different autonomic function. For example, the study by Samuelsson et al (2010) used an obesogenic high fat diet, whereby obesity is induced in the mother (not the case in our study). This means that the offspring are exposed to both maternal obesity and maternal overnutrition during pregnancy and lactation; hence effects of maternal overnutriiton per se cannot be distinguished from maternal obesity. These are potentially important differences because increased adiposity produces a number of changes that may affect central nervous system regulation of sympathetic function, such as increased leptin concentration or insulin production (Head et al., 2014). Therefore the differences in sympathetic and vasomotor modulation seen in our study to that of other programming studies may be attributed to difference in programming models. Consistent with this, no differences in HRV or BPV were found at rest in a similar model to the one employed in this study, where pregnant dams were exposed to a non-obesogenic high fat diet (Rudyk et al., 2011), although, as mentioned above, in that study there was no difference in blood pressure reported between groups. In addition, results of previous studies and our study should be considered with caution, as sympathetic activity is not always reflected by changes in HRV or BPV if the modulatory effects are changed (Stauss et al., 1995; Eisenhofer et al., 1996). This is seen most clearly in heart failure, where it is reported that the LF component of HRV is reduced despite clear evidence for increased cardiac sympathetic activity (Van de Borne et al., 1997). This reduced LF band has been explained as indicative of a raised, but invariant level of sympathetic activity in heart failure.

There was no observed difference in other frequency components of HRV or BPV between groups, in either male or female offspring, thus supporting the conclusion that cardiac autonomic function is not altered in either the high fat or high sucrose models.

4.5 CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING PSYCHOLOGICAL STRESS

Cardiovascular parameters during psychological stress: In our study, the high fat programmed rats (male and female) had sustained higher blood pressure throughout the air jet protocol (baseline, stress and recovery). However there was no observed difference in the magnitude of the blood pressure and heart rate response to the air jet stress. Therefore, it was concluded that the high fat rats did not respond to the air jet stress differently to controls with respect to their hypertensive response. Cardiovascular changes in response to stress between our study and other studies (Samuelsson et al., 2010; Rudyk et al., 2011) are difficult to compare, as the type of stressors used are different, and different psychological stressors may elicit both qualitatively and quantitatively different cardiovascular and sympathoexcitatory responses (Furlong et al., 2009). The choice of psychological stressor used in our experiments was the air jet protocol, which is regarded as a mild to moderate psychological stressor (Dampney et al., 2008). This stressor has been shown previously to evoke hypertensive, tachycardic and putative sympathoexcitatory responses in the naive (non-programmed) rat (Furlong et al., 2014). Although both control and high fat rats did respond to the stressor, the blood pressure data in our study are not consistent with the view that a maternal high fat diet during gestation causes offspring to respond to a stressor in a hypertensive manner, in contrast to previous reports (Samuelsson et al., 2010; Rudyk et al., 2011). The differences observed in the stress responses may be attributed to the type of stress used. Previous studies have used restraint stress by placing the rat in a confined space for 20 minutes (Samuelsson et al., 2010; Rudyk et al., 2011). This is regarded as a significantly more severe form of stress. Studies by McDougall et al., (2006) showed that air jet stress and restraint stress elicited clear differences in their cardiovascular responses in rats, with restraint evoking a much greater increase in blood pressure and heart rate than the air jet protocol. It is therefore thought that a gating mechanism is operative in the central nervous system that consequently determines the amount of cardiovascular activation depending on the degree of the

perceived threat (McDougall *et al.*, 2006). It is possible that in our study the more mild form of stress failed to evoke a difference in cardiovascular or sympathetic responses between the control and high fat programmed rats. As mentioned above, there were differences in maternal diet and/or duration of the intervention period of the diet in these previous studies,. It is possible that these differences may also underlie differences in programming effects and subsequent cardiovascular responses to stress. In this context it is worth noting that the study of Samuelsson et al. (2010), which showed a greater difference in cardiovascular response to restraint stress between control and programmed rats, used an obesogenic high fat diet that is likely to exert greater programming effects than a non-obesogenic high fat diet that is likely to exert greater programming effects than a non-obesogenic, although it did extend into the postnatal lactation period. That study reported a difference in cardiovascular responses to restraint stress between groups in male, but not female offspring, suggesting that the responses are graded and dependent on the severity of the programming insult. These dietary differences would need to be examined more carefully to determine the exact effect that they may have on programming cardiovascular responses to psychological stress

The second model, ustilising high sucrose programming, did not show any differences compared to controls in blood pressure or heart rate responses to air jet stress at any time point throughout the protocol (baseline, stress and recovery). At the time of writing, there has been no study done previously that has examined the cardiovascular responses to a psychological stress in a high sucrose programmed model. Although preliminary, the results of the current study suggest that gestational exposure to high dietary sucrose does not program an altered cardiovascular response to psychological stress in the offspring.

A number of studies using other models of programming have reported enhanced cardiovascular responses to psychological stress, including gestational high glucocorticoid exposure (O'Regan *et al.*, 2008; 2010), stress in pregnancy (Igosheva *et al.*, 2004); maternal hypoxia (Peyronnet *et al.*, 2002) and maternal high salt diet (Porter *et al.*, 2009). In addition, an exaggerated cardiovascular response to exposure to ammonia has been demonstrated in offspring following maternal low protein diet (Tonkiss *et al.*, 1998). Thus there is considerable diversity in the type of programming insult that can lead to enhanced responses to stress, suggesting that this is a common alteration in phenotype. It is possible that there may be an underlying disturbance common to these different programming models.

There is good evidence that many of these foetal insults either directly or indirectly produce a down regulation of glucocorticoid receptor levels in the hypothalamus (Seckl, 2004; Gonzalez-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2014), and that this may in turn increase the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to stress in the offspring, producing exaggerated cardiovascular and autonomic responses to stress (Seckl, 2004). Although there is no evidence for prenatal high salt diet producing an increase in foetal glucocorticoid, increases in levels of corticotropin-releasing hormone mRNA in the hypothalamus have been reported (Porter *et al.*, 2009) and this may produce a similar exaggeration of stress responses. It is interesting to note that a maternal obesogenic diet in rats also increases systemic corticosterone levels in the dam, and produces an increase in glucocorticoid receptor gene expression in the amygdala of the offspring (Sasaki et a., 2013), that is associated with exaggerated behavioural stress responses. It is not known whether a maternal high fat diet that is not obesogenic, or a maternal high sucrose diet, such as those used in the present study, also produce altered glucocorticoid responses in the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis or amygdala. It is possible that the failure to observe a difference in the cardiovascular responses to stress in these models may be reflected by a lack of alteration in glucocorticoid receptor levels within these areas of the brain.

Autonomic parameters during psychological stress: In the high fat study, there was no difference in sBRS or BEI between groups during rest or in response to stress in either male or female rats. However, there were differences observed between sexes in response to stress. In males, both control and high fat showed a decrease in sBRS to a similar degree in response to stress. Both groups also showed a similar trend towards a decrease in BEI in response to stress, but this was not statistically significant in either group. In contrast, female rats did not show a significant change in either sBRS or BEI in response to stress.

Similarly in our high sucrose model there was no difference in sBRS or BEI between groups at rest or in response to stress. However, in contrast to the high fat study (males), there was no change in sBRS in response stress in either sucrose model or control rats, while BEI decreased in the high sucrose rats but remained unaffected in the controls.

The original hypothesis was that the programmed rats may show a depression of their baroreflex function (both sBRS and BEI) either at rest or in response to stress, based on numerous reports that decreased baroreflex sensitivity is associated with hypertension or increased risk of hypertension

(Dodic *et al.*, 1999; La Rovere *et al.*, 1998; Leotta *et al.*, 2007; Pladys *et al.*, 2004). A depressed baroreflex function in response to stress may help to explain the observation of an augmented hypertensive response to stress reported previously in high fat/obesogenic diet programmed hypertension (Samuelsson et al, 2010; Rudyk *et al.*, 2011), although these studies did not investigate the effects of stress on baroreflex function. Unlike these previous studies, our study did not observe an augmented cardiovascular response in response to stress in the programmed animals, and therefore lack of an effect on baroreflex function between groups is consistent with the similarity in cardiovascular response between groups.

It is noteworthy that a difference was found in the effect of stress on sBRS in the male *control groups* of our high fat (decreased) and high sucrose (unchanged) studies. It is not possible to explain this discrepancy without further investigation. A recent study by Bajic et al. (2010) in the Wistar rat examined baroreflex responses to an air jet protocol similar to the one used in our study. It reported that stress evoked no change in sBRS consistent with the controls in the current high sucrose study. It is possible that the differences in sBRS that were observed in the two control groups may indicate a technical error in the analysis of sBRS in the high fat study, however the results were carefullly examined and this is not considered to be the case. Identical procedures were used for the analysis of sBRS in the high fat- and high sucrose- studies. One possibility is that the low *n* values, due to the high mortality linked to the telemetry surgery, may have generated a type I error (false positive), However, due to the inability to access more animals, this could not be investigated further.

A review of the literature indicates that there may be variability in the effect of stress on baroreceptor function, possibly dependant on the type of stressor, or other variations in how the stress is evoked. Early literature supported the idea that stress elicited a depression of baroreflex function, based on studies of the hypothalamic defence area (Hilton, 1982). Stimulation of this region has been shown to inhibit the baroreflex via GABAergic inhibition of baroreceptor-sensitive neurons in the nucleus of the solitary tract (Silva- Carvalho et al. 1995; Mifflin *et al.*, 1988). However, more recent studies report that baroreceptor reflex function during a stressor, or in response to activation of the stress "centre" in the dorsomedial hypothalamus, shifts the operating range of the reflex to a higher blood pressure without having an effect on sensitivity (Kanbar *et al.*, 2007; Dampney *et al.*, 2008). Thus there is inconsistency in the literature, and it is sensible to conclude that the effects of stress on baroreflex

function may be highly variable, and dependant on a number of factors, including state of arousal and use of anaesthetics.

We also found inconsistencies in our data on stress-evoked changes in BEI. A decrease in BEI observed in the high fat control is consistent with the Bajic et al (2010) study. A decrease in BEI would indicate that although the sensitivity of the reflex is not diminished during air jet stress, it is no longer triggered as frequently by fluctuations in blood pressure. Thus, the effect of a decrease in BEI is to reduce the strength of the baroreflex at a given pressure, and this may explain the right shift in the baroreflex function curve to a higher blood pressure that is described by Dampney *et al.*, (2008). Presumably this assists in a permissive manner to allow for stress-evoked increases in sympathetic nerve activity, heart rate and blood pressure.

There were only a few changes in HRV and BPV observed in response to stress, with no significant differences seen in sympathetic indices (LF or LF:HF ratio) between groups in either the high fat or high sucrose rats. This is consistent with our blood pressure data obtained in our study, which also showed no differences between groups in response to air jet stress. Our study is the first to examine HRV and BPV in response to stress in maternal high fat programming, and thus it is not possible to make any comparisons with previous studies. The possible reasons for the lack of an augmented response to air jet stress in the programmed rats have been discussed above: such differences may lie in the dietary models or intervention period used.

In summary, we found few differences in the cardiovascular and autonomic responses to air jet stress between control and high fat- and high sugar-programmed rats. This is surprising because a number of other studies of programmed hypertension (O'Regan *et al.*, 2008; 2010; Igosheva *et al.*, 2004; Peyronnet *et al.*, 2002; Porter *et al.*, 2009), including models of maternal high fat diet programmed hypertension (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010; Rudyk *et al.*, 2011), have reported increases in stress-related cardiovascular function. Different gestational stressors are likely to elicit a different pattern of developmental changes in the offspring, which can explain in part the lack of effect that was observed. However an explanation of the differences between our study and that of Rudyk et al. (2011) is more complicated because both studies used a non-obesogenic high fat diet for the programming model. There are differences in the protocol of high fat exposure: our study provided a 34% fat diet to the dam

for one month prior to mating and throughout gestation, whereas Rudyk and colleagues provided a 23.6% fat diet for two weeks prior to conception, throughout gestation and also throughout lactation. The continuation of the high fat diet during the neonatal phase means that these investigators were studying the effects of *peri*-natal rather than prenatal programming and this may impact on the results. The perinatal period is a time of increased plasticity, especially for the stress system, and is therefore particularly sensitive to alterations in environment. Thus handling during the neonatal period affect behaviour in the adult, including exaggerated responses to stress (Meaney *et al.*, 1998). Thus postnatal high fat diet may have an added and substantial effect on the offspring response to stress (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2010; Rudyk *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, although we cannot suggest a mechanism to explain the differences in our results, it is possible that the different methodologies for high fat-programming may underlie these differences.

4.6 CARDIOVASCULAR AND AUTONOMIC PARAMETERS DURING DEHYDRATION

Cardiovascular parameters during physiological stress (dehydration): Disturbances in the control of fluid balance and electrolyte homeostasis are associated with hypertension (Morris, 1982). A common osmotic challenge in today's society is one that is imposed by a high salt (NaCl) diet. There are a growing number of studies that show increased prevalence of salt sensitive cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension (Adams, 2004; Weinberger, 1996; DiBona and Sawin, 1991). Moreover, a number of studies have highlighted a salt-sensitive component to programmed hypertension (Rudyk *et al.*, 2011; Sander *et al.*, 2005; Tang *et al.*, 2011; Woods *et al.*, 2001; 2004), indicating that programming may not only increase the risk of hypertension due to psychological stressors, but also physiological stressors such as osmotic challenge. To investigate the effect of an osmotic challenge we chose to use a dehydration protocol (described in **Section 2.2**). Similar to a high salt diet, dehydration causes a change in the fluid balance and electrolyte homeostasis resulting in a hyperosmotic extracellular fluid environment (Toney and Stocker, 2010), and an increase in sympathetic nerve activity (Osborn *et al.*, 2007; Toney and Stocker, 2010). Thus, dehydration may partly mimic the effect of high salt diet over a shorter time course.

In our study, the high fat programmed rats (male and female) had sustained higher blood pressure throughout the dehydration protocol, including the baseline period, the period of water deprivation and the recovery period. However, in response to dehydration both high fat and control rats showed a similar increase in SBP, suggesting that acute dehydration, resulting in a reduced, hyperosmotic extracellular fluid volume, produced similar effects in both groups. To our knowledge, there are no reports in the literature of cardiovascular responses to dehydration in programmed animals. However a study by Rudyk and colleagues (2011) showed that high fat diet programmed rats had a significant increase in blood pressure in response to salt loading, which, as discussed above evokes a similar change in plasma osmolarity. Surprisingly, in contrast to our study, there was no difference in blood pressure at rest between groups. It is hard to explain these differences between our study and that of Rudyk et al. (2011). However, there are differences in the two models, as described in section 4.5 of air jet stress. Our study used a 34% fat diet commencing 4 weeks prior to mating and terminating at parturition, while the other study used a 23.6% fat diet and commenced 2 weeks prior to mating and continued until after weaning. Therefore the study of Rudyk et al, 2011 exposed the offspring to raised fat both prenatally and postnatally. This suggests the possibility that the early neonatal environment is a crucial period in the rat for the programming of altered cardiovascular autonomic regulation. The postnatal period is of crucial importance in the rat as it is developmentally quite immature at birth and therefore processes of maturation continue during the immediate postnatal period (Patel and Srinivasan 2010). This period is characteristic of great plasticity, and thus developmental programming can occur during this time similar to in the gestation period (Ostadalova and Babickey, 2012). It is unclear as to when the developmental regulation of cardiac and autonomic responsiveness start developing in the rat. However some studies offer some clues. A study in the rat show parasympathetic innervation to the heart is first detected before birth (Marvin et al., 1980). Conversely, there is no indication of sympathetic innervation to the rat ventricle during the first week after birth (Robinson, 1996). Furthermore studies have shown developmental expression of α -1 adrenergic, β -adrenergic and muscarinic receptors in the heart appear to peak during the first and second week after birth, this period is thought to be a time of rapid maturation of innervation to the heart (Kojima et al., 1990). In addition, at the time of birth in a rat, a period of potential autonomic imbalance has been found, whereby parasympathetic innervation is already established to the heart but not sympathetic innervation (Robinson, 1996). This indicates that the postnatal period is of crucial

importance for autonomic development and any adverse insult may have negative impacts on autonomic homeostatic regulation. The extended postnatal exposure of a high fat diet in the study by Rudyk et al, 2011 may have influenced cardiac and autonomic development adversely, thus this may have lead to the increased pressor response seen to a physiological stressor, in contrast to our observations. Therefore, the phenomenon of postnatal plasticity and/or postnatal programming is important to consider when making comparisons between studies.

Our second model of high sucrose programming rats did not show any difference in blood pressure or heart rate between groups at any time point during the protocol (baseline, stress, recovery). Similar to our male high fat programmed rats, in response to dehydration both high sucrose and controls showed an increase in SBP and DBP, and this increase was similar between groups. To our knowledge, there has been no study done previously that has examined the cardiovascular responses to a physiological osmotic stress in a high sucrose programmed model. Although preliminary, our results suggest that gestational exposure to high dietary sucrose does not program an altered cardiovascular response at rest or in response to either psychological (air jet) or physiological (dehydration) stressors in the offspring.

In addition to the study on high fat programming mentioned above (Rudyk *et al.*, 2011), a number of studies using other models of programming have reported enhanced cardiovascular responses to a physiological osmotic stress, although in these cases the osmotic stress was produced by high salt diet. These include, maternal protein restriction (Wood *et al.*, 2004), gestational diabetes (Nehiri *et al.*, 2008), uterine artery ligation (Sanders *et al.*, 2005), and raised maternal glucocorticoids (Tang *et al.*, 2011). Thus, a range of maternal insults can program an exaggerated response to an osmotic stress, suggesting that there may be a common alteration in phenotype throughout a variety of different programming models. However, our results indicate that not all prenatal stressors evoke this common altered phenotype. It may be that the lack of a difference in response to dehydration between groups is because dehydration is a stronger stimulus than high salt, activating both osmoreceptors and volume receptors (due to the low blood volume). The stronger stimulus may saturate the hypertensive response, and thus mask any difference between groups. However, consistent with our results, there are a number of reports in models of programmed hypertension that failed to elicit further increases in blood pressure in response to a high salt diet (Langley-Evans *et al.*, 1996; Moritz *et al.*, 2011; Zimanyi

et al., 2004). Thus it seems that the programming paradigm does not consistently elicit a hypertensive or exaggerated response to either a psychological or physiological stressor. Further investigation is necessary to better elucidate what circumstances lead to these hypertensive responses, particularly if they pose a heightened risk for the development of overt hypertension in the long term.

The increase in blood pressure in response to dehydration is consistent with previous studies, and is believed to be due to increased sympathetic activity (Colombari *et al.*, 2011; Gardiner and Bennet, 1985; Woods and Johnston, 1983; Burnier *et al.*, 1983). Therefore, based upon the observed similarity in pressor response, we would argue that dehydration evoked a similar degree of sympathoexcitation in high fat, high sucrose and control rats. We examined non-invasive indices of autonomic function, as described in the methods, to investigate this further.

Autonomic parameters during physiological stress (dehydration): In the high fat study, there was no difference in sBRS or BEI between groups during rest or in response to dehydration in males. However, in females, although BEI was not different between groups, there was a significant difference in sBRS throughout the entire protocol (baseline, dehydration and recovery), with HFD females having a higher sBRS. Furthermore, in response to dehydration sBRS increased in HFD, but not control rats. This result is surprising in light of the HFD rats having a raised blood pressure, which is usually associated with a decrease in sBRS (Lantelme *et al.*, 1998; Waki *et al.*, 2006). Indeed, previous studies using an obesogenic high fat diet to programme hypertension also found reduced baroreflex sensitivity at rest in offspring of mothers fed an obesogenic diet (Samuelsson *et al.*, 2009). As discussed already, the protocol in this study was significantly different to ours because the pregnant dams developed obesity and also the diet was maintained during the weaning period. We are uncertain as to why there is increased sBRS, however one possibility is related to the high polyunsaturated fatty component of the high fat diet used in our study, as high polyunsaturated fatty acids have been shown to increase baroreflex sensitivity in patients following myocardial infarct (Radaelli *et al.*, 2005).

There were no significant changes in HRV and BPV between groups in the male high fat model. Interestingly female HFD rats showed an increased LF:HF ratio throughout the dehydration protocol, with a significant increase in the LF:HF ratio in response to dehydration. This increased LF:HF ratio in

HFD rats is thought to reflect a shift towards a sympathetic dominance in cardiac autonomic function (Billman, 2013). It is possible, therefore, that the increase in LF:HF ratio in the HFD females may relate to their higher blood pressure. If this were true, it would suggest that the mechanism producing raised blood pressure in the male HFD rats is different to that of the females. Such gender differences have been described previously (**see section 4.3**).

In summary, we found little difference in the cardiovascular and autonomic responses to dehydration stress between control and high fat- and high sugar-programmed rats. This is surprising as a recent study by Rudyk and colleagues (2011) has shown alterations in high salt-related function. Difference in duration of the diet by Rudyk and colleagues may partly explain the lack of effect we observed. These differences have been described extensively in **Section 4.5**.

4.7 COMPARISON OF FOS LABELLING IN HIGH SUCROSE AND CONTROL RATS

We compared Fos expression in the hypothalamus in high sucrose and control rats following air jet stress in order to determine whether there were differences in neuronal activation in response to the stress between groups. Three main regions of the hypothalamus are thought to be involved in mediating cardiovascular response to acute stressors, including the PVN, DMH and PeF. Similar to other studies that have used air jet stress (Furlong et al., 2014; Palmer and Printz, 1999), our studies showed Fos expression in these three regions. There were no differences in the number of Foslabelled nuclei between control and high sucrose rats. Our initial hypothesis was that high sucrose programmed rats would display a greater hypertensive response to air jet stress, and that such a response may lead to increased Fos expression in the hypothalamus. Considering that we did not see any major differences in cardiovascular or autonomic responses between groups during the air jet stress, it is not surprising that we did not see differences in Fos expression. We are unable to compare the Fos labelling in our high sucrose model with other studies of high sucrose programming as to our knowledge there have been no other study that have looked at Fos expression in rats following air jet stress. Indeed, no studies to date have examined Fos expression in any model of programming. However, genetic models of hypertension have found differences in Fos expression compared to normotensive controls. For example, following stress, the number of Fos-positive neurons in these

hypothalamic regions is increased in the SHR (Palmer and Printz, 1999) and in the Schlager generically hypertensive mouse (Davern *et al.*, 2010), consistent with the increased cardiovascular responses to stress in these animals. Utilization of the c-*fos* technique in other models of programming will help to identify those regions of the brain that exhibit alterations in the central processing of stress responses, such as described following gestational raised glucocorticoids (O'Regan *et al.*, 2008) or maternal hypoxia (Peyronnet *et al.*, 2002).

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the data showed that a maternal high fat diet during pregnancy results in hypertension at rest, demonstrating that the risk of developing hypertension is increased in these offspring when compared to offspring from mothers given a control diet. In response to a psychological or physiological stressor, all animals showed an increase in cardiovascular variables, however despite the high fat rats having a higher blood pressure during baseline, the magnitude of increase in cardiovascular variables were similar between groups in both male and female rats.

There is limited evidence of altered autonomic function in the high fat programmed rats in our study, despite their higher blood pressure. Evidence of autonomic differences were seen in the females, where a sustained higher blood pressure throughout the dehydration protocol was accompanied by a large increase in the low:high frequency ratio of heart rate variability. This is indicative of increased sympathetic activity. A similar change in the low:high frequency ratio of HRV was not seen in males. This suggests the possibility that at least in the female high fat programmed rats, the increase in blood pressure may be due in part to enhanced sympathetic activity. However, there were no obvious differences in autonomic responses to either air jet stress or dehydration between high fat and control animals, indicating that any increased susceptibility to hypertension in high fat programmed rats is unlikely to be due to heightened sympathetic responses to stress. Further studies are necessary to elucidate the pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie hypertension in our model of high fat programming.

In our second model, a maternal high sucrose diet failed to program hypertension in the offspring at rest or in response to either a psychological or physiological stressor. There were also no differences in autonomic function between groups at rest or in response to a psychological or physiological stressor. Therefore, this model failed to detect any detrimental effects of a maternal high sucrose intake on the cardiovascular or autonomic function in the offspring.

In relevance to humans, programming may play a pivotal role in sensitising an individual to developing hypertension as a consequence of nutrition-related factors during pregnancy. The nature of the signal that instigates foetal programming from the mother to the fetus has not been delineated. The remarkable similarity of phenotype in offspring from studies of nutritional manipulation suggests that

there is an over arching signal influencing programming in these studies. However, the mechanisms that link nutritional factors in development of hypertension remain elusive. Our studies are not strongly indicative of autonomic dysfunction in the high fat programmed hypertensive rats. Further investigations into pathways that mediate blood pressure homeostasis are required. An area that requires further research is renal ontogeny and epigenetic mechanisms. In addition, it is important to consider details of specific dietary components and methodological differences between groups when making conclusions.
REFERENCES

Adams, K. F. (2004). Pathophysiologic role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone and sympathetic nervous systems in heart failure. *American journal of health-system pharmacy*, 61(suppl 2), S4-S13.

Affleck, V. S., Coote, J. H., & Pyner, S. (2012). The projection and synaptic organisation of NTS afferent connections with presympathetic neurons, GABA and nNOS neurons in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Neuroscience*, *219*, 48-61.

Ainge, H., Thompson, C., Ozanne, S. E., & Rooney, K. B. (2010). A systematic review on animal models of maternal high fat feeding and offspring glycaemic control. *International journal of obesity*, *35*(3), 325-335.

Akselrod, S., Gordon, D., Ubel, F. A., Shannon, D. C., Berger, A. C., & Cohen, R. J. (1981). Power spectrum analysis of heart rate fluctuation: a quantitative probe of beat-to-beat cardiovascular control. *Science*, *213*(4504), 220-222.

Alexander, B. T. (2003). Placental insufficiency leads to development of hypertension in growth-restricted offspring. *Hypertension*, *41*(3), 457-462.

Allen, A. M. (2002). Inhibition of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in spontaneously hypertensive rats dramatically reduces sympathetic vasomotor tone. *Hypertension*, *39*(2), 275-280.

Alves da Silva, A., De Noronha, I. L., De Oliveira, I. B., Malheiros, D. M. C., & Heimann, J. C. (2003). Renin-angiotensin system function and blood pressure in adult rats after perinatal salt overload. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, *13*(3), 133-139.

Alves, F. H., Crestani, C. C., & Correa, F. (2010). The insular cortex modulates cardiovascular responses to acute restraint stress in rats. *Brain research*, *1333*, 57-63.

Antunes VR, Yao ST, Pickering AE, Murphy D & Paton JF (2006). A spinal vasopressinergic mechanism mediates hyperosmolality-induced sympathoexcitation. J Physiol 576, 569–583.

Antic, V., Kiener-Belforti, F., Tempini, A., Van Vliet, B. N., & Montani, J. P. (2000). Role of the sympathetic nervous system during the development of obesity-induced hypertension in rabbits. *American journal of hypertension*, *13*(5), 556-559.

Appel, L. J., Moore, T. J., Obarzanek, E., Vollmer, W. M., Svetkey, L. P., ... & Karanja, N. 1997. A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 336(16), 1117-24.

Arai, Y., Saul, J. P., Albrecht, P., Hartley, L. H., Lilly, L. S., Cohen, R. J., & Colucci, W. S. (1989). Modulation of cardiac autonomic activity during and immediately after exercise. *Am J Physiol*, 256(1 Pt 2), H132-41.

Armitage, J. A., Taylor, P. D., & Poston, L. (2005). Experimental models of developmental programming: consequences of exposure to an energy rich diet during development. *The Journal of physiology*, *565*(1), 3-8.

Armitage, J., Poston, L., & Taylor, P. (2008). Developmental origins of obesity and the metabolic syndrome: the role of maternal obesity.

Bailey, T. W., & Dimicco, J. A. (2001). Chemical stimulation of the dorsomedial hypothalamus elevates plasma ACTH in conscious rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 280(1), R8-R15.

Barker, D. J. (1998). In utero programming of chronic disease. *Clinical science*,95(2), 115-128.

Barker, D. J., & Osmond, C. (1986). Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. *Lancet, 1*(8489), 1077-1081.

Barker, D. J., Bull, A. R., Osmond, C., & Simmonds, S. J. (1990). Fetal and placental size and risk of hypertension in adult life. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 301(6746), 259.

Barker, D. J., Winter, P. D., Osmond, C., Margetts, B., & Simmonds, S. J. (1989). Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. *Lancet*, *2*(8663), 577-580.

Barone, P., Morelli, M., Cicarelli, G., Cozzolino, A., DeJoanna, G., Campanella, G., & DiChiara, G. (1993). Expression of c-fos protein in the experimental epilepsy induced by pilocarpine. *Synapse*, *14*(1), 1-9.

Barrett, C. J., Ramchandra, R., Guild, S. J., Lala, A., Budgett, D. M., & Malpas, S. C. (2003). What sets the long-term level of renal sympathetic nerve activity: a role for angiotensin II and baroreflexes? *Circulation Research*, *92*(12), 1330-1336.

Battista, M. C., Oligny, L. L., St-Louis, J., & Brochu, M. (2002). Intrauterine growth restriction in rats is associated with hypertension and renal dysfunction in adulthood. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism*,283(1), E124-E131.

Beckett, S. R., Duxon, M. S., Aspley, S. & Marsden, C. A. 1997. Central c-fos expression following 20kHz/ultrasound induced defence behaviour in the rat. Brain Res Bull, 42, 421-6.

Billman, G. E. (2013). The LF/HF ratio does not accurately measure cardiac sympatho-vagal balance. *Frontiers in physiology*, *4*.

Blessing, W. W., & Seaman, B. (2003). 5-hydroxytryptamine< sub> 2A</sub> receptors regulate sympathetic nerves constricting the cutaneous vascular bed in rabbits and rats. *Neuroscience*, *117*(4), 939-948.

Bogdarina, I., Welham, S., King, P. J., Burns, S. P., & Clark, A. J. (2007). Epigenetic modification of the renin-angiotensin system in the fetal programming of hypertension. *Circulation Research*, *100*(4), 520-526.

Boron, W. F., & Boulpaep, E. L. (2012). *Medical Physiology, 2e Updated Edition: with STUDENT CONSULT Online Access*. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Bonaz, B., & Taché, Y. (1994). Water-avoidance stress-induced c-fos expression in the rat brain and stimulation of fecal output: role of corticotropin-releasing factor. *Brain research*, *641*(1), 21-28.

Bornstein, S. R., Engeland, W. C., Ehrhart-Bornstein, M., & Herman, J. P. (2008). Dissociation of ACTH and glucocorticoids. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *19*(5), 175-180.

Boscan, P., Pickering, A. E., & Paton, J. F. (2002). The nucleus of the solitary tract: an integrating station for nociceptive and cardiorespiratory afferents. *Experimental physiology*, 87(2), 259-266.

Box, G. E., Jenkins, G. M., & Reinsel, G. C. (2013). *Time series analysis: forecasting and control.* John Wiley & Sons.

Braga, V. A., & Prabhakar, N. R. (2009). Refinement of telemetry for measuring blood pressure in conscious rats. *Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science: JAALAS*, *48*(3), 268.

Brawley, L., Itoh, S., Torrens, C., Barker, A., Bertram, C., Poston, L., & Hanson, M. (2003). Dietary protein restriction in pregnancy induces hypertension and vascular defects in rat male offspring. *Pediatric Research*,*54*(1), 83-90.

Brenner, B. M., & Chertow, G. M. (1994). Congenital oligonephropathy and the etiology of adult hypertension and progressive renal injury. *American journal of kidney diseases*, 23(2), 171-175.

Brenner, B. M., Garcia, D. L., & Anderson, S. (1988). Glomeruli and blood pressure Less of one, more the other?. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *1*(4 Pt 1), 335-347.

Bristow, J. D., Honour, A. J., Pickering, G. W., Sleight, P., & Smyth, H. S. (1969). Diminished baroreflex sensitivity in high blood pressure. *Circulation*, 39(1), 48-54.

Brody MJ (1988). Central nervous system and mechanisms of hypertension. Clin Physiol Biochem 6, 230–239

Brooks VL, Haywood JR & Johnson AK (2005). Translation of salt retention to central activation of the sympathetic nervous system in hypertension. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 32, 426–432

Broberg, C. S., Giraud, G. D., Schultz, J. M., Thornburg, K. L., Hohimer, A. R., & Davis, L. E. (2003). Fetal anemia leads to augmented contractile response to hypoxic stress in adulthood. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 285(3), R649-R655.

Brosnihan, K. B., Li, P., Ganten, D., & Ferrario, C. M. (1997). Estrogen protects transgenic hypertensive rats by shifting the vasoconstrictor-vasodilator balance of RAS. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 273(6), R1908-R1915.

Brotman, D. J., Golden, S. H., & Wittstein, I. S. (2007). The cardiovascular toll of stress. *The Lancet*, 370(9592), 1089-1100.

Bullitt, E. (1990). Expression of C-fos-like protein as a marker for neuronal activity following noxious stimulation in the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *296*(4), 517-530.

Burnier, M., Biollaz, J., Brunner, D. B., & Brunner, H. R. (1983). Blood pressure maintenance in awake dehydrated rats: renin, vasopressin, and sympathetic activity. *Am. J. Physiol*, 245, H203-H209.

Calhoun, D. A., Jones, D., Textor, S., Goff, D. C., Murphy, T. P., Toto, R. D., . . . Carey, R. M. (2008). Resistant hypertension: diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment. A scientific statement from the American Heart Association Professional Education Committee of the Council for High Blood Pressure Research. *Hypertension*, *51*(6), 1403-1419.

Callaway, L. K., Prins, J. B., Chang, A. M., & McIntyre, H. D. (2006). The prevalence and impact of overweight and obesity in an Australian obstetric population. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 184(2), 56.

Carrive, P., (2011). Central circulatory control. Psychological stress and the defense reaction. *Central Regulation of Autonomic Function*,, 220-237.

Carrive, P., & Gorissen, M. (2008). Premotor sympathetic neurons of conditioned fear in the rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(3), 428-446.

Carroll, D., Ebrahim, S., Tilling, K., Macleod, J., & Smith, G. D. (2002). Admissions for myocardial infarction and World Cup football: database survey.*Bmj*, *325*(7378), 1439-1442.

Casolo, G. C., Stroder, P., Sulla, A., Chelucci, A., Freni, A., & Zerauschek, M. (1995). Heart rate variability and functional severity of congestive heart failure secondary to coronary artery disease. *European heart journal*, *16*(3), 360-367.

Caubet, J. F. (1989). c-fos proto-oncogene expression in the nervous system during mouse development. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *9*(5), 2269-2272.

Ceccatelli, S., Villar, M. J., Goldstein, M., & Hökfelt, T. (1989). Expression of c-Fos immunoreactivity in transmitter-characterized neurons after stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *86*(23), 9569-9573.

Celsi, G., Kistner, A., Aizman, R., EklÖF, A. C., Ceccatelli, S., De Santiago, A., & Jacobson, S. H. (1998). Prenatal dexamethasone causes oligonephronia, sodium retention, and higher blood pressure in the offspring. *Pediatric research*,44(3), 317-322.

Cerutti, C., Barres, C., & Paultre, C. (1994). Baroreflex modulation of blood pressure and heart rate variabilities in rats: assessment by spectral analysis. *American Journal of Physiology*-*Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *35*(5), H1993.

Challier, J. C., Basu, S., Bintein, T., Minium, J., Hotmire, K., Catalano, P. M., & Hauguel-de Mouzon, S. (2008). Obesity in pregnancy stimulates macrophage accumulation and inflammation in the placenta. *Placenta*, *29*(3), 274-281.

Chen QH & Toney GM (2001). AT1-receptor blockade in the hypothalamic PVN reduces central hyperosmolality-induced renal sympathoexcitation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 281, R1844–R1853

Ciok, J., & Dolna, A. (2005). [The role of glycemic index concept in carbohydrate metabolism]. *Przegląd lekarski*, 63(5), 287-291.

Clement, D. L., Pelletier, C. L., & Shepherd, J. T. (1972). Role of vagal afferents in the control of renal sympathetic nerve activity in the rabbit. *Circulation research*, *31*(6), 824-830.

Collister, J. P., Nahey, D. B., Hendel, M. D., & Brooks, V. L. (2014). Roles of the subfornical organ and area postrema in arterial pressure increases induced by 48-h water deprivation in normal rats. *Physiological reports*, *2*(1).

Colombari, D. S., Colombari, E., Freiria-Oliveira, A. H., Antunes, V. R., Yao, S. T., Hindmarch, C., ... & Paton, J. F. (2011). Switching control of sympathetic activity from forebrain to hindbrain in chronic dehydration. *The Journal of physiology*, *589*(18), 4457-4471.

Conway, J. (1984). Hemodynamic aspects of essential hypertension in humans. *Physiological Reviews*, *64*(2), 617-660.

Coote, J. H., Yang, Z., Pyner, S., & Deering, J. (1998). Control of sympathetic outflows by the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology*, 25(6), 461-463.

Corsinovi, L., Biasi, F., Poli, G., Leonarduzzi, G., & Isaia, G. (2011). Dietary lipids and their oxidized products in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, *55*(S2), S161-SS172.

Coumel, P. (1994). Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a disorder of autonomic tone?. *European heart journal*, *15*(suppl A), 9-16.

Couvreur, O., Ferezou, J., Gripois, D., Serougne, C., Crépin, D., Aubourg, A., ... & Taouis, M. (2011). Unexpected long-term protection of adult offspring born to high-fat fed dams against obesity induced by a sucrose-rich diet. *PloS one*,6(3), e18043.

Critchley, H. D., Elliott, R., Mathias, C. J., & Dolan, R. J. (2000). Neural activity relating to generation and representation of galvanic skin conductance responses: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *20*(8), 3033-3040.

Curran, T., MacConnelL, W. P., van Straaten, F. L. I. P., & Verma, I. M. (1983). Structure of the FBJ murine osteosarcoma virus genome: molecular cloning of its associated helper virus and the cellular homolog of the v-fos gene from mouse and human cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *3*(5), 914-921.

Dampney, R. A. L., & Horiuchi, J. (2003). Functional organisation of central cardiovascular pathways: studies using c-fos gene expression. *Progress in neurobiology*, *71*(5), 359-384.

Dampney, R. A. L., Horiuchi, J., & McDowall, L. M. (2008). Hypothalamic mechanisms coordinating cardiorespiratory function during exercise and defensive behaviour. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, *142*(1), 3-10.

Dampney, R. A., Coleman, M. J., Fontes, M. A., Hirooka, Y., Horiuchi, J., ... & Tagawa, T. (2002). Central mechanisms underlying short- and long-term regulation of the cardiovascular system. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, *29*(4), 261-268.

Davis, E. P., & Sandman, C. A. (2010). The timing of prenatal exposure to maternal cortisol and psychosocial stress is associated with human infant cognitive development. *Child Development*, *81*(1), 131-148.

Davis, L., Roullet, J. B., Thornburg, K. L., Shokry, M., Hohimer, A. R., & Giraud, G. D. (2003). Augmentation of coronary conductance in adult sheep made anaemic during fetal life. *The Journal of physiology*, *547*(1), 53-59.

De Kloet, E. R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M. S., & Joels, M. (1998). Brain Corticosteroid Receptor Balance in Health and Disease 1. *Endocrine reviews*, *19*(3), 269-301.

DeMarco, V. G., Aroor, A. R., & Sowers, J. R. (2014). The pathophysiology of hypertension in patients with obesity. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*.

Di Rienzo, M., Parati, G., Castiglioni, P., Tordi, R., Mancia, G., & Pedotti, A. (2001). Baroreflex effectiveness index: an additional measure of baroreflex control of heart rate in daily life. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 280(3), R744-R751.

Dibona, G. F. (2002). Sympathetic nervous system and the kidney in hypertension. *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*, *11*(2), 197-200.

Dibona, G. F., & Sawin, L. L. (1991). Role of renal nerves in sodium retention of cirrhosis and congestive heart failure. *Am J Physiol*, *260*(2 Pt 2), R298-305.

DiMicco, J. A., Samuels, B. C., Zaretskaia, M. V., & Zaretsky, D. V. (2002). The dorsomedial hypothalamus and the response to stress: part renaissance, part revolution. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *71*(3), 469-480.

Dinneen, S. F. (1997). The postprandial state: mechanisms of glucose intolerance. *Diabetic medicine*, *14*(S3), S19-S24.

Dobrian, A. D., Davies, M. J., Schriver, S. D., Lauterio, T. J., & Prewitt, R. L. (2001). Oxidative stress in a rat model of obesity-induced hypertension. *Hypertension*, *37*(2), 554-560.

Dodic, M., Peers, A., Coghlan, J. P., May, C. N., Lumbers, E., Yu, Z. Y., & Wintour, E. M. (1999). Altered cardiovascular haemodynamics and baroreceptor-heart rate reflex in adult sheep after prenatal exposure to dexamethasone. *Clinical Science*, *97*, 103-109.

Dodic, M., Samuel, C., Moritz, K., Wintour, E. M., Morgan, J., Grigg, L., & Wong, J. (2001). Impaired cardiac functional reserve and left ventricular hypertrophy in adult sheep after prenatal dexamethasone exposure. *Circulation research*, *89*(7), 623-629.

Dowell, R. T., & Houdi, A. A. (1997). Aortic peak flow velocity as an index of myocardial contractility in the conscious rat. *Methods and findings in experimental and clinical pharmacology*, *19*(8), 533-539.

Dragunow, M., & Faull, R. (1989). The use of< i> c-fos</i> as a metabolic marker in neuronal pathway tracing. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 29(3), 261-265.

Dragunow, M., & Robertson, H. A. (1988). Localization and induction of c-fos protein-like immunoreactive material in the nuclei of adult mammalian neurons. *Brain research*, 440(2), 252-260.

Drake, A. J., & Reynolds, R. M. (2010). Impact of maternal obesity on offspring obesity and cardiometabolic disease risk. *Reproduction*, *140*(3), 387-398.

Droste, S. K., de Groote, L., Atkinson, H. C., Lightman, S. L., Reul, J. M., & Linthorst, A. C. (2008). Corticosterone levels in the brain show a distinct ultradian rhythm but a delayed response to forced swim stress. *Endocrinology*, *149*(7), 3244-3253.

Eilam, R., Malach, R., Bergmann, F., & Segal, M. (1991). Hypertension induced by hypothalamic transplantation from genetically hypertensive to normotensive rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 401-411.

Eisenhofer, G., Friberg, P., Rundqvist, B., Quyyumi, A. A., Lambert, G., Kaye, D. M., ... & Esler, M. D. (1996). Cardiac sympathetic nerve function in congestive heart failure. *Circulation*, *93*(9), 1667-1676.

Englund-Ögge, L., Brantsæter, A. L., Haugen, M., Sengpiel, V., Khatibi, A., Myhre, R., ... & Jacobsson, B. (2012). Association between intake of artificially sweetened and sugar-sweetened beverages and preterm delivery: a large prospective cohort study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 96(3), 552-559.

Entringer, S., Buss, C., Swanson, J. M., Cooper, D. M., Wing, D. A., Waffarn, F., & Wadhwa, P. D. (2012). Fetal programming of body composition, obesity, and metabolic function: the role of intrauterine stress and stress biology. *Journal of nutrition and metabolism*, *2012*.

Esler, M. D., Eikelis, N., Lambert, E., & Straznicky, N. (2008). Neural mechanisms and management of obesity-related hypertension. *Current cardiology reports*, *10*(6), 456-463.

Esler, M., Straznicky, N., Eikelis, N., Masuo, K., Lambert, G., & Lambert, E. (2006). Mechanisms of sympathetic activation in obesity-related hypertension.*Hypertension*, *48*(5), 787-796.

Falkner, B., Hulman, S., & Kushner, H. (2004). Effect of birth weight on blood pressure and body size in early adolescence. *Hypertension*, *43*(2), 203-207.

Felder, R. B. et al. Heart failure and the brain: new perspectives. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 284, R259–R276 (2003).

Férézou-Viala, J., Roy, A. F., Sérougne, C., Gripois, D., Parquet, M., Bailleux, V., ... & Taouis, M. (2007). Long-term consequences of maternal high-fat feeding on hypothalamic leptin sensitivity and diet-induced obesity in the offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 293(3), R1056-R1062.

Fermino, R. C., Seabra, A., Garganta, R., & Maia, J. A. (2009). Genetic factors in familial aggregation of blood pressure of Portuguese nuclear families. *Arquivos Brasileiros De Cardiologia*, *92*(3), 199-204, 203-199.

Fisher, R. E., Steele, M., & Karrow, N. A. (2012). Fetal programming of the neuroendocrineimmune system and metabolic disease. *Journal of pregnancy*, 2012.

Floras, J. S. (2013). Blood pressure variability: a novel and important risk factor. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *29*(5), 557-563.

Flynn, E. R., Alexander, B. T., Lee, J., Hutchens Jr, Z. M., & Maric-Bilkan, C. (2013). High-fat/fructose feeding during prenatal and postnatal development in female rats increases susceptibility to renal and metabolic injury later in life.*American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 304(4), R278-R285.

Fontes, M. A. P., Tagawa, T., Polson, J. W., Cavanagh, S. J., & Dampney, R. A. L. (2001). Descending pathways mediating cardiovascular response from dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 280(6), H2891-H2901.

Ford, S. P., Zhang, L., Zhu, M., Miller, M. M., Smith, D. T., Hess, B. W., ... & Nijland, M. J. (2009). Maternal obesity accelerates fetal pancreatic β -cell but not α -cell development in sheep: prenatal consequences. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 297(3), R835-R843.

Franco, J. G., Fernandes, T. P., Rocha, C. P. D., Calvino, C., Pazos-Moura, C. C., Lisboa, P. C., ... & Trevenzoli, I. H. (2012). Maternal high-fat diet induces obesity and adrenal and thyroid dysfunction in male rat offspring at weaning. *The Journal of physiology*, *590*(21), 5503-5518.

Franco, M. C. P., Dantas, A. P. V., Akamine, E. H., Kawamoto, E. M., Fortes, Z. B., Scavone, C., ... & Nigro, D. (2002). Enhanced oxidative stress as a potential mechanism underlying the programming of hypertension in utero. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, *40*(4), 501-509.

Franco, M. C., Kawamoto, E. M., Gorjão, R., Rastelli, V. M., Curi, R., Scavone, C., ... & Sesso, R. (2007). Biomarkers of oxidative stress and antioxidant status in children born small for gestational age: evidence of lipid peroxidation. *Pediatric research*, *62*(2), 204-208.

Fuentes, R. M., Notkola, I. L., Shemeikka, S., Tuomilehto, J., & Nissinen, A. (2000). Familial aggregation of blood pressure: a population-based family study in eastern Finland. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, *14*(7), 441-445.

Furlong, T. M., McDowall, L. M., Horiuchi, J., Polson, J. W., & Dampney, R. A. (2014). The effect of air puff stress on c-Fos expression in rat hypothalamus and brainstem: central circuitry mediating sympathoexcitation and baroreflex resetting. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *39*(9), 1429-1438.

Furlong, T. M., Vianna, D. M., Liu, L., & Carrive, P. (2009). Hypocretin/orexin contributes to the expression of some but not all forms of stress and arousal.*European Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(8), 1603-1614.

Gardiner, S. M., & Bennett, T. (1985). Interactions between neural mechanisms, the reninangiotensin system and vasopressin in the maintenance of blood pressure during water deprivation: studies in Long Evans and Brattleboro rats. *Clinical Science*, *68*, 647-657.

Gebber, GL; Zhong, S; Lewis, C; (2000) Defenselike patterns of spinal sympathetic outflow involving the 10-Hz and cardiac-related rhythms. Am J Physiol-Reg 278: R1616-R1626 .

Gil-Sánchez, A., Larqué, E., Demmelmair, H., Acien, M. I., Faber, F. L., Parrilla, J. J., & Koletzko, B. (2010). Maternal-fetal in vivo transfer of [13C] docosahexaenoic and other fatty acids across the human placenta 12 h after maternal oral intake. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 92(1), 115-122.

Girod, J. P. & Brotman, D. J. 2004. Does altered glucocorticoid homeostasis increase cardiovascular risk? Cardiovasc Res, 64, 217-26.

Giussani, D. A., Camm, E. J., Niu, Y., Richter, H. G., Blanco, C. E., Gottschalk, R., ... & Herrera, E. A. (2012). Developmental programming of cardiovascular dysfunction by prenatal hypoxia and oxidative stress. *PloS one*,7(2), e31017.

Gluckman, P. D., & Hanson, M. A. (2004). Developmental origins of disease paradigm: a mechanistic and evolutionary perspective. *Pediatric research*, *56*(3), 311-317.

Gonzalez-Rodriguez, P. J., Xiong, F., Li, Y., Zhou, J., & Zhang, L. (2014). Fetal hypoxia increases vulnerability of hypoxic–ischemic brain injury in neonatal rats: Role of glucocorticoid receptors. *Neurobiology of disease*, *65*, 172-179.

Grassi, G., Seravalle, G., & Quarti-Trevano, F. (2010). The 'neuroadrenergic hypothesis' in hypertension: current evidence. *Experimental physiology*, *95*(5), 581-586.

Greenberg, J. H., Reivich, M., Alavi, A., Hand, P., Rosenquist, A., Rintelmann, W., ... & Wolf, A. (1981). Metabolic mapping of functional activity in human subjects with the [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose technique. *Science*, *212*(4495), 678-680.

Greenberg, M. E., Greene, L. A., & Ziff, E. B. (1985). Nerve growth factor and epidermal growth factor induce rapid transient changes in proto-oncogene transcription in PC12 cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 260(26), 14101-14110.

Greenberg, M. E., Ziff, E. B., & Greene, L. A. (1986). Stimulation of neuronal acetylcholine receptors induces rapid gene transcription. *Science*, 234(4772), 80-83.

Grigore, D., Ojeda, N. B., Robertson, E. B., Dawson, A. S., Huffman, C. A., Bourassa, E. A., ... & Alexander, B. T. (2007). Placental insufficiency results in temporal alterations in the renin angiotensin system in male hypertensive growth restricted offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 293(2), R804-R811.

Guyenet, P. G. (2006). The sympathetic control of blood pressure. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7(5), 335-346.

Guyton AC & Coleman TG (1967). Long-term Regulation of the Circulation: Interrelationships with Body Fluid Volumes. W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia.

Haby, C., Lisovoski, F., Aunis, D., & Zwiller, J. (1994). Stimulation of the Cyclic GMP Pathway by NO Induces Expression of the Immediate Early Genes c-fos and junB in PC12 Cells. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 62(2), 496-501.

Hajer, G. R., van Haeften, T. W., & Visseren, F. L. (2008). Adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity, diabetes, and vascular diseases. *European heart journal*,29(24), 2959-2971.

Hajjar, I., & Kotchen, T. A. (2003). Trends in prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in the United States, 1988-2000. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 290(2), 199-206.

Hall, J. E. (1991). Control of blood pressure by the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. *Clinical cardiology*, *14*(8 Suppl 4), IV6-21.

Hamalainen, H., Paalosmaa-Puusa, P., Seppanen, R., Rastas, M., Knuts, L. R., & Voipio-Pulkki, L. M. (2000). Feasibility of, and success in adopting a low-fat diet in coronary patients. *Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *32*(4), 180-186.

Hamlin, R. L., & del Rio, C. (2012). dP/dt max - A measure of 'baroinometry'. *Journal of pharmacological and toxicological methods*, 66(2), 63-65.

Hansson, J. H., Nelson-Williams, C., Suzuki, H., Schild, L., Shimkets, R., Lu, Y., . . . Lifton, R. P. (1995). Hypertension caused by a truncated epithelial sodium channel gamma subunit: genetic heterogeneity of Liddle syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, *11*(1), 76-82.

Hansson, J. H., Nelson-Williams, C., Suzuki, H., Schild, L., Shimkets, R., ... & Lifton, R. P. (1995). Hypertension caused by a truncated epithelial sodium channel gamma subunit: genetic heterogeneity of Liddle syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, *11*(1), 76-82.

HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group. (2009). Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy outcome (HAPO) study Associations with neonatal anthropometrics. *Diabetes*, *58*(2), 453-459.

Herrera, D. G. & Robertson, H. A. 1996. Activation of c-fos in the brain. Prog Neurobiol, 50, 83-107.

Harrison-Bernard, L. M., Schulman, I. H., & Raij, L. (2003). Postovariectomy hypertension is linked to increased renal AT1 receptor and salt sensitivity. *Hypertension*, *42*(6), 1157-1163.

Harrison, N. A., Gray, M. A., Gianaros, P. J., & Critchley, H. D. (2010). The embodiment of emotional feelings in the brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(38), 12878-12884.

Hawkins, P., Steyn, C., McGarrigle, H. H. G., Calder, N. A., Saito, T., Stratford, L. L., ... & Hanson, M. A. (2001). Cardiovascular and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis development in late gestation fetal sheep and young lambs following modest maternal nutrient restriction in early gestation. *Reproduction, fertility and development*, *12*(8), 443-464.

Head, G. A., Lim, K., Barzel, B., Burke, S. L., & Davern, P. J. (2014). Central Nervous System Dysfunction in Obesity-Induced Hypertension. *Current hypertension reports*, *16*(9), 1-8.

Henquet, J. W., van Baak, M., Schols, M., & Rahn, K. H. (1982). Studies on the autonomic nervous system in borderline hypertension. *European Journal Clinical Pharmacology*, 22(4), 285-288.

Henry, J. P., Liu, Y. Y., Nadra, W. E., Qian, C. G., Mormede, P., Lemaire, V., ... & Hendley, E. D. (1993). Psychosocial stress can induce chronic hypertension in normotensive strains of rats. *Hypertension*, *21*(5), 714-723.

Henry, S. L., Barzel, B., Wood-Bradley, R. J., Burke, S. L., Head, G. A., & Armitage, J. A. (2012). Developmental origins of obesity-related hypertension. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 39(9), 799-806.

Herbert, J., Goodyer, I. M., Grossman, A. B., Hastings, M. H., De Kloet, E. R., Lightman, S. L., ... & Seckl, J. R. (2006). Do corticosteroids damage the brain?. *Journal of neuroendocrinology*, *18*(6), 393-411.

Hess, W. R., & Brügger, M. (1943). Das subkortikale Zentrum der affektiven Abwehrreaktion. *Helvetica Physiologica et Pharmacologica Acta*.

Heusser, K., Tank, J., Luft, F. C., & Jordan, J. (2005). Baroreflex failure. *Hypertension*, 45(5), 834-839.

Hilton, S. M. (1965). Hypothalamic control of the cardiovascular responses in fear and rage. *The scientific basis of medicine annual reviews*, 217.

Hilton, S. M. (1982). The defence-arousal system and its relevance for circulatory and respiratory control. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *100*(1), 159-174.

Hinojosa-Laborde, C., Craig, T., Zheng, W., Ji, H., Haywood, J. R., & Sandberg, K. (2004). Ovariectomy augments hypertension in aging female Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *Hypertension*, *44*(4), 405-409.

Hoffman, G. E., Smith, M. S., & Verbalis, J. G. (1993). c-Fos and related immediate early gene products as markers of activity in neuroendocrine systems. *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology*, *14*(3), 173-213.

Horiuchi, J., McAllen, R. M., Allen, A. M., Killinger, S., Fontes, M. A., & Dampney, R. A. (2004). Descending vasomotor pathways from the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus: role of medullary raphe and RVLM. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 287(4), R824-R832.

Houle, M. S., & Billman, G. E. (1999). Low-frequency component of the heart rate variability spectrum: a poor marker of sympathetic activity. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 276(1), H215-H223.

Howie, G. J., Sloboda, D. M., Kamal, T., & Vickers, M. H. (2009). Maternal nutritional history predicts obesity in adult offspring independent of postnatal diet. *The Journal of physiology*, *587*(4), 905-915.

Huang, J. L., Chiou, C. W., Ting, C. T., Chen, Y. T., & Chen, S. A. (2001). Sudden changes in heart rate variability during the 1999 Taiwan earthquake. *The American journal of cardiology*, 87(2), 245-248.

Huetteman, D. A., & Bogie, H. (2009). Direct blood pressure monitoring in laboratory rodents via implantable radio telemetry. In *Cardiovascular Genomics*(pp. 57-73). Humana Press.

Huxley, R. R., Shiell, A. W., & Law, C. M. (2000). The role of size at birth and postnatal catch-up growth in determining systolic blood pressure: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of hypertension*, *18*(7), 815-831.

Huxley, R., Neil, A., & Collins, R. (2002). Unravelling the fetal origins hypothesis: is there really an inverse association between birthweight and subsequent blood pressure?. *The Lancet*, *360*(9334), 659-665.

Igosheva, N., Klimova, O., Anishchenko, T., & Glover, V. (2004). Prenatal stress alters cardiovascular responses in adult rats. *The Journal of physiology*, *557*(1), 273-285.

Intapad, S., Ojeda, N. B., Dasinger, J. H., & Alexander, B. T. (2014). Sex Differences in the Developmental Origins of Cardiovascular Disease. *Physiology*,29(2), 122-132.

Intapad, S., Tull, F. L., Brown, A. D., Dasinger, J. H., Ojeda, N. B., Fahling, J. M., & Alexander, B. T. (2013). Renal denervation abolishes the age-dependent increase in blood pressure in female intrauterine growth-restricted rats at 12 months of age. *Hypertension*, *61*(4), 828-834.

Ismail, A. I., Tanzer, J. M., & Dingle, J. L. (1997). Current trends of sugar consumption in developing societies. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, *25*(6), 438-443.

Ito, S., Hiratsuka, M., Komatsu, K., Tsukamoto, K., Kanmatsuse, K., & Sved, A. F. (2003). Ventrolateral medulla AT1 receptors support arterial pressure in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *Hypertension*, *41*(2), 744-750.

Ito, S., Komatsu, K., Tsukamoto, K., Kanmatsuse, K., & Sved, A. F. (2002). Ventrolateral medulla AT1 receptors support blood pressure in hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, *40*(4), 552-559.

Jackson, A. A., Dunn, R. L., Marchand, M. C., & Langley-Evans, S. C. (2002). Increased systolic blood pressure in rats induced by a maternal low-protein diet is reversed by dietary supplementation with glycine. *Clinical Science*, *103*(6), 633-639.

Jeunemaitre, X., Soubrier, F., Kotelevtsev, Y. V., Lifton, R. P., Williams, C. S., ... & Charru, A. (1992). Molecular basis of human hypertension: role of angiotensinogen. *Cell*, *71*(1), 169-180.

Johnson, C. M., Hill, C. S., Chawla, S., Treisman, R., & Bading, H. (1997). Calcium controls gene expression via three distinct pathways that can function independently of the Ras/mitogenactivated protein kinases (ERKs) signaling cascade. *The Journal of neuroscience*, *17*(16), 6189-6202.

Jones, J. E., Jurgens, J. A., Evans, S. A., Ennis, R. C., Villar, V. A., & Jose, P. A. (2012). Mechanisms of fetal programming in hypertension. *International Journal of Pediatrics*, 2012, 584831.

Jousilahti, P., Vartiainen, E., Tuomilehto, J., & Puska, P. (1999). Sex, age, cardiovascular risk factors, and coronary heart disease A prospective follow-up study of 14 786 middle-aged men and women in Finland. *Circulation*, 99(9), 1165-1172.

Judy, W. V., Watanabe, A. M., Henry, D. P., Besch, H. R., Jr., Murphy, W. R., & Hockel, G. M. (1976). Sympathetic nerve activity: role in regulation of blood pressure in the spontaenously hypertensive rat. *Circulation Research*, *38*(2), 21-29.

Julius, S. (1993). Corcoran Lecture. Sympathetic hyperactivity and coronary risk in hypertension. *Hypertension*, *21*(6 Pt 2), 886-893.

Julius, S., & Nesbitt, S. (1996). Sympathetic overactivity in hypertension a moving target. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 9(S4), 113S-120S.

Kanarek, R. B., & Orthen-Gambill, N. (1982). Differential effects of sucrose, fructose and glucose on carbohydrate-induced obesity in rats. *The Journal of nutrition*, *112*(8), 1546-1554.

Kanbar, R., Oréa, V., Barres, C., & Julien, C. (2007). Baroreflex control of renal sympathetic nerve activity during air-jet stress in rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 292(1), R362-R367.

Kandel, E. R., Schwartz, J. H., & Jessell, T. M. (Eds.). (2000). *Principles of neural science* (Vol. 4, pp. 1227-1246). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Karim, F., Kidd, C., Malpus, C. M., & Penna, P. E. (1972). The effects of stimulation of the left atrial receptors on sympathetic efferent nerve activity. *The Journal of physiology*, 227(1), 243-260.

Kasuga, M. (2006). Insulin resistance and pancreatic β cell failure. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(7), 1756-1760.

Kay, S. M., & Marple Jr, S. L. (1981). Spectrum analysis—a modern perspective. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 69(11), 1380-1419.

Kelso, J. S. (1997). Dynamic patterns: The self-organization of brain and behavior. MIT press.

Kett, M. M., & Bertram, J. F. (2004). Nephron endowment and blood pressure: what do we really know?. *Current hypertension reports*, 6(2), 133-139.

Khan, I. Y., Taylor, P. D., Dekou, V., Seed, P. T., Lakasing, L., Graham, D., ... & Poston, L. (2003). Gender-linked hypertension in offspring of lard-fed pregnant rats. *Hypertension*, *41*(1), 168-175.

Kirk, S. L., Samuelsson, A. M., Argenton, M., Dhonye, H., Kalamatianos, T., Poston, L., ... & Coen, C. W. (2009). Maternal obesity induced by diet in rats permanently influences central processes regulating food intake in offspring.*PloS one*, *4*(6), e5870.

Kivimäki, M., Leino-Arjas, P., Luukkonen, R., Riihimäi, H., Vahtera, J., & Kirjonen, J. (2002). Work stress and risk of cardiovascular mortality: prospective cohort study of industrial employees. *Bmj*, 325(7369), 857.

Kotsis, V., Stabouli, S., Pitiriga, V., Toumanidis, S., Papamichael, C., & Zakopoulos, N. (2006). Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring and target organ damage: effects of age and sex. *Blood pressure monitoring*, *11*(1), 9-15.

Koukkou, E., Ghosh, P., Lowy, C., & Poston, L. (1998). Offspring of normal and diabetic rats fed saturated fat in pregnancy demonstrate vascular dysfunction. *Circulation*, *98*(25), 2899-2904.

Kubota, Y., Umegaki, K., Kagota, S., Tanaka, N., Nakamura, K., Kunitomo, M., & Shinozuka, K. (2006). Evaluation of blood pressure measured by tail-cuff methods (without heating) in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, *29*(8), 1756-1758.

Kurtz, T. W., Morris, R. C., & Pershadsingh, H. A. (1989). The Zucker fatty rat as a genetic model of obesity and hypertension. *Hypertension*, *13*(6 Pt 2), 896-901.

Labiner, D. M., Butler, L. S., Cao, Z., Hosford, D. A., Shin, C. H. E. O. L. S. U., & McNamara, J. O. (1993). Induction of c-fos mRNA by kindled seizures: complex relationship with neuronal burst firing. *The Journal of neuroscience*, *13*(2), 744-751.

Lamireau, D., Nuyt, A. M., Hou, X., Bernier, S., Beauchamp, M., Gobeil, F., ... & Chemtob, S. (2002). Altered vascular function in fetal programming of hypertension. *Stroke*, *33*(12), 2992-2998.

Langley-Evans, S. C. (2000). Critical differences between two low protein diet protocols in the programming of hypertension in the rat. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*, *51*(1), 11-17.

Langley-Evans, S. C. (2006). Developmental programming of health and disease. *Proceedings of Nutrition Society*, *65*(1), 97-105.

Langley-Evans, S. C., & Jackson, A. A. (1996). Rats with hypertension induced by in utero exposure to maternal low-protein diets fail to increase blood pressure in response to a high salt intake. *Annals of nutrition and metabolism*, 40(1), 1-9.

Langley-Evans, S. C., Langley-Evans, A. J., & Marchand, M. C. (2003). Nutritional programming of blood pressure and renal morphology. *Archives of physiology and biochemistry*, *111*(1), 8-16.

Langley, S. C., & Jackson, A. A. (1994). Increased systolic blood pressure in adult rats induced by fetal exposure to maternal low protein diets. *Clinical science*, *86*(2), 217-222.

Lantelme, P., Cerutti, C., Lo, M., Paultre, C. Z., & Ducher, M. (1998). Mechanisms of spontaneous baroreflex impairment in Iyon hypertensive rats. *American Journal of Physiology*, 275(3), 920-925.

Law, C. M., & Shiell, A. W. (1996). Is blood pressure inversely related to birth weight? The strength of evidence from a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of hypertension*, *14*(8), 935-942.

Lawler, J. E., Cox, R. H., Sanders, B. J., & Mitchell, V. P. (1988). The borderline hypertensive rat: A model for studying the mechanisms of environmentally induced hypertension. *Health Psychology*, 7(2), 137.

Lemaire, V., Koehl, M., Le Moal, M., & Abrous, D. N. (2000). Prenatal stress produces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(20), 11032-11037.

Leor, J., Kloner, R. A., & Investigators, T. (1996). The Northridge earthquake as a trigger for acute myocardial infarction. *The American journal of cardiology*,77(14), 1230-1232.

Leotta, G., Rabbia, F., Milan, A., Mulatero, P., & Veglio, F. (2007). Effects of birth weight on spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity in adult life. *Nutrition, metabolism and cardiovascular diseases*, *17*(4), 303-310.

Li, D., Weisinger, H. S., Weisinger, R. S., Mathai, M., Armitage, J. A., Vingrys, A. J., & Sinclair, A. J. (2006). Omega 6 to omega 3 fatty acid imbalance early in life leads to persistent reductions in DHA levels in glycerophospholipids in rat hypothalamus even after long-term omega 3 fatty acid repletion. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids*, *74*(6), 391-399.

Li, Y. W., & Dampney, R. A. L. (1994). Expression of Fos-like protein in brain following sustained hypertension and hypotension in conscious rabbits.*Neuroscience*, *61*(3), 613-634.

Li, Z., Snieder, H., Su, S., Harshfield, G. A., Treiber, F. A., & Wang, X. (2010). A longitudinal study of blood pressure variability in African–American and European American youth. *Journal of hypertension*, *28*(4), 715.

Lisle, S. J. M., Lewis, R. M., Petry, C. J., Ozanne, S. E., Hales, C. N., & Forhead, A. J. (2003). Effect of maternal iron restriction during pregnancy on renal morphology in the adult rat offspring. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *90*(01), 33-39.

Lohmeier, T. E., & Iliescu, R. (2011). Chronic lowering of blood pressure by carotid baroreflex activation: mechanisms and potential for hypertension therapy. *Hypertension*, *57*(5), 880-886.

Lopes, H. F., Silva, H. B., Consolim-Colombo, F. M., Barreto Filho, J. A., Riccio, G. M., Giorgi, D. M., & Krieger, E. M. (2000). Autonomic abnormalities demonstrable in young normotensive subjects who are children of hypertensive parents. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 33(1), 51-54.

Loria, A. S., Yamamoto, T., Pollock, D. M., & Pollock, J. S. (2013). Early life stress induces renal dysfunction in adult male rats but not female rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 304(2), R121-R129.

Lovick, T. A., & Coote, J. H. (1988). Effects of volume loading on paraventriculo-spinal neurones in the rat. *Journal of the autonomic nervous system*, *25*(2), 135-140.

Lucini, D., Norbiato, G., Clerici, M., & Pagani, M. (2002). Hemodynamic and autonomic adjustments to real life stress conditions in humans. *Hypertension*, *39*(1), 184-188.

Lustig, R. H. (2010). Obesity before birth: maternal and prenatal influences on the offspring (Vol. 30). Springer.

Macia, L., Delacre, M., Abboud, G., Ouk, T. S., Delanoye, A., Verwaerde, C., ... & Wolowczuk, I. (2006). Impairment of dendritic cell functionality and steady-state number in obese mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, 177(9), 5997-6006.

Mackenzie, H. S., Lawler, E. V., & Brenner, B. M. (1996). Congenital oligonephropathy: The fetal flaw in essential hypertension?. *Kidney international. Supplement*, *55*, S30-4.

Magalhães, J. C. G., Da Silveira, A. B., Mota, D. L., & Paixão, A. D. O. (2006). Renal function in juvenile rats subjected to prenatal malnutrition and chronic salt overload. *Experimental physiology*, *91*(3), 611-619.

Malik, M., Bigger, J. T., Camm, A. J., Kleiger, R. E., Malliani, A., Moss, A. J., & Schwartz, P. J. (1996). Heart rate variability standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. *European heart journal*, *17*(3), 354-381.

Malik, V. S., Popkin, B. M., Bray, G. A., Després, J. P., & Hu, F. B. (2010). Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. *Circulation*, *121*(11), 1356-1364.

Malik, V. S., Popkin, B. M., Bray, G. A., Després, J. P., Willett, W. C., & Hu, F. B. (2010). Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Risk of Metabolic Syndrome and Type 2 Diabetes A metaanalysis. *Diabetes care*, 33(11), 2477-2483.

Malik, V. S., Schulze, M. B., & Hu, F. B. (2006). Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, *84*(2), 274-288.

Malliani, A., Pagani, M., Lombardi, F., & Cerutti, S. (1991). Cardiovascular neural regulation explored in the frequency domain. *Circulation*, *84*(2), 482-492.

Malpas, S. C. (2002). Neural influences on cardiovascular variability: possibilities and pitfalls. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 282(1), H6-H20.

Mancia, G. & Grassi, G. 1999. Rationale for the use of a fixed combination in the treatment of hypertension. *European Heart Journal*, 1, 14–9.

Mancia, G., & Parati, G. (2003). The role of blood pressure variability in end-organ damage. *Journal of Hypertension*, *21*, S17-S23.

Manning, J., Beutler, K., Knepper, M. A., & Vehaskari, V. M. (2002). Upregulation of renal BSC1 and TSC in prenatally programmed hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 283(1), F202-F206.

Mansi, J. A., & Drolet, G. (1997). Chronic stress induces sensitization in sympathoadrenal responses to stress in borderline hypertensive rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, *41*(3), R813.

Maria do Carmo, P. F., Arruda, R. M. M., Dantas, A. P. V., Kawamoto, E. M., Fortes, Z. B., Scavone, C., ... & Nigro, D. (2002). Intrauterine undernutrition: expression and activity of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase in male and female adult offspring. *Cardiovascular research*, *56*(1), 145-153.

Martinez-Lavin, M. (2007). Stress, the stress response system, and fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 9(4), 216.

Mazzucco, M. B., Higa, R., Capobianco, E., Kurtz, M., Jawerbaum, A., & White, V. (2013). Saturated fat-rich diet increases fetal lipids and modulates LPL and leptin receptor expression in rat placentas. *Journal of Endocrinology*,*217*(3), 303-315.

McCurdy, C. E., Bishop, J. M., Williams, S. M., Grayson, B. E., Smith, M. S., Friedman, J. E., & Grove, K. L. (2009). Maternal high-fat diet triggers lipotoxicity in the fetal livers of nonhuman primates. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *119*(2), 323-335.

McDougall, S. J., Lawrence, A. J., & Widdop, R. E. (2005). Differential cardiovascular responses to stressors in hypertensive and normotensive rats. *Experimental physiology*, *90*(1), 141-150.

McDowall, L. M., Horiuchi, J., Killinger, S., & Dampney, R. A. (2006). Modulation of the baroreceptor reflex by the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus and perifornical area. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 290(4), R1020-R1026.

McMullen, S., & Langley-Evans, S. C. (2005). Sex-specific effects of prenatal low-protein and carbenoxolone exposure on renal angiotensin receptor expression in rats. *Hypertension*, *46*(6), 1374-1380.

McMullen, S., Gardner, D. S., & Langley-Evans, S. C. (2004). Prenatal programming of angiotensin II type 2 receptor expression in the rat. *British journal of nutrition*, *91*(01), 133-140.

Meade, C. J., Sheena, J., & Mertin, J. (1978). Immunological changes associated with the obob (obese) genotype. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *37*(2), 38A-38A.

Meaney, M. J., Aitken, D. H., Van Berkel, C., Bhatnagar, S., & Sapolsky, R. M. (1988). Effect of neonatal handling on age-related impairments associated with the hippocampus. *Science*, *239*(4841), 766-768.

Menegon, L. F., Zaparolli, A., Boer, P. A., de Almeida, A. R., & Gontijo, J. A. (2008). Long-term effects of intracerebroventricular insulin microinjection on renal sodium handling and arterial blood pressure in rats. *Brain research bulletin*, *76*(4), 344-348.

Mifflin, S. W., Spyer, K. M., & Withington-Wray, D. J. (1988). Baroreceptor inputs to the nucleus tractus solitarius in the cat: modulation by the hypothalamus. *The Journal of physiology*, 399(1), 369-387.

Milde-Langosch K (2005). "The Fos family of transcription factors and their role in tumourigenesis". Eur. J. Cancer 41 (16): 2449–61.

Millis, R. M. (2011). Epigenetics and hypertension. *Current Hypertension Report, 13*(1), 21-28.

Minge, C. E., Bennett, B. D., Norman, R. J., & Robker, R. L. (2008). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-γ agonist rosiglitazone reverses the adverse effects of diet-induced obesity on oocyte quality. *Endocrinology*, *149*(5), 2646-2656.

Montani, J and Vliet, B. N. 384 J.-P. Montani and B. N. Van Vliet. Editorial comment: Montani versus Osborn exchange of views. *Experimental Physiology* 94(4), 381-397.

Morgan, J. I., Cohen, D. R., Hempstead, J. L., & Curran, T. (1987). Mapping patterns of c-fos expression in the central nervous system after seizure. *Science*, 237(4811), 192-197.

Morin, S. M., Stotz-Potter, E. H., & DiMicco, J. A. (2001). Injection of muscimol in dorsomedial hypothalamus and stress-induced Fos expression in paraventricular nucleus. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 280(5), R1276-R1284.

Moritz, K. M., De Matteo, R., Dodic, M., Jefferies, A. J., Arena, D., Wintour, E. M., Evans, R. G. (2011). Prenatal glucocorticoid exposure in the sheep alters renal development in utero: implications for adult renal function and blood pressure control. *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 301*(2), 500-509.

Moritz, K. M., Mazzuca, M. Q., Siebel, A. L., Mibus, A., Arena, D., Tare, M., ... & Wlodek, M. E. (2009). Uteroplacental insufficiency causes a nephron deficit, modest renal insufficiency but no hypertension with ageing in female rats. *The Journal of physiology*, *587*(11), 2635-2646.

Murotsuki, J., Challis, J. R., Han, V. K., Fraher, L. J., & Gagnon, R. O. B. E. R. T. (1997). Chronic fetal placental embolization and hypoxemia cause hypertension and myocardial hypertrophy in fetal sheep. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, *41*(1), R201.

Myrie, S. B., MacKay, D. S., Van Vliet, B. N., & Bertolo, R. F. (2012). Early programming of adult blood pressure in the low birth weight Yucatan miniature pig is exacerbated by a post-weaning high-salt-fat-sugar diet. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *108*(07), 1218-1225.

Napoli, C., Witztum, J. L., Calara, F., de Nigris, F., & Palinski, W. (2000). Maternal hypercholesterolemia enhances atherogenesis in normocholesterolemic rabbits, which is inhibited by antioxidant or lipid-lowering intervention during pregnancy an experimental model of atherogenic mechanisms in human fetuses. *Circulation research*, *87*(10), 946-952.

Nehiri, T., Van Huyen, J. P. D., Viltard, M., Fassot, C., Heudes, D., Freund, N., ... & Lelièvre-Pégorier, M. (2008). Exposure to maternal diabetes induces salt-sensitive hypertension and impairs renal function in adult rat offspring. *Diabetes*, *57*(8), 2167-2175.

Nestler, E. J. (2001). Psychogenomics: opportunities for understanding addiction. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(21), 8324-8327.

Nieuwenhuizen, A. G., & Rutters, F. (2008). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis in the regulation of energy balance. *Physiology & behavior*, *94*(2), 169-177.

Nuyt, A. (2008). Mechanisms underlying developmental programming of elevated blood pressure and vascular dysfunction: evidence from human studies and experimental animal models. *Clinical Science*, *114*, 1-17.

Nuyt, A. M., & Alexander, B. T. (2009). Developmental programming and hypertension. *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*, *18*(2), 144.

O'connor, T. M., O'halloran, D. J., & Shanahan, F. (2000). The stress response and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: from molecule to melancholia. *Qjm*,*93*(6), 323-333.

O'Donaughy TL, Qi Y & Brooks VL (2006). Central action of increased osmolality to support blood pressure in deoxycorticosterone acetate-salt rats. Hypertension 48, 658–663.

O'Regan, D., Kenyon, C. J., Seckl, J. R., & Holmes, M. C. (2008). Prenatal dexamethasone 'programmes' hypotension, but stress-induced hypertension in adult offspring. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *196*(2), 343-352.

Ojeda, N. B., Grigore, D., Yanes, L. L., Iliescu, R., Robertson, E. B., Zhang, H., & Alexander, B. T. (2007). Testosterone contributes to marked elevations in mean arterial pressure in adult male intrauterine growth restricted offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 292(2), R758-R763.

Ojeda, N. B., Hennington, B. S., Williamson, D. T., Hill, M. L., Betson, N. E., Sartori-Valinotti, J. C., ... & Alexander, B. T. (2012). Oxidative stress contributes to sex differences in blood pressure in adult growth-restricted offspring. *Hypertension*, *60*(1), 114-122.

Ojeda, N. B., Intapad, S., Royals, T. P., Black, J. T., Dasinger, J. H., Tull, F. L., & Alexander, B. T. (2011). Hypersensitivity to acute ANG II in female growth-restricted offspring is exacerbated by ovariectomy. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 301(4), R1199-R1205.

Ojeda, N. B., Royals, T. P., Black, J. T., Dasinger, J. H., Johnson, J. M., & Alexander, B. T. (2010). Enhanced sensitivity to acute angiotensin II is testosterone dependent in adult male growthrestricted offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 298(5), R1421-R1427.

Olivier, M. C., Vanessa, L., & Isabelle A, L. (2010). Why and how meet n-3 PUFA dietary recommendations?. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2011.

Ortiz, L. A., Quan, A., Weinberg, A., & Baum, M. (2001). Effect of prenatal dexamethasone on rat renal development. *Kidney international*, *59*(5), 1663-1669.

Osborn, J. W., Fink, G. D., Sved, A. F., Toney, G. M., & Raizada, M. K. (2007). Circulating angiotensin II and dietary salt: converging signals for neurogenic hypertension. *Current Hypertension Reports*, *9*(3), 228-235.

Ozaki, T., Nishina, H., Hanson, M. A., & Poston, L. (2001). Dietary restriction in pregnant rats causes gender-related hypertension and vascular dysfunction in offspring. *The Journal of physiology*, 530(1), 141-152.

Pagani, M., Lombardi, F., Guzzetti, S., Rimoldi, O., Furlan, R., Pizzinelli, P., ... & Piccaluga, E. (1986). Power spectral analysis of heart rate and arterial pressure variabilities as a marker of sympatho-vagal interaction in man and conscious dog. *Circulation research*, *59*(2), 178-193.

Pagani, M., Lombardi, F., Guzzetti, S., Sandrone, G., Rimoldi, O., Malfatto, G., ... & Malliani, A. (1984). Power spectral density of heart rate variability as an index of sympatho-vagal interaction in normal and hypertensive subjects. *Journal of hypertension. Supplement: official journal of the International Society of Hypertension*, 2(3), S383-5.

Palmer, A. A., & Printz, M. P. (1999). Strain differences in Fos expression following airpuff startle in Spontaneously Hypertensive and Wistar Kyoto rats.*Neuroscience*, *89*(3), 965-978.

Parati, G., Frattola, A., Di Rienzo, M., Castiglioni, P., Pedotti, A., & Mancia, G. (1995). Effects of aging on 24-h dynamic baroreceptor control of heart rate in ambulant subjects. *Group*, *8*(155.0), 8-7.

Parati, G., Saul, J. P., Di Rienzo, M., & Mancia, G. (1995). Spectral analysis of blood pressure and heart rate variability in evaluating cardiovascular regulation a critical appraisal. *Hypertension*, *25*(6), 1276-1286.

Patterson, E., Wall, R., Fitzgerald, G. F., Ross, R. P., & Stanton, C. (2012). Health implications of high dietary omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Journal of nutrition and metabolism*, 2012.

Payne, J. A., Alexander, B. T., & Khalil, R. A. (2003). Reduced endothelial vascular relaxation in growth-restricted offspring of pregnant rats with reduced uterine perfusion. *Hypertension*, *42*(4), 768-774.

Pierpont, Y. N., Dinh, T. P., Salas, R. E., Johnson, E. L., Wright, T. G., Robson, M. C., & Payne, W. G. (2014). Obesity and Surgical Wound Healing: A Current Review. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2014.

Pladys, P., Lahaie, I., Cambonie, G., Thibault, G., Lê, N. L. O., Abran, D., & Nuyt, A. M. (2004). Role of brain and peripheral angiotensin II in hypertension and altered arterial baroreflex programmed during fetal life in rat. *Pediatric research*, *55*(6), 1042-1049.

Porter, K., & Hayward, L. F. (2011). Stress-induced changes in c-Fos and corticotropin releasing hormone immunoreactivity in the amygdala of the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *Behavioural brain research*, *216*(2), 543-551.

Prabhakar, N. R., Marek, W., & Loeschcke, H. H. (1985). Altered breathing pattern elicited by stimulation of abdominal visceral afferents. *J Appl Physiol*, *58*(6), 1755-1760.

Radaelli, A., Cazzaniga, M., Viola, A., Balestri, G., Janetti, M. B., ... & Ferrari, A. U. (2006). Enhanced Baroreceptor Control of the Cardiovascular System by Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in Heart Failure Patients. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 48*(8), 1600-1606.

Rahmouni, K., Correia, M. L., Haynes, W. G., & Mark, A. L. (2005). Obesity-associated hypertension new insights into mechanisms. *Hypertension*, *45*(1), 9-14.

Rattanatray, L., MacLaughlin, S. M., Kleemann, D. O., Walker, S. K., Muhlhausler, B. S., & McMillen, I. C. (2010). Impact of maternal periconceptional overnutrition on fat mass and expression of adipogenic and lipogenic genes in visceral and subcutaneous fat depots in the postnatal lamb.*Endocrinology*, *151*(11), 5195-5205.

Resnik, R. (2002). Intrauterine growth restriction. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *99*(3), 490-496.

Ross, M. G., Desai, M., Guerra, C., & Wang, S. (2005). Prenatal programming of hypernatremia and hypertension in neonatal lambs. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 288(1), R97-R103.

Rovere, M. T. L., Bigger Jr, J. T., Marcus, F. I., Mortara, A., & Schwartz, P. J. (1998). Baroreflex sensitivity and heart-rate variability in prediction of total cardiac mortality after myocardial infarction. *The Lancet*, *351*(9101), 478-484.

Rozanski, A., Blumenthal, J. A., Davidson, K. W., Saab, P. G., & Kubzansky, L. (2005). The epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management of psychosocial risk factors in cardiac practiceThe emerging field of behavioral cardiology. *Journal of the american college of cardiology*, *45*(5), 637-651.

Rudyk, O., Makra, P., Jansen, E., Shattock, M. J., Poston, L., & Taylor, P. D. (2011). Increased cardiovascular reactivity to acute stress and salt-loading in adult male offspring of fat fed non-obese rats. *PloS one*, *6*(10), e25250.

Sagar, S. M., Sharp, F. R., & Curran, T. (1988). Expression of c-fos protein in brain: metabolic mapping at the cellular level. *Science*, *240*(4857), 1328-1331.

Sampson, A. K., Moritz, K. M., & Denton, K. M. (2012). Postnatal ontogeny of angiotensin receptors and ACE2 in male and female rats. *Gender medicine*,9(1), 21-32.

Sampson, A. K., Moritz, K. M., Jones, E. S., Flower, R. L., Widdop, R. E., & Denton, K. M. (2008). Enhanced angiotensin II type 2 receptor mechanisms mediate decreases in arterial pressure attributable to chronic low-dose angiotensin II in female rats. *Hypertension*, *52*(4), 666-671.

Samuels, B. C., Zaretsky, D. V., & DiMicco, J. A. (2002). Tachycardia evoked by disinhibition of the dorsomedial hypothalamus in rats is mediated through medullary raphe. *The Journal of physiology*, 538(3), 941-946.

Samuelsson, A. M., Matthews, P. A., Argenton, M., Christie, M. R., McConnell, J. M., Jansen, E. H., ... & Taylor, P. D. (2008). Diet-induced obesity in female mice leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity, hypertension, and insulin resistance A novel murine model of developmental programming.*Hypertension*, *51*(2), 383-392.

Samuelsson, A. M., Matthews, P. A., Jansen, E., Taylor, P. D., & Poston, L. (2013). Sucrose feeding in mouse pregnancy leads to hypertension, and sex-linked obesity and insulin resistance in female offspring. *Frontiers in physiology*, *4*.

Samuelsson, A. M., Morris, A., Igosheva, N., Kirk, S. L., Pombo, J. M., Coen, C. W., ... & Taylor, P. D. (2010). Evidence for sympathetic origins of hypertension in juvenile offspring of obese rats. *Hypertension*, *55*(1), 76-82.

Sandberg, K., & Ji, H. (2003). Sex and the renin angiotensin system: implications for gender differences in the progression of kidney disease.*Advances in renal replacement therapy*, *10*(1), 15-23.

Sanders, M. W., Fazzi, G. E., Janssen, G. M., Blanco, C. E., & De Mey, J. G. (2005). High sodium intake increases blood pressure and alters renal function in intrauterine growth-retarded rats. *Hypertension*, *46*(1), 71-75.

Sathishkumar, K., Balakrishnan, M., Chinnathambi, V., Gao, H., & Yallampalli, C. (2012). Temporal alterations in vascular angiotensin receptors and vasomotor responses in offspring of protein-restricted rat dams. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*, 206(6), 507-e1.

Sawchenko, P. E., Li, H. Y., & Ericsson, A. (1999). Circuits and mechanisms governing hypothalamic responses to stress: a tale of two paradigms. *Progress in brain research*, *122*, 61-78.

Schadt, J. C., & Hasser, E. M. (1998). Hemodynamic effects of acute stressors in the conscious rabbit. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 274(3), R814-R821.

Schnermann, J. (2000). NaCl transport deficiencies-hemodynamics to the rescue. *Pflügers Archiv*, 439(6), 682-690.

Schnermann, J. (2001). Sodium transport deficiency and sodium balance in gene-targeted mice. *Acta physiologica scandinavica*, *173*(1), 59-66.

Schreihofer, A. M., & Sved, A. F. (1992). Nucleus tractus solitarius and control of blood pressure in chronic sinoaortic denervated rats. *American Journal of Physiology*, 263(2), 258-266.

Schreuder, M. F., van Wijk, J. A., & Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A. (2006). Intrauterine growth restriction increases blood pressure and central pulse pressure measured with telemetry in aging rats. *Journal of hypertension*, *24*(7), 1337-1343.

Schultz, H. D., Li, Y. L., & Ding, Y. (2007). Arterial chemoreceptors and sympathetic nerve activity: implications for hypertension and heart failure. *Hypertension, 50*(1), 6-13.

Schwab, M., Reddy, E. P., Skalka, A. M., & Curran, T. (1988). The Oncogene Handbook. The Oncogene Handbook.

Schwartz, J. E., Pickering, T. G., & Landsbergis, P. A. (1996). Work-related stress and blood pressure: current theoretical models and considerations from a behavioral medicine perspective.

Journal of Occupational Health and Psychology, 1(3), 287-310.

Seckl, J. R., & Meaney, M. J. (2004). Glucocorticoid programming. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1032*(1), 63-84.

Segar, J. L., Roghair, R. D., Segar, E. M., Bailey, M. C., Scholz, T. D., & Lamb, F. S. (2006). Early gestation dexamethasone alters baroreflex and vascular responses in newborn lambs before hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology,* 291(2), 481-488.

Serum levels of endothelial monocyte-activating polypeptide-II in type 2 diabetes mellitus – CANNOT FIND

Sethi, A. A., Nordestgaard, B. G. & Tybjaerg-Hansen, A. (2003). Angiotensinogen gene polymorphism, plasma angiotensinogen, and risk of hypertension and ischemic heart disease: a meta-analysis. *Arteriosclerotic Thrombotic Vascular Biology*, 23, 1269-75.

Shafton, A. D., Ryan, A., & Badoer, E. (1998). Neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus send collaterals to the spinal cord and to the rostral ventrolateral medulla in the rat. *Brain research*, *801*(1), 239-243.

Shankar, K., Harrell, A., Liu, X., Gilchrist, J. M., Ronis, M. J., & Badger, T. M. (2008). Maternal obesity at conception programs obesity in the offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 294*(2), R528-R538.

Sheng, M., & Greenberg, M. E. (1990). The regulation and function of c-< i> fos</i> and other immediate early genes in the nervous system. *Neuron*, *4*(4), 477-485.

Silva-Carvalho, L., Dawid-Milner, M. S., & Spyer, K. M. (1995). The pattern of excitatory inputs to the nucleus tractus solitarii evoked on stimulation in the hypothalamic defence area in the cat. *The Journal of physiology*, *487*(Pt 3), 727-737.

Simms, A. E., Paton, J. F., Pickering, A. E., & Allen, A. M. (2009). Amplified respiratory– sympathetic coupling in the spontaneously hypertensive rat: does it contribute to hypertension?. *The Journal of physiology*, 587(3), 597-610.

Simopoulos, A. P. (2002). The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy*, 56(8), 365-379.

Simopoulos, A. P. (2011). Evolutionary aspects of diet: the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and the brain. *Molecular neurobiology*, 44(2), 203-215.

Smyth, H. S., Sleight, P., & PICKERING, G. W. (1969). Reflex regulation of arterial pressure during sleep in man A quantitative method of assessing baroreflex sensitivity. *Circulation research*, *24*(1), 109-121.

Sodium appetite in adult rats following -3 polyunsaturated fatty acid deficiency in early development – Cannot find

Son, G. H., Kwon, J. Y., Kim, Y. H., & Park, Y. W. (2010). Maternal serum triglycerides as predictive factors for large-for-gestational age newborns in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica*, *89*(5), 700-704.

Spencer, S. J., & Day, T. A. (2004). Role of catecholaminergic inputs to the medial prefrontal cortex in local and subcortical expression of Fos after psychological stress. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 78(2), 279-288.

Spencer, S. J., & Tilbrook, A. (2011). The glucocorticoid contribution to obesity. *Stress*, *14*(3), 233-246.

Spencer, S. J., Buller, K. M., & Day, T. A. (2005). Medial prefrontal cortex control of the paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus response to psychological stress: possible role of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Journal of comparative neurology*, *481*(4), 363-376.

Spruill, T. M. (2010). Chronic psychosocial stress and hypertension. *Current Hypertension Reports*, *12*(1), 10-16.

Stanner, S. A., Bulmer, K., Andres, C., Lantseva, O. E., Borodina, V., Poteen, V. V., & Yudkin, J. S. (1997). Does malnutrition in utero determine diabetes and coronary heart disease in adulthood? Results from the Leningrad siege study, a cross sectional study. *Bmj*, *315*(7119), 1342-1348.

Stauss, H. M., Mrowka, R., Nafz, B., Patzak, A., Unger, T., & Persson, P. B. (1995). Does low frequency power of arterial blood pressure reflect sympathetic tone?. *Journal of the autonomic nervous system*, *54*(2), 145-154.

Stewart, T., Jung, F. F., Manning, J., & Vehaskari, V. M. (2005). Kidney immune cell infiltration and oxidative stress contribute to prenatally programmed hypertension. *Kidney international*, *68*(5), 2180-2188.

Stotz-Potter, E. H., Morin, S. M., & DiMicco, J. A. (1996). Effect of microinjection of muscimol into the dorsomedial or paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus on air stress-induced neuroendocrine and cardiovascular changes in rats. *Brain research*, 742(1), 219-224.

Stotz-Potter, E. H., Willis, L. R., & DiMicco, J. A. (1996). Muscimol acts in dorsomedial but not paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus to suppress cardiovascular effects of stress. *The Journal of neuroscience*, *16*(3), 1173-1179.

Su, Y. R., & Menon, A. G. (2001). Epithelial sodium channels and hypertension. *Drug metabolism and disposition*, 29(4), 553-556.

Sved, A. F., Ito, S., & Sved, J. C. (2003). Brainstem mechanisms of hypertension: role of the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Current Hypertension Reports, 5*(3), 262-268.

Tamashiro, K. L., Terrillion, C. E., Hyun, J., Koenig, J. I., & Moran, T. H. (2009). Prenatal stress or high-fat diet increases susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in rat offspring. *Diabetes*, *58*(5), 1116-1125.

Tang, J. I., Kenyon, C. J., Seckl, J. R., & Nyirenda, M. J. (2011). Prenatal overexposure to glucocorticoids programs renal 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 expression and salt-sensitive hypertension in the rat. *Journal of Hypertension, 29*(2), 282-289.

Tank, J., Baevski, R. M., Fender, A., Baevski, A. R., Graves, K. F., Ploewka, K., & Weck, M. (2000). Reference values of indices of spontaneous baroreceptor reflex sensitivity. *American journal of hypertension*, *13*(3), 268-275.

Thompson, R. H., Canteras, N. S., & Swanson, L. W. (1996). Organization of projections from the dorsomedial nucleus of the hypothalamus: A PHA-L study in the rat. *Journal of comparative Neurology*, 376(1), 143-173.

Thornburg, K. L., Shannon, J., Thuillier, P., & Turker, M. S. (2010). In utero life and epigenetic predisposition for disease. *Advances in Genetics*, *71*, 57-78.

Tofler, G. H., Stone, P. H., Maclure, M., Edelman, E., Davis, V. G., Robertson, T., ... & Muller, J. E. (1990). Analysis of possible triggers of acute myocardial infarction (the MILIS study). *The American journal of cardiology*, 66(1), 22-27.

Toledo, E., Pinhas, I., Aravot, D., Almog, Y., & Akselrod, S. (2002). Functional restitution of cardiac control in heart transplant patients. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 282(3), R900-R908.

Toney, G. M., & Stocker, S. D. (2010). Hyperosmotic activation of CNS sympathetic drive: implications for cardiovascular disease. *The Journal of physiology*, *588*(18), 3375-3384.

Ulrich-Lai, Y. M., & Herman, J. P. (2009). Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*(6), 397-409.

Van De Borne, P., Montano, N., Pagani, M., Oren, R., & Somers, V. K. (1997). Absence of low-frequency variability of sympathetic nerve activity in severe heart failure. *Circulation*, *95*(6), 1449-1454.

Vehaskari, V. M., & Woods, L. L. (2005). Prenatal programming of hypertension: lessons from experimental models. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *16*(9), 2545-2556.

Vehaskari, V. M., Aviles, D. H., & Manning, J. (2001). Prenatal programming of adult hypertension in the rat. *Kidney international*, *59*(1), 238-245.

Vickers, M. H. (2011). Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome-critical windows for intervention. *World journal of diabetes*, *2*(9), 137.

Vickers, M. H., Clayton, Z. E., Yap, C., & Sloboda, D. M. (2011). Maternal fructose intake during pregnancy and lactation alters placental growth and leads to sex-specific changes in fetal and neonatal endocrine function. *Endocrinology*, *152*(4), 1378-1387.

Vrijkotte, T. G., van Doornen, L. J., & de Geus, E. J. (2000). Effects of work stress on ambulatory blood pressure, heart rate, and heart rate variability. *Hypertension*, *35*(4), 880-886.

Waki, H., Katahira, K., Polson, J. W., Kasparov, S., Murphy, D., & Paton, J. F. (2006). Automation of analysis of cardiovascular autonomic function from chronic measurements of arterial pressure in conscious rats. *Experimental physiology*, *91*(1), 201-213.

Waki, H., Murphy, D., Yao, S. T., Kasparov, S., & Paton, J. F. (2006). Endothelial NO synthase activity in nucleus tractus solitarii contributes to hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, *48*(4), 644-650.

Walsh, J. M., McGowan, C. A., Mahony, R., Foley, M. E., & McAuliffe, F. M. (2012). Low glycaemic index diet in pregnancy to prevent macrosomia (ROLO study): randomised control trial. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 345.

Wang, X. Y., Masilamani, S., Nielsen, J., Kwon, T. H., Brooks, H. L., Nielsen, S., & Knepper, M. A. (2001). The renal thiazide-sensitive Na-Cl cotransporter as mediator of the aldosterone-escape phenomenon. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *108*(2), 215-222.

Weinberger, M. H. (1996). Salt sensitivity of blood pressure in humans. *Hypertension*, 27(3), 481-490.

Weisinger, H. S., Armitage, J. A., Sinclair, A. J., Vingrys, A. J., Burns, P. L., & Weisinger, R. S. (2001). Perinatal omega-3 fatty acid deficiency affects blood pressure later in life. *Nature medicine*, 7(3), 258-259.

Welberg, L. A. M., & Seckl, J. R. (2001). Prenatal stress, glucocorticoids and the programming of the brain. *Journal of neuroendocrinology*, *13*(2), 113-128.

Welberg, L. A. M., Seckl, J. R., & Holmes, M. C. (2001). Prenatal glucocorticoid programming of brain corticosteroid receptors and corticotrophin-releasing hormone: possible implications for behaviour. *Neuroscience*, *104*(1), 71-79.

White, C. L., Purpera, M. N., & Morrison, C. D. (2009). Maternal obesity is necessary for programming effect of high-fat diet on offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 296(5), R1464-R1472.

Wilcox, C. S. (2002). Reactive oxygen species: roles in blood pressure and kidney function. *Current hypertension reports*, *4*(2), 160-166.

Wlodek, M. E., Mibus, A., Tan, A., Siebel, A. L., Owens, J. A., & Moritz, K. M. (2007). Normal lactational environment restores nephron endowment and prevents hypertension after placental restriction in the rat. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *18*(6), 1688-1696.

Woodall, S. M., Johnston, B. M., Breier, B. H., & Gluckman, P. D. (1996). Chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat leads to delayed postnatal growth and elevated blood pressure of offspring. *Pediatric Research*, *40*(3), 438-443.

Woods, L. L., & Weeks, D. A. (2005). Prenatal programming of adult blood pressure: role of maternal corticosteroids. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 289(4), R955-R962.

Woods, L. L., Ingelfinger, J. R., & Rasch, R. (2005). Modest maternal protein restriction fails to program adult hypertension in female rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 289(4), R1131-R1136.

Woods, L. L., Ingelfinger, J. R., Nyengaard, J. R., & Rasch, R. (2001). Maternal protein restriction suppresses the newborn renin-angiotensin system and programs adult hypertension in rats. *Pediatric research*, *49*(4), 460-467.

Woods, L. L., Ingelfinger, J. R., Nyengaard, J. R., & Rasch, R. (2001). Maternal protein restriction suppresses the newborn renin-angiotensin system and programs adult hypertension in rats. *Pediatric Research*, *49*(4), 460-467.

Woods, L. L., Weeks, D. A., & Rasch, R. (2004). Programming of adult blood pressure by maternal protein restriction: role of nephrogenesis. *Kidney international*, *65*(4), 1339-1348.

Woodsand, R., & Johnston, C. I. (1983). Contribution of vasopressin to the maintenance of blood pressure during dehydration.

World Health Organisation. (2013). A global brief on hypertension: Silent killer, global publichealthcrisis.Geneva,Switzerland.http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/79059/1/WHO_DCO_WHD_2013.2_eng.pd f

Xiao, D., Huang, X., Yang, S., & Zhang, L. (2011). Antenatal nicotine induces heightened oxidative stress and vascular dysfunction in rat offspring. *British journal of pharmacology*, *164*(5), 1400-1409.

Xiao, D., Huang, X., Yang, S., & Zhang, L. (2013). Estrogen Normalizes Perinatal Nicotine– Induced Hypertensive Responses in Adult Female Rat Offspring. *Hypertension*, *61*(6), 1246-1254.

Xiao, D., Xu, Z., Huang, X., Longo, L. D., Yang, S., & Zhang, L. (2008). Prenatal genderrelated nicotine exposure increases blood pressure response to angiotensin II in adult offspring. *Hypertension*, *51*(4), 1239-1247.

Xiao, F., Jiang, M., Du, D., Xia, C., Wang, J., Cao, Y., ... & Zhu, D. (2013). Orexin A regulates cardiovascular responses in stress-induced hypertensive rats. *Neuropharmacology*, 67, 16-24.

Yanes, L. L., Sartori-Valinotti, J. C., Iliescu, R., Romero, D. G., Racusen, L. C., Zhang, H., & Reckelhoff, J. F. (2009). Testosterone-dependent hypertension and upregulation of intrarenal angiotensinogen in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 296(4), F771-F779.

Young, J. H. (2007). Evolution of blood pressure regulation in humans. *Current Hypertension Reports, 9*(1), 13-18.

Zeman, F. J. (1968). Effects of maternal protein restriction on the kidney of the newborn young of rats. *The Journal of nutrition*, 94(2), 111-116.

Zhang, C., Liu, S., Solomon, C. G., & Hu, F. B. (2006). Dietary fiber intake, dietary glycemic load, and the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes care*, *29*(10), 2223-2230.

Zhu, M. J., Ma, Y., Long, N. M., Du, M., & Ford, S. P. (2010). Maternal obesity markedly increases placental fatty acid transporter expression and fetal blood triglycerides at midgestation in the ewe. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 299(5), R1224-R1231.

Zimanyi, M. A., Bertram, J. F., & Black, J. M. (2002). Nephron number and blood pressure in rat offspring with maternal high-protein diet. *Pediatric Nephrology*, *17*(12), 1000-1004.

Zimanyi, M. A., Bertram, J. F., & Black, M. J. (2004). Does a nephron deficit in rats predispose to salt-sensitive hypertension? *Kidney and Blood Pressure Research*, *27*(4), 239-247.

APPENDIX

Dr Kieron Rooney and Prof. Robert Boakes provided the supplementary graphs and tables stated in the appendix, based on the biochemical data and blood analysis from the animals used in this thesis. This material was not a part of the thesis.

	Chow Fed (n=4)	Fat Fed (n=8)
Body Weight (g)		
Starting weights	173.7 ± 3.1	157.6 ± 2.5
Pre-gestation	256.1 ± 9.4	234.7 ± 7.3
Gestation day 19	347.0 ± 10.4	312.2 ± 16.4
PND2	325.7 ± 8.3	303.3 ± 11.4
Blood Glucose (mM)		
Pre-gestation	5.0 ± 0.3	5.8 ± 0.2*
Gestation day 19	4.1 ± 0.4	4.1 ± 0.3
Plasma Insulin (pM)		
Pre-gestation	38.8 ± 11.0	20.2 ± 5.0
Gestation day 19	179.4 ± 61.2	143.8 ± 63.6
Plasma Leptin (pg/mL)		
Pre-gestation	511.2 ± 108.9	996.4 ± 170.2*
Gestation day 19	768.8 ± 74.5	925.4 ± 92.1

 Table 1: Maternal summary data high fat model. * denotes significance between groups.

 Maternal body weight: There were no significant differences in maternal weight at any point.

Blood glucose levels: were significantly higher in the fat fed mother (P<0.05), pre gestation (four weeks prior to mating). However at gestation day 19, blood glucose levels were similar between

maternal groups

Plasma insulin: there were no significant differences in maternal plasma insulin levels pre-gestation or at gestation day 19.

Plasma leptin: levels were significantly higher in the fat fed mother mother (P<0.05), pre gestation (four weeks prior to mating). However at gestation day 19, plasma leptin levels were similar between maternal groups.



Figure 1: water and sucrose solution intake in female rats means ± SD. Average daily intake of sucrose water (sucrose group) was 112.5±17.3 mL and water (control group) was 29.9±6.8 mL



Figure 2: oral glucose tolerance test in control and sucrose mothers. Blood glucose levels were higher in sucrose rats throughout the test (*P*<0.01). Total area under the curve (figure inset) also showed a significant higher blood glucose levels in sucrose rats (*P*<0.01).





Figure 4: Body weight of female control versus sucrose rats throughout intervention: There was no significant difference in body weight between maternal high sucrose or control groups.